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Reaching New Heights of Customer, Investor
and Employee Satisfaction
FMI is proud to present its Annual Report for 2019. This year’s report celebrates
Myanmar’s many impressive mountain ranges. Mountain ranges or “Yoma” in Myanmar
language, are highly symbolic for our business due to the affiliation with the Yoma
Group and our continuing efforts to reach the peak of customer, investor and employee
satisfaction.
Myanmar photographers took all photographs of the mountains featured in this year’s
annual report.
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Corporate

Overview
Successfully Navigating Challenges
in Myanmar’s Business Landscape
From the Ayeyarwaddy delta to the snowcapped peaks of Kachin
State, Myanmar is blessed with a rich and varied landscape. During
the past 27 years, FMI has successfully navigated a similarly diverse
and challenging business landscape while garnering a reputation
as the partner of choice for international companies in Myanmar.

Sunrise of Gaw Yin Gyi Island in Ayeyarwaddy Division
Photography by Kaung Htet Naing
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Corporate

Profile
First Myanmar Investment Public Company Limited (“FMI”, the
“Company” and collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
is one of Myanmar’s largest public companies with more than
8,000 shareholders and has a track record of profitability over
the past 27 years. In March 2016, FMI became the first company
to list on the Yangon Stock Exchange (“YSX”). FMI’s strength
lies in its strategic diversification, professional management,
corporate governance and transparency. FMI’s Board of
Directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) promotes good
corporate governance and has a strong independent element
to protect the interests of its stakeholders.

First Myanmar Investment အမ်ားႏွင့္သက္ဆိုင္သည့္ ကုမၸဏီလီမိတက္ (“FMI”)
(“ကုမၸဏီ” နွင့္ ၎၏ လက္ေအာက္ခံကုမၸဏီခဲြမ်ားစုေပါင္း၍ “ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု”) သည္
အစု႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္ေပါင္း

(၈,၀ဝဝ)

ေက်ာ္႐ိွၿပီး

စတင္တည္ေထာင္သည့္

အခိ်န္မွစ၍

(၂၇) ႏွစ္တာကာလတစ္ေလွ်ာက္ အျမတ္အစြန္း စဥ္ဆက္မျပတ္ ရ႐ွိခဲ့ျခင္းတို႔ျဖင့္ မွတ္
တမ္းေကာင္းတစ္ခု ေရးထုိးထားႏုိင္သည့္ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ၏ အႀကီးဆံုးအမ်ားပုိင္ကုမၸဏီ
မ်ားအနက္ တစ္ခုျဖစ္ပါသည္။ FMI သည္ ၂ဝ၁၆ ခုႏွစ္၊ မတ္လတြင္ ရန္ကုန္စေတာ့
အိတ္ခ်ိန္း၌ စာရင္းဝင္ေသာ ပထမဆုံးကုမၸဏီ ျဖစ္လာခဲ့ပါသည္။ FMI ၏ အားသာခ်က္
မ်ားမွာ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္ေသာ ရင္းႏီွးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈမ်ား၊ ကၽြမ္းက်င္ေသာစီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈ၊ စည္း
ကမ္း႐ိွေသာ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈႏွင့္ ပြင့္လင္းျမင္သာမႈ႐ိွျခင္း တုိ႔ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ FMI ဒါ႐ိုက္
တာအဖဲြ႕ဝင္မ်ားသည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏ေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ စီမံခန႔္ခဲြအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈကို ျမႇင့္တင္ေပးၿပီး
ကုမၸဏီႏွင့္သက္ဆိုင္သူအားလုံး၏ အက်ိဳးစီးပြားကို ေ႐ွ႕႐ႈကာကြယ္သည့္ အေျခခံသ
ေဘာတရားျဖင့္ လြတ္လပ္စြာ ဆုံးျဖတ္ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပးလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

FMI is affiliated with Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) Limited
(“SPA”), Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd. (“Yoma Strategic”), a
company listed on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), and Memories Group
Limited (“Memories Group”), a company listed on the Catalist
board of the SGX-ST. FMI, SPA, Yoma Strategic and Memories
Group, together with their respective subsidiaries, are
collectively referred to as the “Yoma Group”.

ကုမၸဏီသည္ Serge Pun & Associates (Myanmar) လီမိတက္ (“SPA”) ၊ စကၤာပူ
စေတာ့အိတ္ခိ်န္း

(“SGX-ST”)

၏

Mainboard

တြင္

စာရင္းတင္သြင္းထားေသာ

Yoma Strategic Holdings လီမိတက္ (“Yoma Strategic”) ႏွင့္ Catalist Board
တြင္ စာရင္းသြင္းထားေသာ Memories Group လီမိတက္ (“Memories Group”)
တ႔ုိႏွင့္ မိတ္ဖက္ကုမၸဏီ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ FMI ၊ SPA ၊ Yoma Strategic ၊ Memories
Group ႏွင့္ ၎တို႔လက္ေအာက္ခံ ကုမၸဏီအားလံုးကိုစုေပါင္း၍ “Yoma Group” ဟု
ေခၚေဝၚသုံးစြဲလ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

Investor Satisfaction

I

We create sustainable investment opportunities by leading with
integrity and robust business practices.

Our

Vision

C
E

Customer Satisfaction
We serve our customers by being their trusted partner to deliver the
best products and services for their needs.

Employee Satisfaction
We invest in our people to build careers around a shared culture of
fairness, diversity, empowerment and recognition.

ရင္းႏီွးျမႇဳပ္ႏံွသူမ်ား၏ ေက်နပ္ႏွစ္သက္မႈ

သုံးစဲြသူျပည္သူမ်ား၏ ေက်နပ္ႏွစ္သက္မႈ

ဝန္ထမ္းမ်ား၏ ေက်နပ္ႏွစ္သက္မႈ

ကၽြႏ္ုပ္တ႔ိုသည္

ကိုယ္က်င့္တရားႏွင့္

ကၽြႏ္ုပ္တ႔ိုသည္ ျပည္သူတ႔ုိ၏ လိုအပ္ခ်က္မ်ားအတြက္

ကၽြႏု္ပ္တုိ႔သည္ ဝန္ထမ္းထုအတြင္း တရားမွ်တမႈ၊ မတူ

ျပည့္စုံမွ်တသည့္ စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္းစဥ္မ်ားျဖင့္ ေရ႐ွည္

သမာဓိ႐ိွျခင္း၊

အေကာင္းဆုံးထုတ္ကုန္ႏွင့္ ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားကို ျဖည့္

ကဲြျပားမႈ၊ အခြင့္အာဏာေပးအပ္မႈ၊ အသိအမွတ္ျပဳမႈ

တည့္တ့ံခုိင္ၿမဲသည့္ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈ အခြင့္အလမ္းမ်ားကို

ဆည္းေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပးေနသည့္ ယံုၾကည္စိတ္ခ်ရေသာ

စသည့္အသိတရားမ်ားကုိအေျခခံသည့္

ဖန္တီးေပးလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

မိတ္ဖက္အျဖစ္ ရပ္တည္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

တစ္ရပ္ ထြန္းကားပံ်႕ႏ႔ွံေစေရးအတြက္ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံ
တည္ေဆာက္ေပးလ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

ယဥ္္ေက်းမႈ
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Our

Mission
“Build a Better Myanmar for its People”

"ျပည္သူမ်ားအတြက္ ပုိမုိေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံေတာ္တည္ေဆာက္ရန္"

"The “How” to “Build a Better Myanmar for its People”
leads us to confront the biggest challenge facing the
Group and to build a roadmap to move forward and
create value in everything we do. How is a better Myanmar
defined? In my own words, “better” must be compared in
quantitative, qualitative, spiritual and material terms to
that of today. Through passion and proficiency aligned to
this deep sense of determination, the Group is committed
to build a better Myanmar together with its people and
for its people."

"ျပည္သူမ်ားအတြက္ ပုိမိုေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံေတာ္တည္ေဆာက္ရာတြင္ ပါဝင္ေဆာင္
႐ြက္ရန္ဆုိတဲ့ေဆာင္ပုဒ္ဟာ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုအတြက္ အႀကီးမားဆံုး စိန္ေခၚမႈျဖစ္သလို ကၽြန္ေတာ္
တုိ႔ ေ႐ွ႕ေလွ်ာက္လုပ္ေဆာင္သမွ် ကိစၥတိုင္းတြင္လည္း တန္ဖိုးမ်ားကို ဖန္တီးေပးဖို႔ျဖစ္တယ္။
ပိုမိုေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ

ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံကို

ကၽြန္ေတာ့အေနႏွင့္

အဓိပၸာယ္သတ္မွတ္ရမည္ဆုိလွ်င္

ႏုိင္ငံ၏မနက္ဖန္တုိင္း႐ွိ ႐ုပ္ဝတၱဳအေရအတြက္၊ အရည္အေသြး၊ စိတ္ဓာတ္ေရးရာႏွင့္ ႐ုပ္ဝတၱဳ
ပစၥည္းဆုိင္ရာအပိုင္းမ်ားကို ယေန႔ထက္ ပိုမိုသာလြန္ေအာင္ ႀကိဳးပမ္းရမွာျဖစ္တယ္။ ထိုသို႔
ခိုင္ၿမဲနက္နဲသည့္ ဆံုးျဖတ္ခ်က္၊ ကၽြန္ေတာ္တိ႔ု၏ ကၽြမ္းက်င္မႈႏွင့္ ျပည္သူတိ႔ု၏ ပူးေပါင္းမႈျဖင့္
ျပည္သူမ်ားအတြက္ ပိုမိုေကာင္းမြန္ေသာျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံကုိ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုမွ တည္ေဆာက္သြားမည္
ဟု သႏၷိ႒ာန္ခ်ထားပါတယ္။"

U Theim Wai @ Mr. Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

Our four

Core Values
Innovation

Teamwork

Integrity

Respect

Madew Razi in Kachin State
Photography by Kyaw Thar

Chairman's

Message
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A rising tide lifts all boats, and we can expect stiffer competition
than ever as we move forward into the next decade. With that, we
must not rest. Instead, we must work harder than ever to continue
innovating and to retain our enviable position as the partner-ofchoice in Myanmar.

Dear Shareholders,
It is with great pride that I present to you
FMI’s annual report for the financial year
ending 30 September 2019 (“FY Sep2019”).
This is the second annual report we have
published in 2019 due to the recent
changes made to Myanmar’s financial
year and will cover the six months from 1
April 2019 to 30 September 2019.
Financially, we saw a healthy revenue
growth for FY Sept 2019. Group’s revenue
for the six-month period grew to MMK
168.4 billion (Last year MMK 130.5
billion), while gross profit was MMK 69.1
billion (Last year MMK 51.1 billion). We
continued to see Yoma Bank contribute
major position of group revenue with
MMK 150.6 billion (Last year MMK 120.7
billion) for the period. There was also a
significant increase in the revenue from
the Healthcare Services which was MMK
17.6 billion (Last year MMK 10.3 billion)
in FY Sep 2019. 3. However, the total
comprehensive income for this period is
slightly reduced to MMK 7.1 billion (Last
year MMK 7.3 billion).
In order to reinvest in core businesses for
further growth as well as the short sixmonth period, no dividend was proposed
to be issued by our board of directors.

Still, 2019 will be remembered for the
landmark partnerships we forged at
holding company level between FMI
and Ayala Corporation (“Ayala”) and
at our subsidiary level between Yoma
Bank Limited ("Yoma Bank") with the
International Finance Corporation (“IFC”).
Both transactions represent significant
milestones not just for FMI but for the
development of Myanmar’s broader
economy.

Partnership with Ayala
On 14 November, we announced the
formation of a strategic partnership with
Ayala, one of the Philippines' leading
conglomerates. Ayala will provide a
US$82.5 million convertible loan to FMI,
which upon regulatory processes being
completed, will allow them to take a 20%
stake in our company. The transaction sets
the benchmark for Myanmar companies
raising and receiving foreign capital
following the regulatory liberalisation set
by the new Myanmar Companies Law
2017.
Although we have numerous joint
ventures with companies from around the
world, this alliance is different as Ayala will
be taking a direct stake in FMI, therefore
becoming a strategic partner in all of our
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businesses. They will do so at a premium
of MMK15,000 per share, 36.5% above
the traded share price at the time of the
transaction. This financial commitment
underscores Ayala’s confidence in the
value of our stock and their optimism on
the future of Myanmar’seconomy.
The deal is one of the most critical
developments in the history of FMI, with
Ayala offering much more than just a
significant initial investment. They share
a long-term vision of building scalable
and sustainable platforms to cater to the
population of Myanmar. Furthermore,
Ayala has leadership positions and wellrun operations in many of the same
industries we operate. From banking to
real estate and healthcare there is much
we can learn from their success in the
Philippines, and I believe Ayala’s model
for growth during the past few decades
provides a roadmap for FMI’s own
development.
I am also delighted to report that Mr.
Fernando Miranda Zobel de Ayala, Ayala’s
President and Chief Operating Officer
("COO") will be nominated to sit on our
Board. We look forward to leveraging
on the expertise and experience of Mr.
Fernando Miranda Zobel de Ayala, and
the wider Ayala team to strengthen our
existing businesses as well as to explore
potential opportunities together.
Ayala has 185 years of history behind
them, and I believe any corporation or
family business that has survived and
prospered for this length of time must
hold an abundance of wisdom and
experience which only time bestows. At
FMI, we must be good students and learn
from their successes and setbacks so that
together we can build a much stronger
company going forward.
Ayala’s decision to invest in FMI has
opened vast opportunities for both
Groups for which I feel incredibly proud
of. Perhaps even more importantly, it is
a glowing endorsement of our country’s
bright economic future, one which will
bring many possibilities of empowerment
and tangible benefits to our country.

Yoma Bank and IFC
Another
significant
milestone
this
year was the IFC converting the loan it
provided to Yoma Bank back in 2014 into
a 5% shareholding. The conversion made
IFC the first international investor in a
Myanmar commercial bank, an important
milestone for the entire sector.
IFC has been a fantastic partner for Yoma
Bank and has supported us in improving
our credit risk management, corporate
governance, finance, treasury, and
product development as well as with the
implementation of a new core banking
system. IFC’s investment and oversight
have also helped Yoma Bank provide
more than 7,000 SME loans worth US$800
million and expand the Bank’s outreach
from 52 to 80 branches.

Going Forward
While we celebrate the success of the
last six months and the collective effort it
has taken to reach these heights, we will
continue to pursue long term strategies to
develop our businesses, our people and
our culture.
At the time of writing, the Asian
Development
Bank
is
forecasting
Myanmar’s growth will hit 6.8% in 2020.
Guiding these changes is the Myanmar
Sustainable Development Plan – a
comprehensive, forward-looking social,
economic and environmental reform
agenda. It is through this plan that we
hope to navigate the global challenges
that face our nation, including those
related to poverty, climate change, trade
and investment.
An integral part of this effort will be the
continuing promotion of a friendly and
predictable investment environment, one
which offers our international partners
a fair and level playing field. As a Group,
we have already benefited from the
improving regulatory environment, as can
be seen from our partnerships with Ayala

and IFC. As this trend continues, other
Myanmar companies will undoubtedly
follow our lead and look internationally
for additional capital and expertise.

Final Thoughts
A rising tide lifts all boats, and we can
expect stiffer competition than ever as
we move forward into the next decade.
With that, we must not rest. Instead, we
must work harder than ever to continue
innovating and to retain our enviable
position as the partner-of-choice in
Myanmar.
Our focus will remain on promoting
transparency and exemplary standards
of corporate governance. This has
formed the bedrock of our success and
is the reason we have attracted so many
prestigious international partners. The
Ayala and IFC investments are a validation
of our steadfast and enduring focus on
doing business in the right way.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to
thank both our new and old shareholders
for placing their faith in us to deliver on
our ambitious plans. Additionally, I would
like to heap praise on our talented and
committed employees for the part they
have played in shaping our past and the
role they are playing in setting our course
for future success.

Yours sincerely,

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman
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အစုု႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ားခင္ဗ်ား
၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္ စက္တင္ဘာလတြင္ ကုုန္ဆံုးသည့္ဘ႑ာ

အထူးသျဖင့္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုုႏွစ္သည္ Ayala Corporation

ယူမည္

နွစ္အတြက္ FMI ၏ နွစ္ပတ္လည္ အစီရင္ခံစာကို

("Ayala") နွင့္ FMI ကုမၸဏီၾကားတြင္လည္းေကာင္း၊

နုုိင္ပါသည္။ Ayala သည္ အစုု႐ွယ္ယာတစ္ခုလွ်င္

ဂုုဏ္ယူဝမ္းေျမာက္စြာျဖင့္ တင္ျပလိုပါသည္။ ယခုု အစီ

FMI ၏ လက္ေအာက္ခံ ကုမၸဏီျဖစ္ေသာ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္

(၁၅,၀၀၀) က်ပ္နႈန္းျဖင့္ ဝယ္ယူခဲ့ေသာေၾကာင့္ စေတာ့

ရင္ခံစာသည္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ၏ ဘ႑ာေရးနွစ္ ေျပာင္းလဲ

ႏွင့္ IFC တို႔ၾကားတြင္ လည္းေကာင္း မွတ္ေက်ာက္

ေစ်းကြက္တြင္ လက္႐ိွျဖစ္ေပၚေနေသာ ေစ်းနႈန္းထက္

သတ္မွတ္ျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္အတြင္း FMI မွ

တင္နိုင္သည့္ မိတ္ဖက္ဖြဲ႕စည္းမႈမ်ား႐ွိသျဖင့္ ထူးျခားစြာ

၃၆.၅% ပိုေပးခဲ့ ပါသည္။ ထိုကဲ့သို႔ ဘ႑ာေရးအရ

ဒုုတိယအႀကိမ္ ထုုတ္ေဝသည့္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္ မတ္လမွ

အမွတ္ရေနမည့္ နွစ္တစ္ႏွစ္လည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ အဆိုပါ

ရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈထည့္ ဝင္ျခင္းသည္ Ayala မွ ကၽြန္

စက္တင္ဘာလအထိ (၆) လတာ အစီရင္ခံစာ ျဖစ္ပါ

မိတ္ဖက္ဖြဲ႕စည္းမႈ

ေတာ္တို႔ စေတာ့႐ွယ္ယာတန္ဖိုးကို ယံုၾကည္မႈ႐ွိသကဲ့

သည္။

သာမက

ႏွစ္ခုစလံုးသည္

ျမန္မာႏုုိင္ငံ၏

FMI

အတြက္

စီးပြားေရးဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတုုိးတက္

မႈအတြက္ပါ အထင္ကရမွတ္တိုင္မ်ား ျဖစ္ၾကပါသည္။
၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာနွစ္အတြင္း ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု
၏ (၆)လၾကာကာလအတြင္း

ဝင္ေငြက်ပ္ (၁၆၈.၄)

ပါသည္။
Ayala သည္ ဘ႑ာေရးရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈတစ္ခု ျပဳလုုပ္႐ံု
နုုိဝင္ဘာလ (၁၄)ရက္ေန႔တြင္ ဖိလစ္ပိုင္နုိင္ငံ၏ ထိပ္

သာမက ျမန္မာျပည္သူမ်ားအတြက္ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တ့ံ၍

သည့္အတြက္

တန္းကုမၸဏီႀကီး တစ္ခုျဖစ္ေသာ Ayala နွင့္ မဟာဗ်ဴ

ပိုမိုေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ အခြင့္အလမ္းမ်ား တည္ေဆာက္

ရလဒ္

ဟာေျမာက္

ေၾကညာခ့ဲပါ

ရန္ ေ႐ွး႐ႈထားေသာေၾကာင့္ ယခုုလို မဟာမိတ္ဖြဲ႕စည္း

႐ိုးမဘဏ္သည္

သည္။ Ayala သည္ အေမရိကန္ေဒၚလာ (၈၂.၅)

နိုင္ျခင္းသည္ FMI ၏ သမိုင္းတြင္ ထူးျခားေသာတိုး

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ အဓိက ဝင္ေငြ႐ွာေဖြေပးသည့္ လုုပ္

သန္းကို ေျပာင္းလဲ၍ရနုုိင္ေသာ ေခ်းေငြအျဖစ္ FMI

တက္ေျပာင္းလဲမႈတစ္ခု

ငန္းတစ္ခုအျဖစ္

သို႔ေပးအပ္ၿပီး

မူေဘာင္

သည္။ ထို႔ျပင္ Ayala ၏ ေအာင္ျမင္မႈအေနအထား

(ယခင္နွစ္ က်ပ္ (၁၂၀.၇) ဘီလီယံ) ဆက္လက္ဦး

မ်ား ထြက္ေပၚလာေသာအခါတြင္ FMI ကုမၸဏီ၏

မ်ားနွင့္ ဦးေဆာင္ေနေသာ လုပ္ငန္းမ်ားသည္ ကၽြန္

ေဆာင္ေနသည္ကို

က်န္းမာေရး

အစု႐ွယ္ယာ ၂၀% ကို Ayala ကုမၸဏီက ရ႐ွိမည္ျဖစ္

ေတာ္တို႔လုပ္ကိုင္ေသာ လုုပ္ငန္းက႑မ်ားနွင့္ ထပ္တူ

ေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈက႑တြင္လည္း သိသာထင္႐ွားေသာ

သည္။ ဤသုိ႔ ေဆာင္႐ြက္မႈသည္ ၂၀၁၇ ခုုနွစ္ တြင္

က်လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

ဝင္ေငြတိုးတက္မႈမ်ား ရ႐ွိခဲ့ၿပီး ၂၀၁၉

စက္တင္ဘာ

အတည္ျပဳခဲ့သည့္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံကုမၸဏီမ်ား အက္ဥပေဒ

၎တို႔၏ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္း၊ အိမ္ၿခံေျမေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္

(၅၁.၁)

ဘ႑ာေရး

ဘီလီယံ)

ရ႐ွိခဲ့

အရေကာင္းမြန္သည့္

ရ႐ွိခဲ့သည္ဟု

ဘ႑ာနွစ္တြင္

ဘီလီယံ

ျမန္မာနို္င္ငံ၏ အနာဂတ္စီးပြားေရးအလားအလာ

အေပၚတြင္လည္း ယံုၾကည္မႈ႐ွိျခင္းကို ေဖာ္ျပရာေရာက္

(ယခင္နွစ္

က်ပ္

(၆၉.၁)

တမူထူးျခားသည္ဟုဆို

Ayala ႏွင့္ မိတ္ဖက္ဖြဲ႕စည္းျခင္း

ဘီလီယံ (ယခင္နွစ္ က်ပ္ (၁၃၀.၅) ဘီလီယံ) ႏွင့္
အၾကမ္းအျမတ္ေငြ

သုုိ႔

ျဖစ္သည့္အတြက္

ဆိုနိုင္ပါသည္။
ဝင္ေငြက်ပ္

(၁၅၀.၆)

ေတြ႕႐ွိရပါသည္။

က်ပ္(၁၇.၆)

ဘီလီယံ

မ်ား

ဘီလီယံ

မိတ္ဖက္ဖဲြ႕စည္းျခင္းကို

တိက်ေသာၫႊန္ၾကားခ်က္

ျဖစ္လာမည္ဟု

ထို႔ေၾကာင့္

ယံုၾကည္ပါ

ဖိလစ္ပိုင္နိုင္ငံတြင္

(ယခင္နွစ္

သစ္က ခြင့္ျပဳေပးလိုက္ေသာ စည္းမ်ဥ္းဥပေဒဆိုင္ရာ

ေဆာက္ေရးလုုပ္ငန္းႏွင့္

က်ပ္ (၁၀.၃) ဘီလီယံ) ႐ွိခဲ့ပါသည္။ သို႔ေသာ္လည္း

လြတ္လပ္မႈမ်ားအရ နိုင္ငံျခားရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈမ်ား ရယူ

လုုပ္ငန္းတို႔၏

ယခုုကာလအတြက္ စုုစုေပါင္းဝင္ေငြသည္ က်ပ္ (၇.၁)

သည့္ေနရာတြင္ ျမန္မာနို္င္ငံ႐ွိ

အေနျဖင့္ မ်ားစြာသင္ယူနိုင္ရန္ အခြင့္အေရး ရ႐ွိလာ

ဘီလီယံ (ယခင္နွစ္ က်ပ္ (၇.၃) ဘီလီယံ) သို႔ အနည္း

စံထားစရာ မွတ္ခ်က္တစ္ခု ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ကုမၸဏီမ်ားအတြက္

က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈ

ေအာင္ျမင္မႈမ်ားထံမွ

မည္ျဖစ္ၿပီး လြန္ခဲ့ေသာ ဆယ္စုနွစ္မ်ားအတြင္း Ayala

ငယ္ က်ဆင္းခဲ့ပါသည္။

၏ တိုးတက္မႈလမ္းစဥ္မ်ားသည္ FMI အတြက္ နည္းဗ်ဴ
ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔ ကုမၸဏီသည္ ကမ ၻာတစ္ဝန္း႐ွိ ကုမၸဏီ

ဟာတစ္ခု ျဖစ္လာလိမ့္မည္ဟု

သို႔ေသာ္လည္း ယခုုဘ႑ာနွစ္သည္ တိုေတာင္းေသာ

မ်ားစြာနွင့္

ယံုၾကည္ပါသည္။

(၆)လတာကာလ ျဖစ္သည့္အျပင္ အဓိကစီးပြားေရး

လည္း ယခုု Ayala နွင့္ မဟာမိတ္ဖြဲ႕စည္းျခင္းသည္

က႑မ်ားတြင္ ထပ္မံတိုးခ်ဲ႕ရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံသြားရန္ လို

FMI ကုမၸဏီ၏ အစုု႐ွယ္ယာမ်ားကို တိုက္႐ိုက္ဝယ္

အပ္သည့္အတြက္

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕မွ

ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔

အျမတ္ေဝစု

ခြဲေဝေပးျခင္း မျပဳလုုပ္ရန္ အဆိုျပဳထားပါသည္။

မိတ္ဖက္ဖြဲ႕စည္းမႈမ်ားစြာ

ျပဳလုုပ္ခဲ့ေသာ္

ကၽြန္ေတာ့အေနျဖင့္

10

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

ေ႐ွ႕ေလွ်ာက္ ထင္ျမင္ယူဆခ်က္မ်ား

၎အျပင္ Ayala အုုပ္စု၏ ဥကၠ႒နွင့္ လုုပ္ငန္းလည္

ခ်ဳပ္မႈ၊ ဘ႑ာေရး၊ ေငြေၾကးစီမံခန္႔ခြဲလုပ္ငန္း၊ ဘ႑ာ

ပတ္မႈ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္ျဖစ္သူ Mr. Fernando

ေရးဆိုင္ရာ ထုုတ္ကုန္သစ္မ်ား တီထြင္မႈတုိးတက္ေရး

Miranda Zobel de Ayala သည္ FMI ၏ ဒါ႐ိုက္

တြင္ ေထာက္ပံ့ကူညီေပးခဲ့သလုိ

တာအဖြဲ႕တြင္ ပါဝင္လာမည္ျဖစ္သည့္အတြက္ မ်ားစြာ

ဆက္ထားသည့္ လြယ္ကူလ်င္ျမန္ေသာ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈ

တက္လာမည္ဆိုေသာ ဆို႐ိုးစကားအတိုင္း ေနာက္

ေက်နပ္ဝမ္းေျမာက္မိပါသည္။

ဘဏ္ခဲြတုိင္း ခ်ိတ္

ဒီေရျမင့္တက္လာလွ်င္

အားလံုးေသာေလွမ်ား

ျမင့္

ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔အတြက္

စနစ္သစ္ (Core Banking System) ကုိလည္း အ

အနာဂတ္ ဆယ္စုနွစ္တစ္ခုသို႔ ခ်ဥ္းနင္းဝင္ေရာက္လာ

Mr. Fernando Miranda Zobel de Ayala ထံမွ

ေကာင္အထည္ေဖာ္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပးခဲ့ပါသည္။ IFC

သည္နွင့္အမွ် ပိုမိုျပင္းထန္ေသာ ၿပိဳင္ဆိုင္မႈမ်ားကို ရင္

မ်ားစြာေသာအေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ားနွင့္ ကၽြမ္းက်င္မႈမ်ားကို

၏ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈႏွင့္ ႀကီးၾကပ္မႈျဖင့္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္သည္

ဆိုင္လာရမည္ဟု

အသံုးခ်ၿပီး လက္႐ိွလုပ္ကိုင္ေနေသာ စီးပြားေရးလုုပ္

အေမရိကန္ေဒၚလာ သန္း (၈၀၀)တန္ဖုိး႐ွိ အေသးစား

ေၾကာင့္ ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔ ရပ္နားေနမည္မဟုတ္ဘဲပို၍ အ

ငန္းမ်ားကို ပိုမိုအားေကာင္းလာေစရန္နွင့္ အလားအ

ႏွင့္ အလတ္စားလုပ္ငန္း ေခ်းေငြ (၇,၀၀၀) ေက်ာ္အား

လုုပ္ႀကိဳးစားကာ ေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ တီထြင္ဖန္တီးမႈမ်ား

လာေကာင္းေသာ အခြင့္အေရးမ်ားကို

ထုတ္ေခ်းေပးျခင္းႏွင့္ ဘဏ္ခဲြ (၅၂)ခုမွ (၈၀)ခုုသုိ႔ တိုး

ျပဳလုုပ္ျခင္းျဖင့္ လက္႐ွိရ႐ွိၿပီးျဖစ္ေသာ "ျမန္မာနုုိင္ငံတြင္

မည္ဟု ေမွ်ာ္လင့္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

ခ်ဲ႕နုုိင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

မိတ္ဖက္ေ႐ြးခ်ယ္စရာအထင္ကရအဖြဲ႕အစည္းတစ္ခု"

Ayala

အနာဂတ္ေမွ်ာ္မွန္းခ်က္

သည္

(၁၈၅)နွစ္တာ

ေဆာင္႐ြက္

ရပ္တည္လာခဲ့ေသာ

ေမွ်ာ္လင့္ရပါသည္။

ထို႔အတြက္

အျဖစ္ ဆက္လက္ႀကိဳးပမ္းသြားရမည္ျဖစ္သည္။

သမို္င္းအေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ား႐ွိၿပီး ထိုမွ်ၾကာျမင့္ေသာ အ

ထို႔အျပင္

ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔၏

ၿပီးခဲ့သည့္

ေရး႐ွင္း လုပ္ငန္းတစ္ခုသည္ အခ်ိန္ကသာသင္ၾကား

ေအာင္ျမင္မႈမ်ားနွင့္

ေပးႏုုိင္ေသာ မ်ားစြာေသာ အသိပညာမ်ားနွင့္ အေတြ႕

ေတြ႕ေနရေသာ္လည္း ကၽြန္ေတာ္တုိ႔၏ လုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၊

ဆက္လက္ႀကိဳးပမ္းသြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ထိုအခ်က္

အႀကံဳမ်ား ပိုင္ဆိုင္ေနလိမ့္မည္ဟု ကၽြန္ေတာ့အေနျဖင့္

၀န္ထမ္းမ်ားႏွင့္ အေလ့အက်င့္မ်ား စဥ္ဆက္မျပတ္

ႏွစ္ခုသည္ ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔ေအာင္ျမင္မႈ၏ အဓိကေက်ာ

ယံုၾကည္ပါသည္။ ထို႔ေၾကာင့္ FMI အေနျဖင့္ ေလ့လာ

တုိးတက္ေစရန္ ေရ႐ွည္မဟာဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္ အစီအမံ

႐ိုးတစ္ခုျဖစ္ၿပီး နုုိင္ငံတကာမွ ဂုုဏ္သိကၡာျမင့္မားေသာ

သင္ယူမႈေကာင္းေသာ ေက်ာင္းသားမ်ား ျဖစ္ရမည္ျဖစ္

မ်ားကုိလည္း ဆက္လက္ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

အဖြဲ႕အစည္းမ်ားစြာကို စြဲေဆာင္နိုင္ခဲ့သည့္ အေၾကာင္း

(၆)လတာ

ကာလအတြင္း

ရ႐ွိခဲ့ေသာ

စုေပါင္းႀကိဳးပမ္းမႈမ်ားအား

ျမင္

ၿပီး Ayala ၏ ေအာင္ျမင္မႈမ်ားႏွင့္ သင္ခန္းစာမ်ားအား
ေလ့လာသင္ယူၿပီး

အတူတကြပူးေပါင္းျခင္းျဖင့္

ပိုမို

အားေကာင္းေသာ ကုမၸဏီတစ္ခု ျဖစ္လာပါလိမ့္မည္။

အပိုင္းတြင္

ေကာ္ပိုရိတ္စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈ

စံနမူနာျပကုမၸဏီတစ္ခု

ျဖစ္လာေစရန္

ရင္းလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ မွန္ကန္ေသာနည္းလမ္းမ်ား
ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ၏ ၂၀၂၀ ျပည့္ႏွစ္တြင္ ျမန္မာ့စီးပြားေရးတုိး

ျဖင့္ စီးပြားေရးလုုပ္ကိုင္ရန္ စိတ္ပိုင္းျဖတ္ထားျခင္း၏

တက္မႈသည္ ၆.၈% တုိးတက္လာမည္ဟု အာ႐ွဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳး

အသီးအပြင့္မ်ားျဖစ္ေၾကာင္း Ayala နွင့္ IFC တို႔၏

ေရးဘဏ္က ခန္႔မွန္းထားပါသည္။ အဆုိပါ ေျပာင္းလဲ

ရင္းနီွးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈမ်ားက သက္ေသျပလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

FMI တြင္ ရင္းနီွးျမွဳပ္နွံရန္ Ayala ၏ ဆံုးျဖတ္ခ်က္သည္

မႈျဖစ္ေရးအတြက္ လမ္းၫႊန္ေပးေနသည့္ လမ္းၫႊန္

ကုမၸဏီနွစ္ခုစလံုးအတြက္ ေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ အခြင့္အ

ခ်က္မွာ လူမႈေရး၊ စီးပြားေရးႏွင့္ သဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္

ေရးမ်ားစြာ

ထိန္းသိမ္းေရး

ေပၚေပါက္လာေစမည္ျဖစ္ေသာေၾကာင့္

ပြင့္လင္းျမင္သာမႈ႐ွိေရးႏွင့္

အာ႐ံုစူးစိုက္မႈကိုလည္း

ခ်ိန္ကာလတစ္ခုကို ျဖတ္သန္းခဲ့ၿပီးျဖစ္သည့္ ေကာ္ပို

စသည့္ျပဳျပင္ေျပာင္းလဲမႈ အစီအစဥ္

မိမိတို႔ ကုမၸဏီ၏ ရည္မွန္းခ်က္ႀကီးမားေသာ စီမံကိန္း

ကၽြန္ေတာ္ အလြန္ဂုဏ္ယူရပါသည္။ ထို႔အျပင္ ကၽြန္

တစ္ခုျဖစ္ေသာ

ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳး

မ်ားကို အေကာင္အထည္ေဖာ္နုိင္ရန္ မယိမ္းမယိုင္ႏွင့္

ေတာ္တို႔ႏုိင္ငံ၏ ေတာက္ပေနေသာ စီးပြားေရးအနာ

တုိးတက္ေရး အစီအစဥ္ပင္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ဤအစီအစဥ္

ေျပာင္းလဲမႈမ႐ွိေသာ ေထာက္ခံအားေပးမႈ၊ ယံုၾကည္မႈ

ဂတ္ကို တစ္ဖက္တစ္လမ္းမွ ေထာက္ခံအားေပးလိုက္

ကုိ အေကာင္အထည္ေဖာ္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ျခင္းျဖင့္ ဆင္းရဲ

မ်ားကို ေပးအပ္ခဲ့ေသာ ႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္အသစ္ႏွင့္ အ

ျခင္းျဖစ္သည္ဆိုေသာ အခ်က္ေၾကာင့္ ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔

မဲြေတမႈ၊ ရာသီဥတုေျပာင္းလဲမႈ၊ ကုန္သြယ္မႈ၊ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္

ေဟာင္းမ်ားအားလံုးကို ေက်းဇူးတင္႐ွိေၾကာင္း ဒါ႐ိုက္

နုုိင္ငံအတြက္ အခြင့္အလမ္းမ်ားစြာႏွင့္ အက်ိဳးအျမတ္

ႏွံမႈတုိ႔ႏွင့္ ဆက္ႏြႊယ္ေသာအရာမ်ားအပါအ၀င္ ကၽြန္

တာအဖြဲ႕၏ကိုယ္စား ေျပာၾကားလိုပါသည္။ ထို႔ျပင္ ကၽြန္

မ်ားစြာကို ေသခ်ာေပါက္ ယူေဆာင္လာေပးမည္ ျဖစ္ပါ

ေတာ္တုိ႔နိုင္ငံ ရင္ဆုိင္ႀကဳံေတြ႕ေနရသည့္ ကမ ၻာ့စိန္

ေတာ္တို႔ကုမၸဏီ၏ အတိတ္ကို ပံုေဖာ္ထုဆစ္ခဲ့ရာတြင္

သည္။

ေခၚမႈမ်ားကုိ ပဲ့ကုိင္ထိန္းေက်ာင္း ေမာင္းႏွင္သြားႏုိင္

ပါ၀င္ခဲ့ၾကၿပီး

မည္ဟု ေမွ်ာ္လင့္ပါသည္။

ေၾကာင္းကို ခ်မွတ္ေပးသည့္ေနရာတြင္ အခန္းက႑

႐ုုိးမဘဏ္ႏွင့္ IFC

ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ

အနာဂတ္ေအာင္ျမင္မႈအတြက္

တစ္ခုမွပါဝင္ၾကမည့္

အရည္အခ်င္း႐ွိၿပီး

လမ္း

စိတ္အား

ဤအစီအစဥ္တြင္ပါ၀င္သည့္ ႏိုင္ငံတကာမွ ရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္

ထက္သန္မႈ႐ွိေသာ ဝန္ထမ္းမ်ားကို ေက်းဇူးတင္စြာျဖင့္

ယခုႏွစ္အတြင္း ေနာက္ထပ္စုိက္ထူႏုိင္ခဲ့ေသာ အေရး

နွံသူမ်ားအတြက္ တန္းတူညီမွ်ေသာ၊ ရင္းနွီးေႏြးေထြးမႈ

ခ်ီးက်ဴးဂုုဏ္ျပဳစကား ေျပာၾကားလိုပါသည္။

ပါသည့္ သမုိင္းမွတ္တုိင္တစ္ခုမွာ ၂၀၁၄ ခုႏွစ္တြင္

႐ွိၿပီး ႀကိဳတင္တြက္ခ်က္မႈအားေကာင္းေသာ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္

႐ုိးမဘဏ္သုိ႔ ေခ်းေငြထုတ္ေခ်းခဲ့ေသာ IFC သည္ ၎

ႏွံမႈ အေျခအေနတုိ႔အား ဆက္လက္တိုးျမႇင့္ တည္

၏ ထုတ္ေခ်းေငြကုိ အစု႐ွယ္ယာ ၅% အျဖစ္ေျပာင္း

ေဆာက္သြားျခင္းေၾကာင့္

လဲထည့္၀င္ခဲ့ျခင္းျဖစ္သည္။

႐ွယ္ယာအျဖစ္

Ayala ႏွင့္ IFC တုိ႔ျဖင့္ မိတ္ဖက္ဖြဲ႕စည္းနိုင္ခဲ့သည့္ အ

ေျပာင္းလဲခဲ့ျခင္းသည္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္အေနျဖင့္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ

တြက္ ဥပေဒေၾကာင္းအရ လြတ္လပ္မႈရ႐ွိေစရန္ဖန္

၏ ပထမဆံုး ႏိုင္ငံျခားရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈပါ၀င္ေသာ ဘဏ္

တီးျခင္း၏ အက်ိဳးေက်းဇူးကို ခံစားေနရၿပီ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

တစ္ခုျဖစ္လာခဲ့ၿပီး ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ၏ ဘ႑ာေရး၀န္ေဆာင္

ဤသုိ႔ တံခါးဖြင့္မူ၀ါဒမ်ား စဥ္ဆက္မျပတ္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္

မႈက႑အတြက္ အေရးပါေသာ သမုိင္းမွတ္တုိင္တစ္ခု

ျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔၏ စြမ္းေဆာင္ရည္မ်ား တိုး

ျဖစ္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

တက္လာျခင္းကို အျခားကုမၸဏီမ်ားလည္း ေလ့လာ

ဤသုိ႔

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု

အေနျဖင့္

ေလးစားစြာျဖင့္

နမူနာယူနိုင္ၿပီး ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈႏွင့္ ကြ်မ္းက်င္မႈအတြက္
IFC သည္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္အတြက္ အလြန္ေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ

ႏုိင္ငံတကာနွင့္ ပူးေပါင္းေဆာင္႐ြက္လာၾကမည္ ျဖစ္ပါ

ဦးသိမ္းေ၀ (ခ) Serge Pun

မိတ္ဖက္တစ္ဦးျဖစ္ၿပီး ကၽြန္ေတာ္တုိ႔၏ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈ

သည္။

အမႈေဆာင္ဥကၠ႒

ဆုိင္ရာ ဆုံး႐ႈံးႏုိင္ေျခစီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈ၊ ကုမၸဏီစီမံခန္႔ခဲြအုပ္
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FY Sep2019 Key Achievements &

Highlights

First Myanmar Investment

forged $82.5m
landmark partnership
with Ayala

Celebrated
20th Anniversary

of Balloons Over Bagan
journeys through the skies

First Bank
in Myanmar

to receive foreign direct
investment

Signed a landmark
agreement with Marriott
International to bring

The Westin brand to
Myanmar

Successfully sold

80% of units across
six buildings
as of November 2019
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Leadership
Leading Teams to New Heights
Strong and stable leadership is key to the success of any team.
Whether the objective is to reach the summit of a mountain or
achieve success in business, we believe it is the role of leadership
to guide and empower teams on their path to the top.

Mountain Range in Mon State
Photography by Ko Oo
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First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Board of

Directors
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

ဦးသိမ္းေဝ သည္ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံသားတစ္ဦးျဖစ္ၿပီး FMI

U Tun Tun

Executive Chairman

၏ အမႈေဆာင္ဥကၠ႒ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ၁၉၈၃ ခုႏွစ္တြင္

Executive Director & Chief Operating
Officer

ဦးသိမ္းေဝသည္ Serge Pun & Associates လီမိတက္
Present Directorships in listed companies:

အား

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

တြင္ တည္ေထာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး ၁၉၉၁ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ အမိေျမ ျမန္

ေဟာင္ေကာင္ၿမိဳ႕

(အထူးအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္ေရးေဒသ)
Present Directorships in listed companies:

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Limited

မာႏိုင္ငံသို႔ျပန္လာကာ Serge Pun & Associates

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Yoma Strategic Holdings Ltd. (Singapore)

(Myanmar) Limited (SPA) ကို တည္ေထာင္ခဲ့သည္။

Memories Group Limited (Singapore)

Memories Group Limited (Singapore)

Appointed on: 17 November 2009

Appointed on: 12 September 2004

၁၉၉၂ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ SPA ၏ အဓိကမွတ္တိုင္ျဖစ္ေသာ FMI

Last Re-elected on: 3 August 2019

ကို ဖဲြ႕စည္းတည္ေထာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး ၂၀၁၆ ခုႏွစ္၊ မတ္လ (၂၅)

Last Re-elected on: 30 July 2017

ရက္ေန႔တြင္ အသစ္ဖြင့္လွစ္ခဲ့ေသာ ရန္ကုန္စေတာ့
အိတ္ခိ်န္း၌

ပထမဦးဆံုး

စာရင္းတင္သြင္းႏိုင္ေသာ

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun (“U Theim Wai”)
is a Myanmar national and the Executive
Chairman of FMI. In 1983, he founded
Serge Pun & Associates Limited in Hong
Kong SAR and eventually returned to
Myanmar, the country of his birth, to
establish SPA in 1991.

ကုမၸဏီတစ္ခုျဖစ္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ၂၀ဝ၆ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ဦးသိမ္း

In 1992, U Theim Wai established FMI
as one of the earliest public companies
(unlisted) in Myanmar. In 2006, he led
Yoma Strategic to a successful listing on
the Mainboard of the SGX-ST. In 2016, he
also led FMI to be the first company to list
on the YSX. He was also instrumental in
listing Memories Group on the Catalist
Board of the SGX-ST in 2018.

ဦးသိမ္းေဝသည္ လက္႐ိွတြင္ ကမ ၻာ့စီးပြားေရးဖိုရမ္၊

U Theim Wai is a member of the World
Economic Forum’s ASEAN Regional
Strategy Group and ASEAN Regional
Business Council. He is a standing
member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Dalian and
a member of the Asia Business Council.
He is also the Chair of the International
Advisory Board of Singapore Management
University for Myanmar as well as the
Vice-Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of New Yangon Development
Company Limited. U Theim Wai served
as an Honorary Business Representative
of the International Enterprise Singapore
for Myanmar from 2004 to 2006. He is a
frequent speaker in international forums
on Myanmar and ASEAN Region.

ေဝ၏ ဦးေဆာင္မႈျဖင့္္ Yoma Strategic လီမိတက္ကို
စကၤာပူစေတာ့အိတ္ခိ်န္း MainBoard တြင္ ေအာင္
ျမင္စြာ စာရင္းသြင္းႏိုင္ခဲ့ၿပီး ၂၀၁၈ ခုႏွစ္၊ ဇန္နဝါရီလ
(၅) ရက္ေန႔တြင္ Memories Group လီမိတက္ကို
စကၤာပူစေတာ့အိတ္ခိ်န္း Catalist board တြင္ ေအာင္
ျမင္စြာစာရင္း တင္သြင္းႏိုင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

အာဆီယံေဒသတြင္း မဟာဗ်ဴဟာအဖြဲ႕ႏွင့္ အာဆီယံ
ေဒသဆိုင္ရာ စီးပြားေရးေကာင္စီတို႔၏ အဖဲြ႕ဝင္တစ္ဦး
ျဖစ္သည္။ သူသည္ တ႐ုတ္ျပည္၊ တာလ်န္ၿမိဳ႕႐ိွ ျပည္

U Tun Tun has been with the SPA and
FMI group of companies since 1998. He
has been an Executive Director of FMI
since 2009 and currently also serves as
its Chief Operating Officer. He is also
a Non-Executive Director of Memories
Group. Over the years, he has held
various positions at both operational
and corporate levels and has overseen
many of the Group’s subsidiaries and
joint ventures. U Tun Tun is an Associate
Member of the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries & Administrators (UK).

သူ႔အႀကံေပးညီလာခံ၏ အၿမဲတမ္းအဖဲြ႕ဝင္ႏွင့္ အာ႐ွ
စီးပြားေရးေကာင္စီ အဖြဲ႕၀င္တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ဦးထြန္းထြန္းသည္ SPA ႏွင့္ FMI ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုသို႔

သူသည္

University

၁၉၉၈ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္ခဲ့သည္။ သူသည္

နိုင္ငံတကာအႀကံေပးအဖဲြ႕၏

၂၀ဝ၉ ခုႏွစ္မွစ၍ FMI ၏ အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္ ဒါ႐ိုက္

ဥကၠ႒တစ္ဦးျဖစ္ၿပီး ရန္ကုန္ၿမိဳ႕သစ္ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးေရး ကုမၸဏီ

တာအျဖစ္ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ၿပီး လက္႐ွိတြင္ FMI ၏ လုပ္

လီမိတက္ (NYDC) ၏ ဒုဥကၠ႒ႏွင့္ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ

ငန္းဆိုင္ရာအမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္

႐ိွခ်ဳပ္လည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ထို႔အျပင္ International

ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

Enterprise Singapore ၏ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံဆိုင္ရာ ဂုဏ္

Group ၏ အလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မဟုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာ

ထူးေဆာင္ ကိုယ္စားလွယ္အျဖစ္ ၂၀ဝ၄ ခုႏွစ္မွ ၂၀ဝ၆

တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ဦးထြန္းထြန္း သည္ စီးပြား

ခုႏွစ္အထိ

ေရးလုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္မႈႏွင့္

႐ိွ

Singapore

ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံဆိုင္ရာ

Management

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

သူသည္

သူသည္

တာဝန္ယူ
Memories

ကုမၸဏီစီမံခန႔္ခဲြမႈဆိုင္ရာ

ျမန္မာနို္င္ငံနွင့္ အာဆီယံေဒသတစ္၀န္း အျပည္ျပည္

ရာထူးအမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးတြင္ ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့သူျဖစ္ၿပီး ကုမၸဏီ

ဆိုင္ရာဖိုရမ္မ်ားတြင္ မၾကာခဏ ပါဝင္တက္ေရာက္

အုပ္စု၏ လုပ္ငန္းေဆာင္တာမ်ားနွင့္ ပူးေပါင္းဖက္စပ္

ေဆြးေႏြးေဟာေျပာသူတစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

လုပ္ငန္းမ်ားတြင္

ႀကီးၾကပ္ကြပ္ကဲလ်က္

႐ိွပါသည္။

သူသည္ Institute of Chartered Secretaries &
Administrators (UK) ၏ အသင္းဝင္တစ္ဦးလည္း
ျဖစ္ပါသည္။
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U Myat Thin Aung

U Linn Myaing

U Than Aung

Non-Executive Vice-Chairman

Non-Executive Director & Special Counsel
to the Chairman

Non-Executive Director
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Present Directorships in listed companies:

Present Directorships in listed companies:
First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Present Directorships in listed companies:

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Appointed on: 31 July 1992

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Appointed on: 31 July 1992

Last Re-elected on: 30 July 2017

Appointed on: 2 July 2012

Last Re-elected on: 3 August 2019

Last Re-elected on: 29 July 2018

U Myat Thin Aung is the Non-Executive
Vice-Chairman of FMI and is the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. U Myat
Thin Aung joined FMI in 1992. He is the
Chairman of AA group of companies and
serves as the Patron of Yamethin and
Daik-U Associations. U Myat Thin Aung
is a member of the Central Executive
Committee of the Union of Myanmar
Federation of Chamber of Commerce
& Industry (“UMFCCI”), and a Patron of
Hlaing Thayar Industrial City Management
Committee. He is also the Vice Chairman
of
the
Myanmar-China
Friendship
Association (Central).

U Linn Myaing is a Non-Executive Director
of FMI and Special Counsel to the
Executive Chairman. U Linn Myaing joined
FMI in 2010 and currently leads the Group
Government Relations Department. He
was appointed as SPA’s Advisor to the
Board in 2006. U Linn Myaing is a retired
Director General from the Ministry of
Foreign Affairs. He served as Myanmar’s
Ambassador to several Western countries
including France and the United States.
He was also an Ambassador and the
Head of the Myanmar Mission to the
European Union and Permanent Delegate
to UNESCO.

U Than Aung is a Non-Executive Director
of FMI and is a member of the Audit & Risk
Management Committee and member of
the Nominating Committee. U Than Aung
joined FMI in 1992. He is currently the
Managing Director of Yar Pye Company
Limited
and
other
family-owned
companies. He is also the Vice Chairman
of the Pathein Association.
ဦးသန္းေအာင္ သည္ FMI ၏ အလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္
မဟုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္ ၁၉၉၂ ခုႏွစ္မွ စတင္
ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ၿပီး

ဟုုတ္ေသာ ဒု-ဥကၠ႒ႏွင့္ Remuneration Committee

ဦးလင္းၿမိဳင္ သည္ FMI ၏ အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မ

၏ ဥကၠ႒ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူသည္ FMI သု႔ိ ၁၉၉၂ ခုႏွစ္

ဟုတ္ေသာ

တြင္ စတင္၀င္ေရာက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ဦးျမတ္သင္းေအာင္

အထူးအတုိင္ပင္ခံလည္း

သည္ AA ကုမၸဏီမ်ားအုပ္စု၏ ဥကၠ႒ျဖစ္ၿပီး ရမည္း

သည္ ၂၀၁၀ မွ စ၍ FMI သ႔ို၀င္ေရာက္ခဲ့ၿပီး လက္႐ိွတြင္

သင္းၿမိဳ႕နယ္အသင္းႏွင့္ ဒုိက္ဦးၿမိဳ႕နယ္အသင္းတို႔တြင္

အစိုးရဆက္ဆံေရးဌာန၏ အႀကီးအကဲအျဖစ္ တာ၀န္

နာယကအျဖစ္လည္းေကာင္း၊ ျပည္ေထာင္စု ျမန္မာ

ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။ ဦးလင္းၿမိဳင္ သည္ ၂၀ဝ၆

ႏုိင္ငံ ကုန္သည္မ်ားႏွင့္ စက္မႈလက္မႈလုပ္ငန္း႐ွင္မ်ားအ

ခုႏွစ္တြင္ SPA ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖဲြ႕သို႔ အႀကံေပးပုဂၢိဳလ္အ

သင္း၏ ဗဟိုအလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္ေကာ္မတီ တစ္ဦးအ

ျဖစ္ စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ႏိုင္ငံျခားေရး

ျဖစ္လည္းေကာင္း၊ လႈိင္သာယာစက္မႈဇုန္ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲေရး

ဝန္ႀကီးဌာန၏ အၿငိမ္းစားၫႊန္ၾကားေရးမွဴးခ်ဳပ္ တစ္ဦး

ေကာ္မတီ၏ နာယကအျဖစ္လည္းေကာင္း၊ ျမန္မာ-

ျဖစ္သည္။ ယင္းမတိုင္မီ သူသည္ ျပင္သစ္ႏိုင္ငံႏွင့္

တ႐ုတ္ခ်စ္ၾကည္ေရးအသင္း (ဗဟို) ဒုဥကၠ႒ အျဖစ္

အေမရိကန္ျပည္ေထာင္စုအပါအဝင္

လည္းေကာင္း ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

အခ်ိဳ႕တြင္ ျမန္မာသံအမတ္ႀကီးအျဖစ္ တာဝန္ထမ္း

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာျဖစ္ၿပီး

&

Risk

Management

အဖဲြ႕ဝင္တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ လက္႐ွိတြင္ သူ
သည္ ရာျပည့္ကုမၸဏီလီမိတက္ႏွင့္ အျခားမိသားစုပုိင္
ကုမၸဏီမ်ား၏

ဦးျမတ္သင္းေအာင္ သည္ FMI ၏ အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မ

Audit

Committee ႏွင့္ Nominating Committee တို႔၏

အုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈဒါ႐ုိက္တာျဖစ္သည့္အျပင္

ပုသိမ္ၿမိဳ႕နယ္အသင္း၏ ဒုဥကၠ႒လည္း ျဖစ္သည္။

အမႈေဆာင္ဥကၠ႒၏

ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ဦးလင္းၿမိဳင္

အေနာက္ႏုိင္ငံ

ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထို႔ျပင္ သူသည္ ဥေရာပသမဂၢဆိုင္
ရာ ျမန္မာကိုယ္စားလွယ္အဖြဲ႕ေခါင္းေဆာင္

ျမန္မာ

သံအမတ္ႀကီးအျဖစ္ လည္းေကာင္း၊ UNESCO ဆုိင္ရာ
ျမန္မာအၿမဲတမ္း ကိုယ္စားလွယ္အျဖစ္လည္းေကာင္း
တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

Sunrise Sin Phyu Taung in Kayah State
Photography by Ko Ko Lay
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First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet

U Kyi Aye

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director

Present Directorships in listed companies:

Present Directorships in listed companies:

Present Directorships in listed companies:

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Appointed on: 17 November 2009

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ Holdings Public Limited

Appointed on: 5 November 2015

Last Re-elected on: 29 July 2018

Appointed on: 3 December 2013

Last Re-elected on: 3 August 2019

Last Re-elected on: 29 July 2018

Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint has been a NonExecutive Director of FMI since 2009
and is a member of the Audit & Risk
Management Committee and member
of the Remuneration Committee. She is
a retired professor of economics with
a long tenure at the Yangon Institute
of Economics. Professor Dr. Yi Yi Myint
was awarded the Good Public Service
Medal in 1990 and was a delegate to the
National Convention. In 2015, she was
awarded a D.Litt (Honoris Causa) from
Yangon Institute of Economics. She is
currently an executive member of the
Myanmar Academy of Arts and Sciences.
She founded the Myanmar Women
Entrepreneurs’ Association in 1995 and is
now its Patron.

Professor Dr. Aung Tun Thet has
been a Non-Executive Director of FMI
since 2013 and is the Chairman of the
Nominating Committee. He is an Advisor
to the UMFCCI, as well as a member of
the Peace Commission and the Myanmar
Investment Commission. Professor Dr.
Aung Tun Thet is a Professor Emeritus at
Yangon University of Economics, a visiting
professor at Payap University, Chiangmai,
Thailand and Honorary Professor at
University of British Columbia, Vancouver,
Canada. He graduated with B.Com.
(Yangon), Post- Graduate Diploma in
Management Studies (Brighton, UK), M.Sc.
(Warwick, UK), Ph.D. (Manchester, UK)
and is a Post-Doctoral Fellow (Marburg,
Germany).

အၿငိမ္းစားပါေမာကၡ ေဒါက္တာေဒၚရီရီျမင့္ သည္ FMI

U Kyi Aye has been a Non-Executive
Director of FMI since 2015. He is
the Chairman of the Audit & Risk
Management Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee. He
joined Yoma Bank in 2000 and is now a
director of Yoma Bank. He was also a
director of Yoma Strategic from 2006
to 2015. He began his banking career
in 1960 and joined the Central Bank of
Myanmar (“CBM”) in 1965. U Kyi Aye is
a retired Governor of the CBM, having
held the position from 1992 to 1998.
He holds B.Com and B.L degrees from
Yangon University and a Diploma in World
Banking and Finance from The Economic
Institute in Boulder, Colorado, USA. He is
a Certified Public Accountant.
ဦးၾကည္ေအး သည္ FMI ၏ အလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မ

၏ အလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မဟုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္

ပါေမာကၡေဒါက္တာေအာင္ထြန္းသက္

FMI

ဟုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၅ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ စတင္

၂၀ဝ၉ ခုႏွစ္မွ စတင္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး Audit & Risk

၏ အလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မဟုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္

ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး Audit & Risk Management

Management Committee ႏွင့္ Remuneration

၂၀၁၃ ခုႏွစ္မွ စတင္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး Nominating

Committee ၏ ဥကၠ႒ႏွင့္ Remuneration Committee

Committee တ႔ုိ၏ အဖဲြ႕ဝင္တစ္ဦး ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူမ

Committee ၏ ဥကၠ႒လည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူသည္

၏ အဖဲြ႕ဝင္တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ၂၀ဝ၀ ျပည့္ႏွစ္

သည္

အၿငိမ္းစားပါေမာကၡျဖစ္ၿပီး ရန္ကုန္စီးပြားေရး

UMFCCI အသင္း၏ အႀကံေပးပုဂိၢဳလ္၊ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံ

တြင္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္တြင္ စတင္လုပ္ကိုင္ခဲ့ၿပီး လက္႐ွိတြင္

တကၠသိုလ္တြင္ ႏွစ္ေပါင္းမ်ားစြာ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္

ရင္းႏီွးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈေကာ္မ႐ွင္ႏွင့္ ၿငိမ္းခ်မ္းေရးေကာ္မ႐ွင္တုိ႔

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာတာဝန္ကို ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။ သူ

ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ျပည္သူ႔ဝန္ထမ္းေကာင္း တံဆိပ္

၏ အဖဲြ႕ဝင္တစ္ဦးလည္းျဖစ္သည္။ သူသည္ ရန္ကုန္

သည္ Yoma Strategic တြင္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအျဖစ္ ၂၀ဝ၆

ကုိ ၁၉၉၀ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ခီ်းျမႇင့္ျခင္းခံခဲ့ရၿပီး အမ်ိဳးသား

စီးပြားေရးတကၠသိုလ္၏

အၿငိမ္းစားဂုဏ္ထူးေဆာင္

မွ ၂၀၁၅ ခုႏွစ္ထိ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူ

ညီလာခံ၏ ကိုယ္စားလွယ္တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ပါေမာကၡ၊ ထုိင္းႏုိင္ငံ ခ်င္းမိုင္ၿမိဳ႕ Payap တကၠသိုလ္၏

သည္ ၁၉၆၀ ခုႏွစ္မွစတင္၍ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းနယ္ပယ္

၂၀၁၅ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ရန္ကုန္စီးပြားေရးတကၠသိုလ္မွ ဂုဏ္

ဧည့္ပါေမာကၡႏွင့္ ကေနဒါႏိုင္ငံ Vancouver ၿမိဳ႕ British

သို႔ ဝင္ေရာက္ခဲ့၍ ၁၉၆၅ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ဗဟိုဘဏ္၌

ထူးေဆာင္ပါရဂူဘဲြ႕ကို

ပါေမာကၡ

Columbia တကၠသုိလ္၏ ဂုဏ္ထူးေဆာင္ ပါေမာကၡ

စတင္တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံေတာ္ ဗဟို

ေဒါက္တာေဒၚရီရီျမင့္ သည္ လက္႐ွိအခိ်န္၌ ျမန္မာ

အျဖစ္ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။ သူသည္

ဘဏ္တြင္ ဥကၠ႒အျဖစ္ ၁၉၉၂ မွ ၁၉၉၈ ခုႏွစ္ထိ တာ

ႏုိင္ငံ ၀ိဇၨာႏွင့္သိပၸံပညာ႐ွင္အဖဲြ႕၏ အမႈေဆာင္အဖဲြ႕

ရန္ကုန္တကၠသုိလ္မွ ဝါဏိဇၨဘဲြ႕၊ UK ႏိုင္ငံ Brighton

ဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ရန္ကုန္တကၠသိုလ္

၀င္

ၿမိဳ႕မွ

ဘဲြ႕လြန္

မွ ဝါဏိဇၨဘဲြ႕ႏွင့္ ဥပေဒဘဲြ႕မ်ားအျပင္ အေမရိကန္နိုင္ငံ

ေဆာင္႐ွင္အသင္းအား ၁၉၉၅ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ တည္ေထာင္ခဲ့

ဒီပလိုမာ၊ Warwick ၿမိဳ႕မွ မဟာသိပံၸဘဲြ႕၊ UK ႏိုင္ငံ

The Economic Institute in Boulder, Colorado မွ

ၿပီး ယခုအခ်ိန္အထိ နာယကတစ္ဦးအျဖစ္ ပါ၀င္လ်က္

Manchester မွ ေဒါက္တာဘဲြ႕တိ႔ုကို ရ႐ွိခဲ့ၿပီး၊ ဂ်ာမနီ

ကမ ၻာ့ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းႏွင့္ ဘ႑ာေရးဆုိင္ရာ ဒီပလုိမာ

႐ွိပါသည္။

ႏိုင္ငံ

ရ႐ိွထားသူျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူသည္ လက္မွတ္ရျပည္သူ႔

ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ခီ်းျမႇင့္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

ျမန္မာအမ်ိဳးသမီး

စီးပြားေရးစြမ္း

စီမံခန္႔ခဲြေရး

Marburg

သည္

သိပၸံဘာသာရပ္တြင္

တကၠသိုလ္မွ

ဘဲြ႕လြန္ေဒါက္တာ

Fellowship တို႔ကုိ ရ႐ိွထားသူျဖစ္ပါသည္။

စာရင္းကိုင္တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။
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Management

Team

FMI Management
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun *

Dr. Ye Moe Myint

Executive Chairman

Senior Director & Deputy Head
Group Government Relations Department

from 1997 to 2006, where he served as
a representative of the Central Railways
Welfare Society.

U Tun Tun *
Executive Director & Chief Operating
Officer

Daw Thiri Kalyar
Financial Controller|Corporate Functions
Daw Thiri Kalyar is the Financial Controller
of FMI, having assumed the position
from September 2019. She is responsible
for the Group’s financial consolidation
and treasury management. Prior to
this role, she has been working in the
accounting and finance fields for 15
years, which include 10 years working
experiences in wider Yoma Group. She
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce
and Masters in Business Administration
from Yangon University of Economics.
Daw Thiri Kalyar is also a professionally
qualified accountant and is a member
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) (UK).

Dr. Ye Moe Myint has been a Senior
Director and Deputy Head of the Group
Government Relations Department since
February 2018. He was the Associate
Medical Director in 2008 and Hospital
Administrator in 2009. He has also
worked as the Network and Development
Executive Director for PHSH. Dr. Ye Moe
Myint was elected as the President of the
Myanmar Private Hospitals’ Association
from 2012 to 2018. He received his
medical degree from the Institute of
Medicine (1), Yangon in 1989.

ဦးၾကည္ေအး သည္ လက္႐ိွတြင္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု အစိုးရ

ေဒါက္တာရဲမိုးျမင့္ သည္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု အစုိးရဆက္ဆံ

U Maw Thein

ေရးဌာန၏ အႀကီးတန္းဒါ႐ိုက္တာႏွင့္ ဒုတိယအႀကီး

Senior Director
Group Government Relations Department

အကဲအျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၈ ခုႏွစ္၊ ေဖေဖာ္ဝါရီလမွ စတင္၍

ဆက္ဆံေရးဌာန၏ အႀကီးတန္းဒါ႐ိုက္တာႏွင့္ ဒုတိယ
အႀကီးအကဲအျဖစ္ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွသည္။
ဦးၾကည္ေအး သည္ ယခင္အစိုးရ အရာ႐ိွတစ္ဦးျဖစ္ၿပီး
တပ္မေတာ္၊ အမွတ္ (၂) စက္မႈဝန္ႀကီးဌာနႏွင့္ ရထားပို႔
ေဆာင္ေရးဝန္ႀကီးဌာနတို႔တြင္ ႏွစ္ေပါင္း (၄၀)ေက်ာ္
တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့သူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ၂၀၁၃
ခုႏွစ္တြင္ အေထြေထြမန္ေနဂ်ာရာထူးျဖင့္ ျမန္မာ့မီးရ
ထားမွ အၿငိမ္းစားယူခဲ့ၿပီး ထိုႏွစ္တြင္ပင္ SPA ၌ စတင္
တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ဗဟိုရထားပို႔
ေဆာင္ေရး သက္သာေခ်ာင္ခ်ိေရးအသင္း ကိုယ္စား
လွယ္အျဖစ္ FMI ၏ ဘုတ္အဖဲြ႕တြင္ ၁၉၉၇ မွ ၂၀ဝ၆
ခုႏွစ္အထိ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့သည္။

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။ သူသည္ ၂၀ဝ၈

ႏွင့္ ဘ႑ာေရးက႑တြင္ (၁၅) ႏွစ္ၾကာ လုပ္ငန္းအ

U Kyi Aye

U Maw Thein joined SPA in 2012 as the
Chief Operating Officer of FMI Flotilla
Company Limited. He has been a Senior
Director of the Group Government
Relations
Department
since
2013.
He retired as Commodore (Navy) in
2008. While in the Navy, U Maw Thein
served on naval vessels and on-shore
establishments including the offices of the
Commander-in-Chief (Navy) and Ministry
of Defense (Quartermaster–General) in
various capacities.

ေတြ႕အႀကံဳ႐ိွခဲ့သည့္အနက္ ကုမၸဏီတြင္ (၁၀) ႏွစ္ၾကာ

Senior Director & Deputy Head
Group Government Relations Department

ဦးေမာ္သိမ္း သည္ FMI Flotilla ကုမၸဏီလီမိတက္၏

ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ေဆးဘက္ဆိုင္ရာ တြဲဘက္ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္
မွ ၂၀ဝ၉ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ေဆး႐ံုအုပ္ရာထူးသို႔ တိုးျမႇင့္ျခင္း
ခံရပါသည္။ ထို႔ျပင္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏ Network
ႏွင့္ Development Executive Director အျဖစ္ တာဝန္
ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ေဒါက္တာရဲမိုးျမင့္သည္ ၂၀၁၂

ေဒၚသီရိကလ်ာ သည္ FMI ကုမၸဏီ၏ Financial

ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံ ပုဂၢလိကေဆး႐ံုမ်ားအသင္း၏

Controller အျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္၊ စက္တင္ဘာလမွ စ၍

ဥကၠ႒အျဖစ္ ေ႐ြးခ်ယ္ျခင္းခံရၿပီး ၂၀၁၈ ခုႏွစ္အထိ

တာ၀န္ယူခဲ့သူျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ၁၉၈၉ ခုႏွစ္

တစ္စုတစ္ေပါင္းတည္း ဘ႑ာေရးစာရင္းႏွင့္ ဘ႑ာ

တြင္ ရန္ကုန္ေဆးတကၠသိုလ္ (၁) မွ M.B.B.S ဘဲြ႕ကို

ေရးစီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈတုိ႔ကုိ တာ၀န္ယူထားပါသည္။ ဤရာထူး

ရ႐ိွခဲ့ပါသည္။

ျဖင့္ တာ၀န္မထမ္းေဆာင္မီ သူမသည္ စာရင္းအင္း

လုပ္ကိုင္ခဲ့သူျဖစ္သည္။ သူမသည္ ရန္ကုန္စီးပြားေရး
တကၠသုိလ္မွ

၀ါဏိဇၨဘဲြ႕ႏွင့္

မဟာဘဲြ႕ရ႐ွိထား

လုပ္ငန္းဆိုင္ရာ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ SPA သို႔

စီးပြားေရးရာစီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈ

သူျဖစ္ပါသည္။

စာရင္းကုိင္တစ္ဦးလည္းျဖစ္သည့္

ကၽြမ္းက်င္ေသာ
သူမသည္

The

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(ACCA) (UK) ၏ အဖဲြ႕၀င္တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

* Member of Board of Directors.

U Kyi Aye currently serves as the Senior
Director and Deputy Head of the Group
Government Relations Department. U
Kyi Aye was a former government official
and has served in the Armed Forces of
Myanmar, Ministry of Industry No. (2) and
Ministry of Rail Transportation for over 40
years. He joined SPA in 2013, the same
year he retired from Myanma Railways
as the General Manager. He was also
a former member of the Board of FMI

၂၀၁၂ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္
ခဲ့ၿပီး ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု အစိုးရဆက္ဆံေရးဌာန၏အႀကီး
တန္းဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၃ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ခန္႔အပ္တာဝန္
ေပးျခင္းခံရပါသည္။ ၂ဝဝ၈ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ တပ္မေတာ္(ေရ)
မွ ဗိုလ္မွဴးခ်ဳပ္အဆင့္ျဖင့္ အၿငိမ္းစားယူခဲ့သည့္ သူ
သည္ တပ္မေတာ္ (ေရ) ၌ စစ္ေရယာဥ္မွဴး၊ တပ္စခန္း
မွဴးႏွင့္ ဌာနခ်ဳပ္မွဴးတာဝန္မ်ားကို ကာကြယ္ေရးဦးစီး
ခ်ဳပ္႐ံုး (ေရ)ႏွင့္ ကာကြယ္ေရးဝန္ႀကီးဌာန စစ္ေထာက္
ခ်ဳပ္႐ံုး၊ ေရတပ္စခန္း၊ ဌာနခ်ဳပ္မ်ားတြင္ ထမ္းေဆာင္
ခဲ့ပါသည္။
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Financial Services
Mr. Dean Cleland
Chief Executive Officer | Yoma Bank
Mr. Dean Cleland ("Mr. Cleland") assumed
the role of the Chief Executive Officer of
Yoma Bank since September 2019. With
over 35 years of international banking
experience across the Asia Pacific, he has
built up expertise in Financial Services
in the areas of Banking, Operations,
Technology, Digital, Property & Enterprise
Services and Major Transformation.
Before joining Yoma Bank, Mr. Cleland
worked as an Executive General Manager
at National Australia Bank (“NAB”) for the
past 7 years working in Singapore and
Australia. Prior to NAB, Mr. Cleland also
worked at Australia and New Zealand
Banking Group Limited (“ANZ”) for 30
years in various roles, including as
founding Chief Executive Officer of ANZ
Royal Bank in Cambodia.

across India, Hong Kong, Singapore,
Korea, Indonesia, Vietnam and London.
An Indian national, Mr. Maheshwari is a
fellow member of Institute of Chartered
Accountants of India and an alumnus of
Oxford Business School.
Mr. Vijay Kumar Maheshwari (“Mr. Maheshwari”)
သည္

႐ိုးမဘဏ္၏

ဘ႑ာေရးဆိုင္ရာအမႈေဆာင္

အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၆ ခုုႏွစ္မွ စတင္၍ တာ၀န္ထမ္း
ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ဘ႑ာေရး၊ စီးပြားေရး စီမံ
ကိန္းႏွင့္ ရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈ ျပဳလုုပ္သူမ်ားဆိုင္ရာ ဆက္
ဆံေရးအပိုင္းတို႔တြင္ တာ၀န္ယူ လုပ္ေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွ
သည္။ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္တြင္ တာ၀န္မထမ္းေဆာင္မီ သူသည္
Standard Chartered Bank ႏွင့္ ဆက္စပ္လုပ္ငန္း
မ်ားတြင္ (၁၂)ႏွစ္ၾကာ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး အိႏိၵယ၊
ေဟာင္ေကာင္၊

စကၤာပူ၊

ကိုရီးယား၊

အင္ဒိုနီး႐ွား၊

အာ႐ွပစိဖိတ္ေဒသတစ္၀န္း ႏွစ္ေပါင္း (၃၅) ႏွစ္ေက်ာ္
ၾကာ ႏုိင္ငံတကာဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္း အေတြ႕အႀကဳံ႐ွိသူ Mr.
Cleland သည္ ဘ႑ာေရး၀န္ေဆာင္မႈလုပ္ငန္းနယ္
ပယ္မ်ား႐ိွ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၊ လုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္ျခင္း
မ်ား၊ နည္းပညာ၊ ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္၊ ပုံေသပုိင္ပစၥည္းႏွင့္ စီးပြား
ေရး၀န္ေဆာင္မႈလုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၊

အေရးပါေသာ

ျပဳျပင္

ေျပာင္းလဲမႈု လုပ္ငန္းမ်ားတြင္ ကၽြမ္းက်င္သူျဖစ္သည္။
႐ုိးမဘဏ္တြင္ တာ၀န္မထမ္းေဆာင္မီ သူသည္ စကၤာ
ပူႏွင့္ ၾသစေၾတးလ်ႏုိင္ငံတုိ႔တြင္ National Australia
Bank (NAB) ၌ Executive General Manager
အျဖစ္ (၇)ႏွစ္ၾကာ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူ
သည္ NAB တြင္ တာ၀န္မထမ္းေဆာင္မီ ကေမ ၻာဒီး

ဦးဘေမာင္စိန္ သည္ ၂၀၁၄ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္၌

အိႏိၵယႏိုင္ငံသား Mr. Maheshwari သည္ အိႏၵိယႏိုင္ငံ

စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္

၏ Institute of Chartered Accountants ၏ အသင္း

တြင္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္၏ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းဆုိင္ရာ အမႈေဆာင္

ဝင္တစ္ဦးျဖစ္ၿပီး

အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္

Oxford

Business

ေက်ာင္း၏

ေက်ာင္းသားေဟာင္းတစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွသည္။

သူ၏ အသက္ေမြးဝမ္းေက်ာင္းဆိုင္ရာ အလုပ္အကိုင္

ကန္ျပည္ေထာင္စုႏွင့္ ကေနဒါႏိုင္ငံတို႔တြင္ လုပ္ငန္း
လည္ပတ္ျခင္း၊ ဘ႑ာေရးႏွင့္ လက္လီလုပ္ငန္းဆိုင္ရာ

Daw Aye Aye Soe joined Yoma Bank as
a Branch Manager in 1999 and is now
an Executive Director and a member
of the Executive Committee. She has
extensive experience in various national
banking institution including the CBM,
Myanmar Foreign Trade Bank, and
Myanmar Economic Bank. She was the
Chief Accountant at First Private Bank for
6 years. She graduated with a Bachelor of
Commerce in Banking from the Institute
of Economics (Yangon) in 1991. She is a
Certified Public Accountant (CPA).
ေဒၚေအးေအးစုိး သည္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္၏ ဘဏ္ခဲြမန္ေနဂ်ာ

တာ၀န္အမ်ဳိးမ်ိဳးျဖင့္ ႏွစ္ေပါင္း (၃၀)ၾကာ တာ၀န္ထမ္း

အျဖစ္ ၁၉၉၉ ခုႏွစ္မွစ၍ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

လက္႐ိွတြင္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္၏ အမႈေဆာင္ဒါ႐ုိက္တာႏွင့္
အလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္ေကာ္မတီ၀င္အျဖစ္ လုပ္ကိုင္လ်က္
႐ိွပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံေတာ္ အစိုးရဘဏ္
လုပ္ငန္းဆိုင္ရာ အဖြဲ႕အစည္းမ်ားျဖစ္သည့္ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ
ေတာ္ဗဟုိဘဏ္၊ ျမန္မာ့ႏုိင္ငံျခားကုန္သြယ္မႈဘဏ္ႏွင့္

Mr. Vijay Kumar Maheshwari (“Mr.
Maheshwari”) was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of Yoma Bank in 2016.
He is responsible for Finance, Treasury,
Business Planning and Investor Relations.
Prior to Yoma Bank, Mr. Maheshwari
had worked for 26 years with Standard
Chartered Bank and its associates,
including 10 years as Chief Financial Officer

လက္႐ိွ

Insurance Underwriter အျဖစ္ စတင္ခဲ့ၿပီး အေမရိ

Executive Director | Yoma Bank

အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္ရာထူး အပါအဝင္ အျခားရာထူး

Chief Financial Officer | Yoma Bank

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး

အျဖစ္ အေမရိကန္၊ Texas ျပည္နယ္ Dallas ၿမိဳ႕တြင္

ယားႏုိင္ငံ႐ွိ ANZ Royal Bank ကို တည္ေထာင္သူ

Mr. Vijay Kumar Maheshwari

U Ba Maung Sein joined Yoma Bank in
2014 and is currently the Chief Operations
Officer. His professional career began
as an insurance underwriter in Dallas,
Texas, in the United States. He also
held operation, finance and consulting
positions in the retail, manufacturing
and information technology sectors
in the United States and Canada. U Ba
Maung Sein holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration in Finance from the
University of Texas at Austin, the United
States and an MBA from McGill University
in Canada.

အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ (၁၀)ႏွစ္ၾကာ လုပ္ေဆာင္ခဲ့သည္။

၏ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္၊ စက္
တင္ဘာလမွစ၍ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

Chief Operations Officer | Yoma Bank

ဗီယက္နမ္ႏွင့္ လန္ဒန္တို႔တြင္ ဘ႑ာေရးအမႈေဆာင္

Daw Aye Aye Soe
Mr. Dean Cleland ("Mr. Cleland") သည္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္

U Ba Maung Sein

ျမန္မာ့စီးပြားေရးဘဏ္တို႔တြင္

ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းဆိုင္ရာ

အေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ားစြာရ႐ိွခဲ့သူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူမသည္
ယခင္က ပထမပုဂၢလိကဘဏ္၌ စာရင္းကုိင္ခ်ဳပ္ရာထူး
ျဖင့္ (၆)ႏွစ္ၾကာ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူ
မသည္ ၁၉၉၁ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ရန္ကုန္စီးပြားေရးတကၠသုိလ္
မွ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းဘာသာရပ္ျဖင့္ ၀ါဏိဇၨဘဲြ႕ ရ႐ိွထား
သူျဖစ္ၿပီး လက္မွတ္ရျပည္သူ႔စာရင္းကုိင္ (CPA) တစ္
ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

အတိုင္ပင္ခံလုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၊

ကုန္ထုတ္လုပ္ငန္းႏွင့္ သ

တင္းအခ်က္အလက္ နည္းပညာက႑မ်ားတြင္ လုပ္
ကိုင္ခဲ့သူ

ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

သူသည္

အေမရိကန္ျပည္

ေထာင္ စု၊ Austin ၿမိဳ႕႐ိွ The University of Texas မွ စီး
ပြားေရးဆိုင္ရာစီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈဘဲြ႕ (ဘ႑ာေရး) ႏွင့္ ကေနဒါ
ႏုိင္ငံ႐ိွ McGill University မွ စီးပြားေရးဆိုင္ရာစီမံ
ခန္႔ခဲြမႈမဟာဘဲြ႕တို႔ကို ရ႐ိွထားသူျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Mr. Murray Macdougall
Chief Performance Officer | Yoma Bank
Mr. Murray Macdougall ("Mr. Macdougall")
joined Yoma Bank in May 2015 as Deputy
Chief Operating Officer overseeing
the operations of the retail division. In
September 2017, he was appointed to a
new role of Chief Performance Officer.
Mr. Macdougall has had an extensive
40-year career, focusing on the retail
banking sector across the globe including
Australia, the Pacific Islands, Indonesia,
Vietnam, China, Laos, Cambodia, Qatar
and the United Arab Emirates.

Annual Report 2019

Mr. Murray Macdougall ("Mr. Macdougall") သည္

ေဒၚသန္းသန္း၀င္း သည္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္၏ ဆံုး႐ံႈးနိုင္ေျခစီမံ

Daw Nang Khin Khin Gyi

႐ုိးမဘဏ္၏ လက္လီေခ်းေငြလုပ္ငန္းအား ႀကီးၾကပ္

ခန္႔ခဲြမႈ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္ (Chief Risk Officer)

Chief Audit Officer | Yoma Bank

ေဆာင္႐ြက္ရသည့္ လုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္မႈဆုိင္ရာ ဒုတိယ

ျဖစ္သည္။ သူမသည္ ၂၀၁၄ ခုုနွစ္တြင္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္၌

အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္ (Deputy COO) အျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၅ ခုႏွစ္၊ ေမ

စတင္တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး

လမွစ၍ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၇ ခုႏွစ္၊

ကေမ ၻာဇဘဏ္၏ Credit and Risk Department

စက္တင္ဘာလတြင္

သူ၏

ထိုကာလမတိုင္မီက

လက္႐ိွရာထူးျဖစ္ေသာ

တြင္ ဒုတိယအေထြေထြမန္ေနဂ်ာအျဖစ္ တာ၀န္ထမ္း

စြမ္းေဆာင္ရည္ဆိုင္ရာ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္

ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ဘ႑ာေရးအဖဲြ႕ အစည္းမ်ားတြင္

ခန္႔အပ္တာ၀န္ေပးျခင္းခံရပါသည္။ သူသည္ လက္လီ

ႏွစ္ေပါင္း (၂၀)ေက်ာ္ၾကာ လုုပ္ငန္းအေတြ႕အႀကံဳ႐ိွခဲ့

ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းက႑ကို ၾသစေၾတးလ်၊ ပစိဖိတ္ကၽြန္းစု၊

သူျဖစ္ၿပီး သူမသည္ ရန္ကုန္တကၠသုိလ္မွ သခၤ်ာဘာ

အင္ဒုိနီး႐ွား၊ ဗီယက္နမ္၊ တ႐ုတ္၊ လာအုိ၊ ကေမ ာၻ ဒီး

သာရပ္ျဖင့္ သိပံၸဘဲြ႕ရ႐ိွထားသူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ထုိ႔ေနာက္

ယား၊ ကာတာႏွင့္ ယူေအအီးႏိုိင္ငံမ်ားတြင္ ႏွစ္ေပါင္း

တြင္ သူမသည္ ကေနဒါႏုိင္ငံ တို႐ြန္တိုၿမိဳ႕႐ိွ York

(၄၀)ေက်ာ္ၾကာ အေတြ႕အႀကံဳ႐ိွခဲ့သူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

University မွ စာရင္းအင္းဘာသာရပ္ (ဂုဏ္ထူး) ျဖင့္
ဘဲြ႕ရ႐ိွခဲ့ပါသည္။

U Kyaw Soe Lin
Chief Technology Officer | Yoma Bank

Daw Ommar Sein
Senior Advisor| Yoma Bank

U Kyaw Soe Lin is the founder of
Yoma Bank’s Information Technology
department and is currently serving as
the Chief Technology Officer. He has vast
experience and expertise over operations,
programming, database management,
telecommunications, networking and
project management. U Kyaw Soe Lin
graduated with B.Sc. (Hons.) in Physics
from Yangon University. He also holds a
Masters in Information Science from the
University of Computer Studies, Yangon.
ဦးေက်ာ္စိုးလင္း သည္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္၏ IT ဌာနကို တည္
ေထာင္သူျဖစ္ၿပီးလက္႐ိွတြင္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္၏ နည္းပညာ
ဆုုိင္ရာ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ တာဝန္ယူလုပ္
ကိုင္ လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။ သူသည္ လုုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္ျခင္း၊
ပ႐ိုဂရမ္ေရးဆဲြျခင္း၊ ေဒတာစီမံခန္႔ခဲြျခင္း၊ ဆက္သြယ္

Daw Ommar Sein joined Yoma Bank in
September 2014 initially as an Advisor.
From October 2014 until March 2018,
she also served concurrently as Chief
Compliance Officer. She is currently
the Senior Advisor of Yoma Bank. Prior
to joining Yoma Bank, Daw Ommar
Sein was Director of the Research and
Training Department of the CBM, which
she first joined as a Statistical Assistant
and remained for over 38 years until her
retirement. She was also a member of
the drafting committee that worked on
the 2002 Control of Money Laundering
Law. Daw Ommar Sein holds a B.Econ
(MS) degree from the Yangon Institute of
Economics.

ေရးကြန္ရက္ဖဲြ႕စည္းျခင္းႏွင့္ စီမံကိန္းစီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈတို႔တြင္

ေဒၚနန္းခင္ခင္ႀကီး သည္ ၂၀၁၆ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ
သို႔ ျပန္လည္ေရာက္႐ိွလာၿပီး ႐ုိးမဘဏ္၏ ဒုတိယ
စာရင္းစစ္ အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ၿပီး
ေနာက္ စာရင္းစစ္အရာရွိခ်ဳပ္ရာထူးသို႔ တိုးျမႇင့္ခန္႔အပ္
ျခင္း ခံခဲ့ရပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ယခင္က အေမရိကန္ႏုိင္ငံ
တြင္ စာရင္းစစ္အျဖစ္ (၁၀) ႏွစ္ေက်ာ္ၾကာ လုပ္ကုိင္ခဲ့ပါ
သည္။

ေဒၚနန္းခင္ခင္ႀကီးသည္

Massacchusetts

ျပည္နယ္႐ိွ Brandeis University မွ ႏုိင္ငံတကာစီးပြား
ေရးႏွင့္

ဘ႑ာေရးဘာသာရပ္

မဟာဘဲြ႕ကုိလည္း

ေကာင္း၊ University of Massachusetts မွ B.Sc
in Management ဘဲြ႕ကုိလည္းေကာင္း၊ Simon’s
Rock ႐ိွ Bard College မွ A.A. in Liberal Arts ဘဲြ႕
တုိ႔ကုိရ႐ိွထားပါသည္။ သူမသည္ Certified Internal
Auditor (CIA) အသိအမွတ္ျပဳလက္မွတ္ ရ႐ိွထားသူ
လည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Healthcare

ေဒၚဥမၼာစိန္သည္

ရန္ကုန္တကၠသိုလ္မွ ႐ူပေဗဒ (ဂုဏ္ထူး) ဘာသာရပ္

၂၀၁၄ ခုုနွစ္ စက္တင္ဘာလတြင္ စတင္တာဝန္ထမ္း

ဘဲြ႕ရတစ္ဦးျဖစ္ၿပီး ရန္ကုန္ကြန္ပ်ဴတာတကၠသိုလ္မွ သ

ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၄ ခုုနွစ္ ေအာက္တိုဘာလမွ

Dr. Gershu Chandy Paul

တင္းျပန္ၾကားေရးဘာသာရပ္ျဖင့္

၂၀၁၈

Chief Executive Officer | PHSH

ရ႐ိွထားသူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Daw Than Than Win @ Tiffany
Chief Risk Officer | Yoma Bank

မတ္လအထိ

အႀကံေပးအျဖစ္

Daw Nang Khin Khin Gyi returned to
Myanmar to join Yoma Bank in 2016 as
Deputy Chief Audit Officer and she was
later promoted as Chief Audit Officer.
Before she returned to Myanmar, she
worked for over 10 years in the United
States as an auditor. She holds a Master’s
in International Economics and Finance
from Brandeis University, Massachusetts,
a B.SC in Management from University
of Massachusetts, and an A.A. in Liberal
Arts from Bard College at Simon’s Rock,
Massachusetts. She is also a certified
Internal Auditor ("CIA").

အေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ားစြာ ႐ိွပါသည္။ ဦးေက်ာ္စိုးလင္းသည္

မဟာဘဲြ႕ကိုလည္း

႐ိုးမဘဏ္တြင္

အႀကံေပးတာဝန္နွင့္

Chief

Compliance Officer တာဝန္မ်ားကို ပူးတြဲထမ္းေဆာင္
ခဲ့ၿပီး လက္႐ွိတြင္ အႀကီးတန္းအႀကံေပးအျဖစ္ တာဝန္
ယူလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္တြင္ တာဝန္
မထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့မီက ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံေတာ္ဗဟို ဘဏ္၏
ေလ့က်င့္ေရးနွင့္ သုုေတသနဌာနတြင္ ၫႊန္ၾကားေရး

Daw Than Than Win @ Tiffany currently
serves as Yoma Bank’s Chief Risk
Officer. Prior to joining Yoma Bank in
2014, she had worked as the Deputy
General Manager in the Credit and Risk
Department at KBZ Bank. Daw Than Than
Win @ Tiffany graduated with a Bachelor
of Science in Mathematics from Yangon
University and has 20 years’ experience
working in financial institutions. She
furthered her studies in Toronto, Canada
where she graduated with a Bachelor’s
degree in Accounting (Honours) from York
University.
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မွဴးအျဖစ္ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူမသည္
ဗဟိုဘဏ္သို႔ စာရင္းအင္းဆိုင္ရာ လက္ေထာက္အျဖစ္
စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္ခဲ့ၿပီး

အၿငိမ္းစားယူသည္အထိ

စုုစု

ေပါင္းလုုပ္သက္ (၃၈) နွစ္ေက်ာ္အၾကာ တာဝန္ထမ္း
ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ေဒၚဥမၼာစိန္ သည္ ၂၀၀၂ ခုုနွစ္တြင္
ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ေသာ

ေငြေၾကးခဝါခ်မႈ

ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္ေရး

ဆိုင္ရာ ဥပေဒမူၾကမ္းေရးဆြဲေရးေကာ္မတီတြင္ အဖြဲ႕
ဝင္အျဖစ္ ပါဝင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ရန္ကုန္စီးပြား
ေရးတကၠသိုလ္မွ B.Econ (Ms) ဘြဲ႕ ရ႐ွိခဲ့ပါသည္။

Dr. Gershu Chandy Paul ("Dr. Paul") is
currently serving as the Chief Executive
Officer of PHSH. Dr. Paul worked as Chief
Executive Officer of Southland District
Health Board New Zealand for over a
decade, and thereafter led the building
of Siloam Hospitals in Indonesia for a
decade before joining PHSH in 2014.
He has over 30 years of international
healthcare experience at an executive
level. Dr. Paul received his Bachelor of
Medicine, Bachelor of Surgery (MBBS)
from the University of Bangalore, India
in 1986, and a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) from the University
of Otago, New Zealand in 1997. In
addition, Dr. Paul graduated as a Fellow
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of the Royal Australasian Medical College
of Administrators (FRACMA), Melbourne,
Australia in 2006.
Dr. Gershu Chandy Paul ("Dr. Paul") သည္ လက္

သည္ The Association of Chartered Certified

မႈႏွင့္ ေလ့က်င့္သင္ၾကားမႈ လုပ္ငန္းမ်ားကို (၃၅) ႏွစ္

Accountants (UK) မွ ဘြဲ႕ရ႐ွိခဲ့ၿပီး Institute of

ေက်ာ္ၾကာ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး မေလး႐ွားႏိုင္ငံ၊

Singapore Chartered Accountants တြင္လည္း

Universiti Malaysia Sarawak တြင္ ပါေမာကၡႏွင့္

အဖြဲ႕ဝင္တစ္ဦး ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ခဲြစိတ္ကုသမႈဆိုင္ရာ ဌာနမွဴးအျဖစ္ (၁၀) ႏွစ္ၾကာတာ

႐ိွတြင္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္

Dr. Thet Thet Khine

ရာထူးျဖင့္

Managing Director | PHSH

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

Dr.

ဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့သူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူသည္ အိုင္ယာ
လန္ႏိုင္ငံ၊ Royal College of Surgeons မွ Ad
Eundem Fellowship ပညာသင္ဆုရ႐ိွေသာ ျမန္မာ
ႏိုင္ငံ၏ ပထမဆံုး ခဲြစိတ္ဆရာ၀န္ျဖစ္သည္။

Gershu သည္ နယူးဇီလန္ႏုိင္ငံေတာင္ပုိင္းခ႐ုိင္ က်န္း
မာေရးဘုတ္အဖဲြ႕ အမႈေဆာင္အရာရွိခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ (၁၀)
ႏွစ္ေက်ာ္ၾကာ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီးေနာက္ ၂၀၁၄
ခုႏွစ္

ပန္းလႈိင္စီလုံေဆး႐ုံ၌

တာ၀န္မထမ္းေဆာင္မီ

အင္ဒုိနီး႐ွားႏုိင္ငံ စီလုံေဆး႐ုံမ်ားတည္ေဆာက္ရာတြင္
ဦးေဆာင္တာ၀န္ယူခဲ့သူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူသည္ အမႈ
ေဆာင္ရာထူးအဆင့္ျဖင့္

ႏိုင္ငံတကာ

ေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈအေတြ႕အႀကံဳ

က်န္းမာေရး

(၂၅)ႏွစ္ေက်ာ္

႐ိွသူ

လည္း ျဖစ္သည္။ သူသည္ ၁၉၈၆ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ အိႏိၵယ
ႏိုင္ငံ၊ ဘန္ဂလိုတကၠသိုလ္မွ ေဆးသိပံၸဘဲြ႕ႏွင့္ ခဲြစိတ္ကု
သမႈဘဲြ႕၊ ၁၉၉၇ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ နယူးဇီလန္ႏိုင္ငံ University
of Otago မွ စီးပြားေရးစီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈ မဟာဘဲြ႕ႏွင့္ ၂၀ဝ၆
ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ဩစေၾတးလ်ႏိုင္ငံ၊ မဲလ္ဘုန္းၿမိဳ႕ Fellow

Dr. Thet Thet Khine joined PHSH as
Microbiologist and Pharmacy Manager
in 2005. In 2010, she was appointed
as Medical Business Director and in
2014, she was promoted to Managing
Director (Operations) at PHSH, to oversee
hospital operations including building
the hospital’s nationwide network. She
received a Bachelor of Medicine, Bachelor
of Surgery (MBBS) in 1993, and a Masters
in Medicine Microbiology in 2003 from the
Institute of Medicine (1) in Yangon.

of the Royal Australasian Medical College of
Administrators (FRACMA) ဘဲြ႕တို႔ကို ရ႐ိွခဲ့ပါသည္။

ေဒါက္တာသက္သက္ခိုင္ သည္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏
အဏုဇီဝေဗဒဆိုင္ရာ ဆရာဝန္ႀကီးအျဖစ္ႏွင့္ ေဆးဌာန

Ms. Tan Guat Ngoh

မန္ေနဂ်ာအျဖစ္

Chief Financial Officer | PHSH

၂၀ဝ၅

ခုႏွစ္မွစ၍

တာဝန္ထမ္း

ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၀ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ေဆးဘက္ဆိုင္ရာ
ၫႊန္ၾကားေရးမွဴးအျဖစ္ တာဝန္ေပးအပ္ျခင္းခံရၿပီး ႏိုင္ငံ

Ms. Tan Guat Ngoh ("Ms. Tan") joined PHSH
in April 2019 as Chief Financial Officer. She
is responsible for PHSH’s overall financial
and capital resources management as
well as Information and Communications
Technology functions. Ms. Tan possesses
over 20 years of experience in auditing,
finance and accounting derived from
working in a Big Four public-accounting
firm in Singapore, and both public-listed
and private companies across various
industries including energy utility, real
estate and healthcare. Ms Tan is a
graduate of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (UK) and a member
of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants.
Ms. Tan Guat Ngoh ("Ms. Tan") သည္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္၊
ဧၿပီလတြင္

ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏

ဘ႑ာေရးအမႈ

ေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္အျဖစ္ စတင္တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့
ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ပန္းလိႈင္ေဆး႐ံု၏ သတင္းႏွင့္ဆက္
သြယ္ေရးနည္းပညာ ကိစၥရပ္မ်ားအျပင္ ဘ႑ာေရးႏွင့္
ေငြေၾကးအရင္းအနွီး အရင္းအျမစ္မ်ားကို စီမံခန္႔ခြဲရန္

အႏံွ႔ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံုမ်ား တိုးခဲ်႕ဖြင့္လွစ္မႈအပိုင္း

ေဒါက္တာဥမၼာ႐ိွန္ သည္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏အႀကီး

တာအျဖစ္ ရာထူးတိုးျမႇင့္ျခင္း ခံရပါသည္။ သူမသည္

တန္းဆရာဝန္အျဖစ္ ၂၀ဝ၅ ခုႏွစ္မွစ၍ တာဝန္ထမ္း

၁၉၉၃ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ေဆးပညာဘဲြ႕ႏွင့္ ခဲြစိတ္ကုသမႈဘဲြ႕

ေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၄ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ Clinical and

၂၀ဝ၃

Ancillary

ခုႏွစ္တြင္

အဏုဇီဝေဗဒမဟာသိပံၸဘဲြ႕တို႔ကို

ရန္ကုန္ေဆးတကၠသိုလ္ (၁)မွ ရ႐ိွခဲ့ပါသည္။

Professor Khin Htun
Clinical Excellence Director | PHSH

ပါေမာကၡခင္ထြန္း သည္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏ Clinical

အႀကီးဆံုးစာရင္း

Excellence Director ျဖစ္ၿပီး ေဆးကုသမႈဆိုင္ရာ စီမံ

အင္းဆိုင္ရာ ကုမၸဏီႀကီး (၄)ခုႏွင့္ က်န္းမာေရး၊ အိမ္

အုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈႏွင့္ ေလ့က်င့္သင္ၾကားမႈ အစီအစဥ္မ်ားတြင္

ၿခံေျမေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရး၊

ဦးစီးေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။ သူသည္ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံ

အမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးေသာအမ်ားပိုင္ႏွင့္

ကုမၸဏီမ်ားတြင္

လုုပ္ကိုင္ရ႐ိွခဲ့ပါသည္။

ပုုဂၢလိကပိုင္
Ms.

Tan

Support

Services

Director

အျဖစ္

ရာထူးတိုးျမႇင့္ျခင္းခံရပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ေဒါက္တာ
Gershu Paul ႏွင့္ ေဒါက္တာသက္သက္ခိုင္ တို႔ႏွင့္အ တူ
ႏိုင္ငံသားတိုင္း အဆင့္ျမင့္ က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈ
ရ႐ိွႏိုင္ေစရန္ ႀကိဳးပမ္းသည့္ ခရီးလမ္းတစ္ေလွ်ာက္လံုး
တြင္ အေရးႀကီးေသာ အခန္းက႑မွပါဝင္ခဲ့သူ ျဖစ္ပါ

Professor Khin Htun is the Clinical
Excellence Director at PHSH, leading the
Clinical Governance and training agenda
for PHSH. Professor Khin Htun has more
than 35 years of clinical and teaching
service experience under the Ministry
of Health in Myanmar and he was for
10 years as a Professor and the Head
of Department of Surgery at University
Malaysia Sarawak. He is the first Myanmar
surgeon to be awarded the Fellowship
Ad Eundem from the Royal College of
Surgeons in Ireland.

ေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ားကို

စသည့္

Dr. Ohnmar Shein joined PHSH in 2005
as Senior Medical Officer. In 2014, she
was promoted as Clinical and Ancillary
Support Services Director. Dr. Ohnmar
Shein, together with Dr. Paul and Dr. Thet
Thet Khine, developed and introduced
Myanmar’s first "tiered pricing service
delivery" which aims to create accessibility
and affordability to all socioeconomic
segments in Myanmar. Dr. Ohnmar
introduced the Clinical Governance
concept and led the JCI accreditation
process making PHSH the only hospital in
Myanmar with the ‘Gold Seal’ of approval
for quality and patient safety.

ကို ႀကီးၾကပ္နိုင္ရန္ ၂၀၁၄ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ မန္ေနးဂ်င္းဒါ႐ိုက္

ဘ႑ာေရးက႑တြင္ ႏွစ္ေပါင္း (၂၀)ေက်ာ္ၾကာ အ

စြမ္းအင္လွ်ပ္စစ္

Clinical & Ancillary Services Director | PHSH

တြင္ ႀကီးၾကပ္လုပ္ကိုင္ရန္နွင့္ ေဆး႐ံုလည္ပတ္မႈမ်ား

တာဝန္႐ွိပါသည္။ Ms. Tan သည္ စာရင္းအင္းႏွင့္
စကၤာပူနုိင္ငံ႐ွိ

Dr. Ohnmar Shein

က်န္းမာေရးဝန္ႀကီးဌာန လက္ေအာက္တြင္ ေဆးကုသ

သည္။ ေဒါက္တာဥမၼာ႐ွိန္ သည္ Clinical Governance
Concept ကို အစပ်ိဳးခဲ့ၿပီး ပန္းလိႈင္ေဆး႐ံုကို ျမန္မာ
နုုိင္ငံတြင္

ေဆး႐ံုအရည္အေသြးႏွင့္

လူနာမ်ားလံုၿခံဳ

စိတ္ခ်ရေရးအတြက္ ေ႐ႊတံဆိပ္အဆင့္ အာမခံခ်က္
ေပးနိုင္သည့္ တစ္ခုတည္းေသာ ေဆး႐ံုျဖစ္ေစသည့္
JCI အသိအမွတ္ျပဳလက္မွတ္ရ႐ွိေရး လုုပ္ငန္းစဥ္တြင္
ဦးေဆာင္ပါဝင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

Professor Win Myint
Emeritus Patron of Clinical Excellence
PHSH
Professor Win Myint currently serves as
the Emeritus Patron of Clinical Excellence
of PHSH. He worked as a consulting
surgeon from 2005 to 2010 and as a
Medical Director from 2010 to 2014. He
served as Professor and Head of the
Surgery Department at the University
of Medicine in Mandalay and Yangon.

Annual Report 2019

Professor Win Myint graduated with
a Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor
of Surgery (M.B.B.S) from the Institute
of Medicine (1) in 1968. He also holds
M.Med.Sc (Surgery) and F.R.C.S degrees.

Real Estate

ပါေမာကၡေဒါက္တာဝင္းျမင့္ သည္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု

Mr. Stephen Purvis

၏ Emeritus Patron of Clinical Excellence အျဖစ္

Head of Real Estate | Yoma Land

႐ြက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ေဆးပညာဘြဲ႕ႏွင့္ ခြဲစိတ္ကု

of British Architects ၏ အဖြဲ႕ဝင္တစ္ဦးျဖစ္ၿပီး

သမႈဘြဲ႕(MBBS) ကို ၁၉၈၆ တြင္ ရ႐ိွခဲ့သည္။

Newcastle University မွ ဗိသုကာပညာရပ္ ဝိဇၨာဘြဲ႕
(ဂုဏ္ထူး) ႏွင့္ အဂၤလန္ႏိုင္ငံ Westminster University
မွ ဗိသုကာဘြဲ႕တို႔ကို ရ႐ွိထားသူျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Daw Le Le Win
Chief Advisor | Pun Hlaing Estate

တာဝန္ ထမ္းေဆာင္ လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။ ၂၀ဝ၅ ခုႏွစ္မွ
၂၀၁၀ ခုႏွစ္အထိ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏ အတိုင္ပင္ခံ
ခဲြစိတ္ကုဆရာဝန္ႀကီးအျဖစ္ႏွင့္ ၂၀၁၀ ခုႏွစ္ မွ ၂၀၁၄
ခုႏွစ္အထိ Medical Directorအျဖစ္ လည္းေကာင္း၊
မႏ ၱေလးႏွင့္ ရန္ကုန္ေဆးတကၠသိုလ္တို႔တြင္ ပါေမာကၡ
ႏွင့္ ခဲြစိတ္ဌာန၏ ဌာနမွဴးအျဖစ္လည္းေကာင္း တာဝန္
ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့သည္။ ၁၉၆၈ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ရန္ကုန္ေဆး
တကၠသိုလ္ (၁) မွ M.B.B.S ဘြဲ႕ကို ရ႐ိွခဲ့သည့္အျပင္
M.Med.Sc (Surgery) ႏွင့္ F.R.C.S ဘဲြ႕မ်ားကိုလည္း
ရ႐ိွထားသူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Dr. Mi Mi Khin
Facilities & Administration Director
PHSH
Dr. Mi Mi Khin has been serving as the
Facilities and Administration Director
of PHSH since 2014. Dr. Mi Mi Khin
joined PHSH as a Senior Medical Officer
in February 2006 after working in her
own clinic for over 20 years as a general
practitioner. She was firstly promoted to
Clinic Manager of Pun Hlaing Specialist
Clinic in 2009, and subsequently in 2011,
to Assistant Administration Director of
PHSH. Her key projects to date have been
the transformation of PHSH, Mandalay
Hospital Greenfield completion and
Pun Hlaing Clinic ‘Medical Tower’ model
development and completion. Dr. Mi Mi
Khin obtained her M.B.B.S. in 1986.
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Daw Le Le Win currently supporting Pun Hlaing

Mr. Stephen Purvis ("Mr. Purvis") was
appointed as the Head of Yoma Land in
January 2019. He has been with the Yoma
Group since 2013 and was the Project
Director and subsequently the General
Manager for the Yoma Central Project
since 2015. He also spearheaded the
master planning of StarCity. Mr. Purvis has
more than 30 years of experience in the
real estate market including developing
substantial mixed-use city centre projects
in emerging and developed markets.

Estate in the role as Chief Advisor and also an
Alternate Director of SPA. Before that, she was
the interim General Manager at Pun Hlaing
Estate from June to October 2019 for ensuring
the smooth operation of the Estate prior to the
arrival of the current GM. She joined SPA in
1993 and has served various position in Bagan
Inn, Silver Palace, Bagan Travels and Tour,
The Grand Meeyahta Service Apartment, FMI
Centre, SPA Admin and Group HR and Managing
Director of F.M.I Garden Development Limited
from 1993 to 2019. During that time, she was
also negotiating the FMI Gardens handover,

Prior to joining the Yoma Group, Mr. Purvis
was a director at Coral Capital Group Ltd,
a Cuba-focused country fund, where he
oversaw long-term equity real estate
projects, including the design, funding,
construction and operation of a portfolio
of hotels under the Hotel Saratoga brand.
Mr. Purvis is a chartered member of the
Royal Institute of British Architects and
holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree in
Architecture from Newcastle University,
England and a Bachelors in Architecture
from Westminster University, England.

by liaising with government officials, Home
Owners Associations, and employees, which
was a significant task.
Her background is a Hotelier and she graduated
from Art & Science University Yangon and has
M.Sc thesis Zoology.
ေဒၚလဲ့လဲ့ဝင္းသည္ ယခုုအခ်ိန္တြင္ Chief Advisor
ရာထူးျဖင့္ ပန္းလိႈင္အိမ္ရာကို ဆက္လက္ေထာက္ပံ့
ေပးလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။ ထို႔ျပင္ သူမသည္ SPA ကုမၸဏီ
အုုပ္စု၏

အလွည့္က်ဒါ႐ိုက္တာတစ္ဦးလည္း

ျဖစ္ပါ

သည္။ သူမသည္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္၊ ဇြန္လမွ ေအာက္တို
ဘာလအထိ

ပန္းလိႈင္အိမ္ရာ၏ ယာယီအေထြေထြ

Mr. Stephen Purvis ("Mr. Purvis") သည္ Yoma

မန္ေနဂ်ာအျဖစ္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ၿပီး လက္႐ွိအေထြေထြ

Land ၏ အႀကီးအကဲအျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုုႏွစ္၊ ဇန္နဝါရီလ

မန္ေနဂ်ာ မေရာက္႐ွိမီ အခ်ိန္အတြင္း ပန္းလိႈင္အိမ္ရာ

တြင္ ခန္႔အပ္တာဝန္ေပးျခင္းခံရသည္။ သူသည္ ႐ိုးမ

၏ လုုပ္ငန္းေဆာင္႐ြက္ခ်က္မ်ားကို အဆင္ေျပေခ်ာ

အုုပ္စုသို႔ ၂၀၁၃ ခုုနွစ္တြင္ စီမံကိန္းဒါ႐ိုက္တာအေန

ေမြ႕ေစရန္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ရာတြင္ အေရးႀကီးေသာ အခန္း

ေဒါက္တာမိမိခင္ သည္ ၂၀၁၄ ခုႏွစ္မွစ၍ ပန္းလိႈင္

ျဖင့္ စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္ခဲ့ၿပီး ၂၀၁၅ ခုႏွစ္၊ ဧၿပီလမွစ၍

က႑မွ ပါဝင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ၁၉၉၃ ခုုနွစ္တြင္

စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏ ေထာက္ပံ့မႈဆိုင္ရာႏွင့္ အုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈဆိုင္ရာ

Yoma

SPA ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုသို႔ ဝင္ေရာက္ခဲ့ၿပီးေနာက္ ပုုဂံအင္း၊

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာ (Facilities and Administration Director)

အျဖစ္ ဆက္လက္၍ ခန္႔အပ္တာဝန္ေပးျခင္းခံရသည္။

ေငြနန္းေတာ္၊

အျဖစ္ တာ၀န္ထမ္း ေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။ သူမသည္

သူသည္ StarCity ၏ အဓိက အစီအစဥ္ေရးဆြဲသူ

Meeyahta Service Apartment ၊ FMI Centre ၊ SPA

ႏွစ္ေပါင္း (၂၀)ေက်ာ္ၾကာ ကိုယ္ပိုင္ေဆးခန္း ဖြင့္လွစ္

တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ Mr. Purvis သည္ ဖြြံ႕ၿဖိဳး

Admin၊ Group HR၊ F.M.I Garden Development

လုပ္ကိုင္ခဲ့ၿပီးေနာက္ ၂၀ဝ၆ ခုႏွစ္၊ ေဖေဖာ္ဝါရီလတြင္

ဆဲႏွင့္ ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးၿပီးႏိုင္ငံမ်ားတြင္ အေရးႀကီးေသာ ဘက္စံု

Limited ၏ မန္ေနဂ်င္းဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္ ရာထူးတာဝန္

အႀကီးတန္းေဆးဘက္ဆိုင္ရာ အရာ႐ိွအျဖစ္ ပန္းလိႈင္

သံုးအိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္းမ်ား ေဆာက္လုပ္ျခင္း အပါအဝင္

အမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးကို ၁၉၉၃ မွ ၂၀၁၉ အထိ လုုပ္ကိုင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

အထူးကုေဆးခန္းတြင္ စတင္လုပ္ကိုင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထို႔

အိမ္ရာတည္ေဆာက္ေရးက႑တြင္ ႏွစ္ေပါင္း (၃၀)

ထိုအခ်ိန္အတြင္း သူမသည္

ေနာက္ ၂၀၀၉ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ပန္းလိႈင္အထူးကုေဆးခန္း

ေက်ာ္ အေတြ႕အႀကံဳ႐ွိ သူျဖစ္သည္။

တာဝန္တစ္ရပ္ျဖစ္သည့္ FMI Gardens လုုပ္ငန္းကို

Central

စီမံကိန္း၏

အေထြေထြမန္ေနဂ်ာ

၏ ေဆးခန္းမန္ေနဂ်ာအျဖစ္သို႔ လည္းေကာင္း၊ ၂၀၁၁

ပုုဂံခရီးသြားလုုပ္ငန္း၊

႐ိုးမအုုပ္စုသို႔မဝင္ေရာက္မီ

ခ်ဳပ္ေရး ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္သို႔လည္းေကာင္း ရာထူးတိုး

အထူးျပဳတိုင္းျပည္ ဘ႑ာရန္ပံုေငြ Coral Capital

ျမႇင့္ျခင္းခံရပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံုအား

Group တြင္ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာတစ္ဦးျဖစ္ခဲ့ၿပီး Hotel Saratoga

ျပန္လည္ သက္ဝင္လႈပ္႐ွားလာေစျခင္း၊ Mandalay

အမွတ္တံဆိပ္ျဖင့္ ဟိုတယ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရး လုပ္ငန္း

ေဒၚလဲ့လဲ့ဝင္းသည္

Hospital

မ်ားတြင္ ဒီဇိုင္းေရးဆြဲျခင္း၊ ဘ႑ာေငြ႐ွာေဖြျခင္း၊ တည္

ဟိုတယ္လုပ္ငန္းမွရရွိခဲ့ၿပီး

ေဆာက္ေရးႏွင့္

မဟာဘြဲ႕နွင့္

ေဆာက္ၿပီးစီးျခင္းႏွင့္

အား

ေအာင္ျမင္စြာတည္

ပန္းလိႈင္ေဆးခန္း

“Medical

Grand

အေရးႀကီးေသာ အျခား

လက္လႊဲေျပာင္းေရးအတြက္ အစိုးရအရာ႐ွိမ်ား၊ အိမ္

ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏ လက္ေထာက္အုပ္

Greenfield

The

သူသည္

က်ဴးဘားႏိုင္ငံ

လုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္ေရးအပိုင္းမ်ားပါ

Tower’’ အား ပံုစံသစ္ျဖင့္ တည္ေဆာက္ၿပီးစီးျခင္း

ဝင္ၿပီး ေရ႐ွည္တည္ေဆာက္ရေသာ အိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္း

အစ႐ိွသည့္ အဓိကစီမံကိန္းလုပ္ငန္းမ်ားကို ေဆာင္

မ်ားကို ႀကီးၾကပ္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ Royal Institute

ပိုင္႐ွင္ အစည္းအ႐ံုးနွင့္ ဝန္ထမ္းမ်ားၾကားတြင္ ညိႇနႈိင္း
ေဆာင္႐ြက္မႈမ်ားအား ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။
လုုပ္ငန္းအေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ားမွာ
သတၱေဗဒဘာသာရပ္ျဖင့္

ဒီဂရီဘြဲ႕ကို

တကၠသိုလ္မွ ရရွိခဲ့ပါသည္။

ရန္ကုန္ဝိဇၨာနွင့္

သိပံၸ
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Daw Tin Winn Nge
General Manager | StarCity

Memories Group
Mr. Cyrus Pun

Daw Tin Winn Nge was appointed as the
General Manager for StarCity in 2017.
She joined the Yoma Group in 2002 and
has served in various positions, including
sales and marketing, hotel management
and real estate management. Daw Tin
Winn Nge graduated with a Bachelor of
Sciences (Hons) Degree from Yangon
University, and then furthered her studies
in hotel and restaurant management,
receiving a diploma from the United
States.
ေဒၚတင္ဝင္းငယ္သည္ ၂၀၁၇ ခုုနွစ္တြင္ StarCity ၏
အေထြေထြမန္ေနဂ်ာအျဖစ္

ခန္႔အပ္တာဝန္ေပးျခင္း

ခံရပါသည္။ သူမသည္ Yoma Group သို႔ ၂၀ဝ၂ ခုႏွစ္
တြင္ စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္ခဲ့ၿပီး အေရာင္းႏွင့္ေဈးကြက္႐ွာ
ေဖြျခင္း၊ ဟိုတယ္စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈႏွင့္ အိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္
ေဆာက္ေရးတို႔အပါအဝင္

ရာထူးတာဝန္အမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးကို

ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ ရန္ကုန္တကၠသိုလ္
မွ သိပၸံဘာသာရပ္ ဂုဏ္ထူးတန္းျဖင့္ ဘြဲ႕ရၿပီးေနာက္
ဟိုတယ္ႏွင့္ စားေသာက္ဆိုင္ဆိုင္ရာ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈဘာ
သာရပ္မ်ားကို အေမရိကန္ျပည္ေထာင္စုတြင္ ေလ့လာ

Executive Director & CEO | Memories Group

Memories Group ၏ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္ တာဝန္မ
ထမ္းေဆာင္မီတြင္ သူသည္ Yoma Strategic ကုမၸဏီ
၏ အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာျဖစ္ၿပီး ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု
၏ အိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရးလုုပ္ငန္း အႀကီး
အကဲအျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၂ ခုုနွစ္မွ ၂၀၁၈ ခုုနွစ္အထိ တာဝန္

Mr. Cyrus Pun started his career working
in the export industry in China and worked
for Hutchison Port Holdings’ South China
Commercial Division. Mr. Pun joined SPA
in 2007 and assumed a leading role in the
development of a mixed-use real estate
project in Dalian, China.

ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ Yoma Strategic ၏ အိမ္ရာ
ေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရး အႀကီးအကဲအျဖစ္ သူ
ေနာက္ဆံုးေဖာ္ထုတ္ခဲ့ေသာ အိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္းမွာ တန္ဖိုး
သင့္အိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္းက႑သို႔

တိုးခ်ဲ႕ျခင္းျဖစ္ပါသည္။

သူသည္ လက္႐ွိတြင္ Yoma Strategic ၏ အလုုပ္အ
မႈေဆာင္မဟုုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာတစ္ဦးအျဖစ္ ဆက္
လက္တာဝန္ယူေနဆဲ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ၂၀၀၃
ခုႏွစ္တြင္ London School of Economics မွ စီးပြား

Prior to his appointment as Chief Executive
Officer of Memories Group, Mr. Pun was
an Executive Director of Yoma Strategic
and headed its real estate business from
2012 to 2018. His last venture as Head
of Real Estate of Yoma Strategic was to
initiate its expansion into the affordable
housing segment. He is currently a NonExecutive Director of Yoma Strategic.
Mr. Pun received a Bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the London School
of Economics in 2003 and an Executive
M.B.A. from Kellogg-HKUST in 2019.

သင္ယူခဲ့ၿပီး ဒီပလိုမာဘြဲ႕ ရ႐ွိထားသူျဖစ္သည္။
Mr. Cyrus Pun သည္ တ႐ုုတ္နိုင္ငံတြင္ Hutchison
Port Holdings ၏ ေတာင္တ႐ုုတ္ အေရာင္းအဝယ္
ဌာန၊ ပို႔ကုန္လုပ္ငန္းကို စတင္လုပ္ကိုင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ Mr.
Pun သည္ SPA ကို ၂၀၀၇ ခုုနွစ္တြင္ စတင္ဝင္ေရာက္
ခဲ့ၿပီး တ႐ုုတ္နိုင္ငံ ဒါလီယန္႐ွိ ဘက္စံုသံုး အိမ္ရာေဖာ္
ထုုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရးလုုပ္ငန္းတြင္ ဦးေဆာင္သည့္
အခန္းက႑တြင္ ပါဝင္ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

ေရးဘြဲ႕နွင့္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုနွစ္တြင္ အမႈေဆာင္စီးပြားေရး
မဟာဘြဲ႕ကို Kellogg-HKUST မွ ရ႐ွိထားပါသည္။

Mr. Juergen Fischer
Senior Vice President (Hotels) | Memories Group
Mr. Juergen Fischer ("Mr. Fischer")
assumed the role of Senior Vice President
(Hotels) of Memories Group since June
2019. He is a hotelier with over 30 years
of experience in the luxury hotel market
in Europe, Caribbean, Middle East
and Southeast Asia. Mr. Fischer held
various executive roles with branded
hotel operators and independent hotel
owners across these four continents. His
extensive experience in the hospitality
industry encapsulates every aspect from
managing complex hotel operations to
start to finish of new hotel openings,
management takeover transitions and
rebranding exercises.
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သို႔

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ရန္

Mr. Juergen Fischer ("Mr. Fischer") သည္

Group

Memories Group ၏ Senior Vice President

ေပးျခင္း ခံခဲ့ရပါသည္။ Memories Group တြင္ တာ၀န္

ဦးသိန္းစိန္ ၏ စီးပြားေရးအႀကံေပးပုဂိၢဳလ္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

(Hotels) ရာထူးကို ၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္၊ ဇြန္လတြင္ စတင္

မထမ္းေဆာင္မီ သူမသည္ စကၤာပူ၊ ၾသစေၾတးလ် ႏွင့္

လက္႐ိွတြင္ UMFCCI ႏွင့္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံဆန္စပါးအသင္း

တာဝန္ ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ ဥေရာပ၊

ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံတုိ႔တြင္ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၊ ကုန္ထုတ္လုပ္

ခ်ဳပ္တြင္

ကာေရဘီရီယံ၊ အေ႐ွ႕အလယ္ပုိင္းေဒသႏွင့္ အေ႐ွ႕

ငန္းနယ္ပယ္မ်ား႐ွိ ဘ႑ာေရးႏွင့္ စာရင္းအင္းဆုိင္ရာ

ေဆာင္လ်က္ ႐ိွပါသည္။

ေတာင္အာ႐ွေဒသမ်ား႐ွိ ေခတ္မီဇိမ္ခံဟုိတယ္လုပ္ငန္း

က႑မ်ားတြင္ (၁၀) ႏွစ္ေက်ာ္ၾကာ အေတြ႕အႀကဳံ

ေစ်းကြက္၌ ဟုိတယ္လုပ္ငန္း အေတြ႕အႀကဳံႏွစ္(၃၀)

႐ွိသူျဖစ္ပါသည္။ သူမသည္ Australian National

Mr. Jean-Marie Imperore

ေက်ာ္႐ွိသူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ အဆုိပါေဒသေလးခု႐ွိ နာမည္

University မွ ဘ႑ာေရးဘာသာရပ္ျဖင့္ ဘဲြ႕႐ွိထား

Managing Director | FMIDECAUX

ႀကီးဟုိတယ္အုပ္စု လုပ္ကုိင္သူမ်ား၊ တစ္ဦးခ်င္းလုပ္

သူျဖစ္ၿပီး

ကုိင္သည့္ ဟုိတယ္ပုိင္႐ွင္မ်ားႏွင့္ဆက္စပ္၍ ဟုိတယ္

စာရင္းကုိင္(CPA) တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ၾသစေၾတးလ်နိုင္ငံမွ

ရာထူးတိုးျမႇင့္
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ေတြ႕အႀကဳံ ႂကြယ္၀မႈမ်ားေၾကာင့္ ဟုိတယ္လုပ္ငန္း
လည္ပတ္မႈမ်ားအား စီမံခန္႔ခဲြျခင္းမွသည္ ဟုိတယ္အ

Strategic Investments

သစ္ စတင္ဖြင့္လွစ္ျခင္း၊ ဟုိတယ္စီမံခန္႔ခဲြျခင္းအား လႊဲ

U Tin Htut Oo

ေျပာင္းရယူျခင္းႏွင့္ ဟုိတယ္လုပ္ငန္းပုံရိပ္ ျမႇင့္တင္ျခင္း

Head of Agriculture Division | Yoma Group

အထိ က႑တုိင္းတြင္ ထင္႐ွားေပၚလြင္သူ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Daw Chaw Su Linn
Financial Controller |Memories Group
Daw Chaw Su Linn is currently the
Financial Controller of the Memories
Group. She was financial controller of
FMI and promoted to join Memories
Group in May 2019, to oversee SGX listed
entities. Prior to joining the Yoma Group,
she has over 10 years of experience in
the finance and accounting field with
significant exposure to the banking and
manufacturing industries in Singapore,
Australia and Myanmar. She holds a
Bachelor of Finance from Australian
National University and is a Certified
Public Accountant (CPA) of Australia.

ႏိုင္ငံေတာ္သမၼတေဟာင္း

အႀကီးတန္းအႀကံေပးပုဂိၢဳလ္အျဖစ္

ထမ္း

လက္မွတ္ရျပည္သူ႔

စီမံခန္႔ခဲြေရး တာ၀န္အမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးကုိ ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့သူျဖစ္
ပါသည္။ ဟုိတယ္ႏွင့္ ခရီးသြားလုပ္ငန္းတြင္ သူ၏အ

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး

U Tin Htut Oo currently serves as the
Head of the Agriculture Division. U Tin
Htut Oo is a retired Director General of
the Department of Agricultural Planning,
Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation. He
has served as a National and International
Consultant with the United Nations and
International Organizations. U Tin Htut Oo
served as the Chairman of the National
Economic and Advisory Council from 2012
to 2016 and was an Economic Advisor to
former President U Thein Sein. Currently
he is serving as Senior Advisor to UMFCCI
and Myanmar Rice Federation (“MRF”).

Mr. Jean-Marie Imperore is currently the
Managing Director of FMIDecaux. He
has worked for 20 years at JCDecaux.
Since 2006, Mr. Imperore has been the
Development and Operations Director
at JCDecaux China, specifically in
charge of the implementation of new
projects, organisation, and operations’
improvement. Mr. Imperore also held
different posts in other countries.
Between 2014 and 2018, he was the
Managing Director of JCDecaux Mongolia.
He holds a Master of Engineering from
the University of Dijon in France.
Mr. Jean-Marie Imperore သည္ လက္႐ိွတြင္
FMIDecaux ၏ မန္ေနးဂ်င္းဒါ႐ိုက္တာ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။
သူသည္ JCDecaux တြင္ ႏွစ္ေပါင္း(၂၀)ၾကာ တာ
ဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး ၂၀ဝ၆ ခုႏွစ္မွစ၍ စီမံကိန္းအသစ္
ေဖာ္ထုတ္ေဆာင္႐ြက္ျခင္းႏွင့္
တိုးတက္ေရးအတြက္

ကုမၸဏီလုပ္ငန္းမ်ား

JCDecaux

China

တြင္

Development and Operations Director အျဖစ္
ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ သူသည္ အျခားႏိုင္ငံမ်ားတြင္

ဦးတင္ထြဋ္ဦး သည္ လက္႐ိွတြင္ လယ္ယာစီးပြားလုပ္

လည္း

ငန္းအုပ္စု၌ အႀကီးအကဲအျဖစ္ တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္

လုပ္ေဆာင္လ်က္႐ိွသည္။ ၂၀၁၄ ခုႏွစ္မွ ၂၀၁၈ ခုႏွစ္

လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

အတြင္း မြန္ဂိုလီယားႏိုင္ငံ႐ိွ JCDecaux တြင္ မန္ေနး

သူသည္

လယ္ယာစိုက္ပ်ိဳးေရးႏွင့္

ရာထူးအမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးျဖင့္

လုပ္ငန္းတာဝန္မ်ားကို

ဆည္ေျမာင္းဝန္ႀကီးဌာန၊ စိုက္ပ်ိဳးေရးစီမံကိန္းဦးစီးဌာန

ဂ်င္းဒါ႐ိုက္တာအျဖစ္

ေဒၚေခ်ာစုလင္းသည္ လက္႐ွိတြင္ Memories Group

၏ အၿငိမ္းစားၫႊန္ၾကားေရးမွဴးခ်ဳပ္တစ္ဦးလည္း ျဖစ္

သူသည္ ျပင္သစ္ႏိုင္ငံ University of Dijon မွ အင္ဂ်င္

၏ Financial Controller အျဖစ္ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္

သည္။ သူသည္ ကုလသမဂၢႏွင့္ နိုင္ငံတကာအဖဲြ႕အ

နီယာမဟာဘဲြ႕ ရ႐ိွထားပါသည္။

လ်က္ရွိသည္။

Financial

စည္းမ်ားတြင္ ျပည္တြင္းႏွင့္ ႏိုင္ငံတကာအဆင့္ အတိုင္

Controller အျဖစ္ တာ၀န္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး ၂၀၁၉

ပင္ခံတစ္ဦးအျဖစ္လည္း ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ဦးတင္

ခုုနွစ္၊ ေမလတြင္ စကၤာပူစေတာ့အိတ္ခ်ိန္း စာရင္းဝင္

ထြဋ္ဦး သည္ ၂၀၁၂ မွ ၂၀၁၆ ခုႏွစ္ထိ အမ်ိဳးသား

လုုပ္ငန္းမ်ားကို

စီးပြားေရးႏွင့္ လူမႈေရးအႀကံေပးေကာင္စီ ဥကၠ႒အျဖစ္

သူမသည္

FMI

တြင္

စီမံခန္႔ခြဲနိုင္ရန္အတြက္

Memories

တာဝန္ထမ္းေဆာင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

Mountain Range in Mon State
Photography by Kaung Htet Naing

Performance

Review

Reaching Peak Performance
This year, we have again strived to maximise the performance
of each of our business units. This report highlights the progress
of our continuing journey to reach the summit of Myanmar’s
Banking, Healthcare, Real Estate and Tourism sectors.

Sunrise Sin Phyu Taung in Kayah State
hotography by Ko Ko Lay
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FY Sep2019 Group Operational Review &

Financial Highlights

Record Revenue

Net Profit Attributable to Equity Holders

MMK 168.4 b

MMK 253.2 m
Driven by strong
gross profit

Record revenue primarily driven by Financial
Services business

Gross Profit Margin

Total Comprehensive Income for the six-month period

MMK 7.1 b

41.1%

Increase in fair values adjustment of
available-for-sale investment

Improved gross profit margins
in Financial Services

FY Sep 19*

HY Sep 18**

% Change

168,432,139

130,534,069

29.0%

69,146,585

51,108,104

35.3%

7,100,601

9,813,753

(27.6%)

253,177

6,553,802

(96.1%)

384,154,922

222,155,112

72.9

9

246

(96.3%)

As at 30 September 2019 (MMK '000)

FY Sep 19

FY Mar 19

Non-Controlling Interests

108,971,986

92,904,252

17.3%

Net Debt¹

130,010,131

119,051,822

9.2%

Total Capital²

305,206,764

306,197,602

(0.3)%

For the financial year (MMK '000)
Revenue
Gross Profit
Net Profit
Net Profit attributable to Equity Holders
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Earnings per share (MMK per share)

*

Audited financial report |

**

Interim financial report

¹ Net Debt is calculated as borrowings (excluding loans from non-controlling interests) plus trade and other payables less cash and cash equivalents
² Total Capital is calculated as net assets attributable to equity holders of the company plus net debt

Revenue

Sources of Revenue

MMK. billion

280

300
250
200
150

10%

206

Financial services
Healthcare services
Rental income***
Dividend income***

168

161

89%

110

100
50
0
FY2016

FY2017

FY2018

FY2019

FY Sep 2019

***

Less than 1%

Annual Report 2019

Gross Profit & Net Profit Margin

Core Operating EBITDA

50%

MMK. billion
45

45%
40%
35%
30%
25%

40%
35%

33%

32%

10%

12%
5%

5%

4%

25

20

FY2016

FY2017

FY2018

FY2019

FY Sep 2019

23

14

15

0%

37

35

25

9%

8%

39

40

30

20%
15%

41%

27

10
5

Net Profit Margin

Gross Profit Margin

0
FY2016

Earnings Per Share
MMK

35,000

600

30,000

518

400

29,544

31,242

20,000

338

300

15,000

200

10,000

100

FY2017

FY2018

FY2019

11,945

11,672

11,938

FY2018

FY2019

FY Sep 2019

5,000

9

-

-

*

FY Sep 2019

25,000

407

FY2016

FY2019

MMK

700

500

FY2018

Net Asset Value Per Share

746

800

FY2017

FY2016

FY Sep 2019

FY2017

FY Sep 2019 is six months ended from 1st April 2019 to 30th September 2019

FMI Group Overview
The Group’s revenue for six-month report
shows a 29.0% growth rate from MMK.
130.5 billion in HY Sep 2018 to MMK 168.4
billion in FY Sep 2019. The main reason for
the growth is 25.5% increase in Financial
Services from MMK 120 billion in HY Sep
2018 to MMK 150.6 billion in FY Sep 2019.
The primary contributor for the increase in
the Financial Services revenue is growing
interest income from portfolio such as
digital credit, home loan, microfinance
and loan overdraft. Moreover, Healthcare
Services has a significant increase in
revenue from MMK 10.3 billion in HY
Sep 2018 to MMK 17.6 billion in FY Sep
2019. The increase in Healthcare Services
revenue is due to direct hospital service,
ancillary service and equipment rental.
In FY Sep 2019, gross profit margin
increases to 41.1%. The increase in
margin is due to Yoma Bank lower interest
expenses compared to revenue growth.
Meanwhile, the gross profit margin from
the Healthcare Services remain the same.

The Group administrative expenses
increase by 18.7% from MMK 43.6 billion
in HY Sep 2018 to MMK 51.7 billion in FY
Sep 2019. The increase in expenses can
be contributed to spending in information
technology ("IT") & communication, which
reflects with one of the core values of
the Group. In addition, the Group has
also increased its employee benefits and
compensation to recruit and retain the
best talents. Finance expenses increase
by 88.3% from MMK 2.6 billion in HY Sep
2018 to MMK 5.0 billion in FY Sep 2019.
For FY Sep 2019, the Group shows losses of
MMK 1.8 billion because of fair value loss on
investment property, losses on write off of
property, plant and equipment, write-off of
unsuccessful business and foreign currency
exchange loss. In addition, there is a sharp
decline in its share of profit from associates
and joint ventures by 86.5% from MMK 14.5
billion in HY Sep 2018 to MMK 1.9 billion in
FY Sep 2019. This is mainly due to decline in
earning from real estate sector.

In FY Sep 2019, net profit declines by
27.6% to MMK 7.1 billion mainly due to
Yoma Bank higher income tax expense.
In addition, earnings per share for FY
Sep 2019 declines to 9 Kyats because of
lower net profit for the short six-month
period and increase in average number of
shares. In addition, the decrease is driven
by decline in profit from the real estate
sector.
The Group’s total current assets increase
by 11.1% in FY Sep 2019 as compared
to FY Mar 2019. The key generator for
this growth is caused by increase in loan
portfolio at Yoma Bank. Meanwhile, the
total liabilities of the Group increase by
12.0% as compared to FY Mar 2019. The
increase in liability is due to additional
loan taken by the Company and Yoma
Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Limited for
new business development as well as
retranslation of the Company’s US dollars
denominated loan.
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ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုအား ၿခံဳငံု၍ၾကည့္႐ႈျခင္း
ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ (၆)လတာကာလအတြက္ ဘ႑ာေရး

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈဆိုင္ရာ အသံုးစရိတ္အေန

႐ိုးမဘဏ္ကလည္း အျမတ္အေပၚအေျခခံ၍ ျမင့္မား

ရလဒ္မ်ားမွာ ၂၀၁၈ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာနွစ္တြင္

ျဖင့္ ၂၀၁၈ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာေရးႏွစ္တြင္ က်ပ္

ေသာဝင္ေငြခြန္

ရ႐ွိခဲ့ေသာ က်ပ္ (၁၃၀.၅) ဘီလီယံမွ က်ပ္ (၁၆၈.၄)

(၄၃.၆)

စက္တင္ဘာ

အုပ္စု၏ အသားတင္အျမတ္မွာ ၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ

ဘီလီယံက်ပ္ေငြ ရ႐ွိခဲ့သည့္အတြက္ ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္းအား

ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္ က်ပ္ (၅၁.၇) ဘီလီယံသ႔ုိ ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္း

ဘ႑ာနွစ္တြင္ က်ပ္ (၇.၁) ဘီလီယံသာ႐ွိၿပီး ရာခိုင္

ျဖင့္ ၂၉.၀% ျမင့္တက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏

အားျဖင့္ ၁၈.၃% တိုးတက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ အသံုးစရိတ္မ်ား

ႏႈန္းအားျဖင့္ ၂၇.၆% က်ဆင္းခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထိုသို႔ကုန္

ဝင္ေငြတိုးတက္လာရသည့္ အဓိကအေၾကာင္းအရင္း

တိုးတက္လာခဲ့ရသည့္

အေၾကာင္းရင္းမွာ

ဆံုးခဲ့ေသာ (၆) လ ကာလအတြင္း အသားတင္အျမတ္

မွာ ဘ႑ာေရးဝန္ေဆာင္မႈက႑သည္ ၂၀၁၈ စက္

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏

တစ္ခုျဖစ္ေသာ

ေငြက်ဆင္းျခင္းနွင့္ ပ်မ္းမွ်႐ွယ္ယာအေရအတြက္ တိုး

တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာနွစ္တြင္ က်ပ္ (၁၂၀) ဘီလီယံ ႐ွိခဲ့ရာ

နည္းပညာႏွင့္

မွ ၂၀၁၈ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္ က်ပ္ (၁၅၀.၆) ဘီလီယံ

ခဲ့ေသာေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ထို႔အျပင္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု

အတြက္

သို႔ေရာက္႐ွိခဲ့ၿပီး ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္းအားျဖင့္ ၂၅.၅% တိုးတက္

သည္ အေကာင္းဆံုးအရည္အခ်င္း႐ွိေသာ ဝန္ထမ္း

Share) မွာ (၉) က်ပ္သို႔ က်ဆင္းခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထို႔ျပင္

ခဲ့မႈေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ အဆိုပါ ဝင္ေငြတိုးတက္မႈ

မ်ားကို ထိန္းသိမ္းထားနိုင္ရန္နွင့္ ႐ွာေဖြခန္႔အပ္နိုင္ရန္

ဤေလ်ာ့က်မႈသည္

မ်ားကို

အဓိကအေၾကာင္းရင္းမွာ

အတြက္ ဝန္ထမ္းမ်ား၏ အက်ိဳးခံစားခြင့္မ်ားကို ျမႇင့္

ေရးက႑မွ အျမတ္ေငြမ်ား က်ဆင္းျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ပါ

ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္ေခ်းေငြ၊ အိမ္ေခ်းေငြ၊ အေသးစားေခ်းေငြနွင့္

တင္ေပးခဲ့ပါသည္။ ဘ႑ာေရးအတြက္ သံုးစြဲရသည့္

သည္။

ေငြပိုထုတ္ယူျခင္းတို႔ထံမွ အတိုးဝင္ေငြတိုးတက္ ရ႐ွိ

ေငြေၾကးမ်ားမွာ ၂၀၁၈ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္

လာျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ထို႔အျပင္ က်န္းမာေရး

(၂.၆) ဘီလီယံ ႐ွိခဲ့ရာမွ ၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာ

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ စုုစုေပါင္းလက္ငင္း ရပိုင္ခြင့္မ်ားမွာ

ေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈက႑မွ ဝင္ေငြသည္လည္း ၂၀၁၈ စက္

နွစ္တြင္ (၅.၀) ဘီလီယံသို႔ ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္းအားျဖင့္ ၈၈.၃%

၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္ ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္းအားျဖင့္

တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာေရးနွစ္တြင္ က်ပ္ (၁၀.၃) ဘီလီယံမွ

ျမင့္တက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

၁၁.၁% တိုးတက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထိုတိုးတက္မႈကို ျဖစ္ေစ

ျဖစ္ေပၚေစသည့္

ဘီလီယံ

႐ွိခဲ့ရာမွ

၂၀၁၉

အဓိက

စံတန္ဖိုးမ်ားထဲမွ

ဆက္သြယ္ေရးတို႔တြင္

တိုးခ်ဲ႕သံုးစြဲ

ေပးေဆာင္ရျခင္းေၾကာင့္

ကုမၸဏီ

ပြားလာျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္
႐ွယ္ယာတစ္စုဝင္ေငြ

(Earnings

per

အိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္

ေသာ အဓိကအေၾကာင္းအရင္းမွာ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္၏ ဘဏ္

၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာေရးနွစ္တြင္ က်ပ္ (၁၇.၆)
ဘီလီယံသို႔ တိုးတက္လာခဲ့ပါသည္။ ဝင္ေငြတိုးတက္ရ

၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု

ေခ်းေငြပမာဏသည္

သည့္ အဓိကအေၾကာင္းအရင္းမွာ ေဆး႐ံု၏တိုက္႐ိုက္

သည္ ရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံထားေသာ ပိုင္ဆိုင္မႈမ်ား၏ တန္ဖိုး

ျဖစ္သည္။ တခ်ိန္တည္းမွာပင္

ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈလုပ္ငန္းအျပင္ ျဖည့္စြက္၀န္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ား

ေလ်ာ့နည္းဆံုးရံႈးမႈမ်ား၊ ပိုင္ဆိုင္မႈမ်ား၊ စက္႐ံုမ်ားနွင့္

ေပးရန္႐ွိေသာအပိုင္းတြင္ ကုမၸဏီနွင့္ ႐ိုးမစီလံုေဆး႐ံု

ျဖစ္သည့္

ပစၥည္းကိရိယာမ်ား

ေဆးပစၥည္းကိရိယာ

FMI ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏

ျဖစ္ေပၚလာ

ပန္းလိႈင္လီမ္ိတက္တို႔က ေခ်းေငြထပ္မံရယူခဲ့ျခင္း၊ လုုပ္

ဝန္ေဆာင္ခမ်ား၊ ေဆးဝါးေရာင္းခ်ျခင္းနွင့္ ေဆးပစၥည္း

ေသာ ဆံုးရံႈးမႈမ်ား၊ စီးပြားေရးလုုပ္ငန္းအသစ္ အစပ်ိဳး

ငန္းသစ္မ်ား ေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္မႈနွင့္ ေငြေၾကးလဲ

မ်ားငွားရမ္းျခင္းတို႔ေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

စရိတ္မ်ားအား ပယ္ဖ်က္ျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ေပၚလာေသာ

လွယ္နႈန္း အေျပာင္းအလဲမ်ားအရ ကုမၸဏီ၏ အေမရိ

ကုုန္က်စရိတ္ႏွင့္ ေငြေၾကးလဲလွယ္မႈ အေျပာင္းအလဲ

ကန္ေဒၚလာေခ်းေငြအား လက္႐ွိေစ်းနႈန္းျဖင့္ ျပန္၍ဖ

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုအတြက္ အၾကမ္းအျမတ္ေငြ အခ်ိဳးသည္

မ်ားေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ေပၚလာေသာ ဆံုး႐ႈံးမႈမ်ားေၾကာင့္ က်ပ္

လွယ္ရေသာေၾကာင့္ စုုစုေပါင္း လက္ငင္းေပးရန္တာ

၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္ ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္းအားျဖင့္

(၁.၈) ဘီလီယံ အ႐ံႈးေပၚေပါက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထို႔အျပင္

ဝန္ပမာဏသည္ ၂၀၁၉ မတ္လ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္ႏွင့္ႏိႈင္း

၄၁.၁%

တိုးတက္လာရျခင္းမွာ

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ အစုုစပ္ကုမၸဏီမ်ားနွင့္ ဖက္စပ္ကုမၸဏီ

ယွဥ္လွ်င္ ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္းအားျဖင့္ ၁၂.၀% တိုးတက္ခဲ့ပါ

႐ိုးမဘဏ္၏ အတိုးေပးရေငြ ေလ်ာ့က်လာျခင္းေၾကာင့္

မ်ားမွ ခြဲေ၀ရ႐ိွေသာ အျမတ္ေငြသည္ ၂၀၁၈ စက္တင္

သည္။

ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ တခ်ိန္တည္းမွာပင္ က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္

ဘာ

ေ႐ွာက္မႈက႑၏ အျမတ္ေငြအခ်ိဳးအား ဆက္လက္

ဘီလီယံ ႐ွိခဲ့ရာမွ ၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္

ထိန္းသိမ္းထားနိုင္ျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

အျမတ္ေငြ က်ပ္ (၂.၇) ဘီလီယံသုိ႔ ရာခိုင္ႏႈန္းအား

႐ွိပါသည္။

ထိုသုိ႔

အသံုးျပဳမႈအတြက္

ပိုမိုတိုးတက္သြားရျခင္းေၾကာင့္

ေရာင္းခ်မႈေၾကာင့္

ဘ႑ာေရးႏွစ္တြင္

အျမတ္ေငြက်ပ္

(၁၄.၅)

ျဖင့္ ၈၁.၆% အထိ မ်ားစြာက်ဆင္းသြားသည္ကို ေတြ႕
႐ွိရပါသည္။ ထိုသို႔က်ဆင္းရသည့္ အဓိကအေၾကာင္း
မွာ အိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရးက႑မွ ဝင္ေငြ
မ်ားစြာ က်ဆင္းသြားေသာေၾကာင့္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Mountain Range in Shan State
Photography by Kaung Htet Naing
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FMI’s Key

Businesses
Financial Services
Yoma Bank
61.99%

Yoma Bank Limited 1

Healthcare

Tourism

Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals

Memories Group

60.00%

8.36%

60.00%

Yoma Siloam Hospital
Pun Hlaing Limited
Pun Hlaing International
Hospital Limited

Memories Group
Limited

Real Estate

Strategic Investments

StarCity

FMIDecaux

30.00%

Thanlyin Estate Development Limited

The Peninsula Yangon
6.00%

Peninsula Yangon Holdings Pte. Limited

Yoma Central
12.00%
20.00%

Meeyahta Development Limited
Meeyahta International Hotel Limited

40.00%

Myanmar Agri-Tech
30.00%

Pun Hlaing Links
30.00% Pun Hlaing Links Services Company Limited
FMI Development
100.00% FMI Development Group Limited 2
FMI Garden Development
47.50% F.M.I Garden Development Limited
FMI Riverside
47.50% FMI Riverside Development Limited
LSC -FMI
50.00% LSC- FMI Company Limited

Myanmar Agri-Tech
Limited

MTSH Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
1.70%

Asset Holdings

FMIDecaux Company
Limited

Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holding Public Limited

FMI focuses on the Financial Services, Real Estate, Healthcare and
Tourism sectors in Myanmar while maintaining a portfolio of strategic
investments. Across all its core businesses, FMI aims to contribute
towards nation building and the long-term economic development
of Myanmar.
FMI သည္ ျမန္မာနုုိင္ငံတြင္ ဘ႑ာေရးဝန္ေဆာင္မႈ၊ က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈ၊ အိမ္
ရာ ေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရးႏွင့္ ခရီးသြားလာေရးက႑တို႔ကို အဓိကထားအေကာင္
အထည္ေဖာ္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္႐ိွၿပီး အျခားမဟာဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္ ရင္းႏီွးျမႇဳပ္ႏံွမႈမ်ားကို
လည္း စဥ္ဆက္မျပတ္ လုုပ္ကိုင္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။ FMI သည္ ၎၏ အဓိကစီးပြားေရးလုပ္
ငန္းမ်ားမွတဆင့္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ၏ စီးပြားေရးေရ ႐ွည္ဖံြ႕ၿဖိဳးတုိုးတက္ေစရန္ႏွင့္ ႏိုင္ငံေတာ္
တည္ေဆာက္ေရး လုုပ္ငန္းစဥ္မ်ားတြင္ ပါဝင္လုပ္ေဆာင္ရန္ ရည္႐ြယ္ထားပါသည္။

Notes;
1
2

Subject to the completion of Transaction 2 and Capital Expansion as refer to the announcements made by the company on 17 June 2019 and 14 November 2019
FMI has a 20% interest in the FMI City Gate project.
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Financial

Services
Strengthening the Financial
Landscape in Myanmar
In 2019, Yoma Bank was steadfast in serving the needs of its
customers while continuing to manage and grow its business. The
productivity and performance of the bank reflected this approach
as the bank’s core traditional banking services persistently
delivered strong income growth. At the same time, the bank
continued to seek new opportunities for growth through forming
business partnerships, establishing business centers, providing
innovative financial solutions to Small & Medium Enterprises
("SMEs").

First Bank in Myanmar to Receive Foreign Direct
Investment
IFC, a member of the World Bank Group, converted part of the
loan provided to Yoma Bank in 2014 to a 5% equity shareholding
on May 2019. With these conversions, IFC became the first
international investor in a local bank in Myanmar. This marks
a significant milestone for Yoma Bank as well as towards the
positive reforms taking place in the Myanmar banking sector. It
also shows the credibility and commitment of Yoma Bank as a
leading financial provider in the country that operates in line with
global best practices and standards.

Annual Report 2019

New Business Centers Opened
Understanding
the
importance
of
financial accessibility to the economic
development of the country, Yoma
Bank launched new business centers in
Yangon and in Mandalay to accelerate its
commitment to financial inclusion, both in
lower and upper Myanmar. These centers
help businesses with financing and credit
services to enhance sustainable economic
growth and offer a diverse range of
financial products and services, tailored
to meet the needs of growing businesses.

Agribusiness Financing
Program on the Radar
Yoma Bank understands the importance
of financial inclusion to the development
of the country’s economy. Yoma Bank has
been fully committed to strengthening
access to finance in rural Myanmar,
where agriculture is the primary source
of livelihoods. Yoma Bank is accelerating
its agribusiness financing program
through partnerships with different local
and international partners. For example,
Yoma Bank has extended the strategic

partnership with The Netherlands-based
Rabobank, aiming to focus on access to
financing through digitalisation. The main
focal points of the partnership include
digitising financial services for SMEs on
end-to-end functionalities, strengthening
Yoma Bank’s risk framework for long-term
sustainability and making the various
digital initiatives scalable and sustainable
through the safe and future-proof IT
infrastructure.

New CEO, New Aspiration
For the previous 7 years Mr. Hal Bosher,
former CEO of Yoma Bank, successfully
led the Yoma Bank to transform it to
the right tracks. Start from September,
Yoma Bank welcomed a new CEO, Mr.
Dean Cleland, who has reaffirmed the
Bank’s strategy to rapidly evolve as a fullydigitised Consumer and Commercial Bank
driving a seamless front-to-back customer
experience and value proposition.
Prioritising “Customer Journeys” as a
mechanism to enhance value and deliver
a differentiated proposition will be the
main focus in 2020.
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Preparing for the Future of
Banking
Driven by technology and the ongoing
liberalisation of Myanmar’s financial
services sector, the country is seeing an
acceleration in the number of people with
access to the formal banking system.
Moving forward, it is critical that the
banking industry focuses on financial
literacy and education to support digital
transformation and the new products/
services this will bring. Yoma Bank is
embracing the potential of digitalisation
and is focusing investment into technology
and its customised digital services.
FMI believes that the Bank will continue
to innovate and take actions to capture
sizeable opportunities while leveraging
sustainable
long-term
value
for
stakeholders and looks forward to a
successful and exciting 2020 for Yoma
Bank.
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႐ိုးမဘဏ္
၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္သည္ စီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈႏွင့္တုိးတက္
မႈမ်ားကို ဆက္လက္လုပ္ေဆာင္လ်က္ သံုးစြဲသူျပည္
သူမ်ား၏ လုိအပ္ခ်က္မ်ားကုိ ခိုင္မာစြာ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈေပး
ႏုိင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထိုကဲ့သို႔ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ား တိုးတက္လာ
ျခင္းေၾကာင့္ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္း ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားမွဝင္ေငြ
တိုးတက္မႈ ျဖစ္ေပၚလာျခင္းႏွင့္ ဘဏ္၏စြမ္းေဆာင္မႈ၊
ထုုတ္လုပ္မႈစြမ္းရည္ တိုးတက္လာျခင္းက သက္ေသ
ျပလ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။ တခ်ိန္တည္းမွာပင္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္သည္
မိတ္ဖက္

စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္း႐ွင္မ်ား၊

ေငြေၾကး၀န္

ေဆာင္မႈစင္တာမ်ား၊ အေသးစားအလတ္စား လုပ္ငန္း
မ်ားအတြက္ ေငြေၾကးေျဖ႐ွင္းေပးမႈမ်ား တီထြင္ဖန္တီ
ျခင္းႏွင့္အျခား၀န္ ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားစြာကုိ လုပ္ေဆာင္ေပး
ခဲ့ျခင္းျဖင့္ အခြင့္အလမ္းမ်ားအား ဆက္လက္ ႀကိဳးပမ္း
႐ွာေဖြခဲ့ပါသည္။

ႏုိင္ငံျခားတုိက္႐ုိက္ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံမႈ ရ႐ွိခဲ့ေသာ ျမန္မာ
ႏုိင္ငံ၏ ပထမဆုံးဘဏ္
ကမ ၻာ့ဘဏ္အုပ္စု၀င္ျဖစ္သည့္ IFC သည္ ၂၀၁၄ ခုႏွစ္
တြင္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္သို႔ ထည့္ဝင္ထားေသာ ေခ်းေငြကုိ
အစု ႐ွယ္ယာ ၅% အျဖစ္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္ ေမလတြင္
ေျပာင္းလဲခဲ့ျခင္းျဖင့္ IFC သည္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္တြင္ ၅%
ပိုင္ အစု႐ွယ္ယာ၀င္ ျဖစ္လာပါသည္။ ဤသို႔ေျပာင္းလဲ
မႈေၾကာင့္ IFC သည္ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ႐ွိ ျပည္တြင္းဘဏ္
တစ္ခုတြင္ ပထမဆုံး ျပည္ပမွဝင္ေရာက္ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္ႏွံ
သူ ျဖစ္လာပါသည္။ ဤသုိ႔ျဖစ္လာမႈသည္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္
အတြက္ အေရးပါေသာ သမုိင္းမွတ္တုိင္တစ္ခု ျဖစ္လာ
သကဲ့သုိ႔ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းက႑တြင္လည္း မွန္ကန္သည့္
ျပဳျပင္ေျပာင္းလဲမႈကုိ ဦးေဆာင္ေစခဲ့ပါသည္။ ျမန္မာ
ႏုိင္ငံ၌ ႏုိင္ငံတကာ အေကာင္းဆုံး စည္းမ်ဥ္းစည္ကမ္း
စံႏႈန္းမ်ားႏွင့္အညီ

ဘ႑ာေရး

ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈေပးေန

သည့္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္၏ စိတ္အားထက္သန္မႈႏွင့္ အမ်ား
ယုံၾကည္ လက္ခံႏုိင္မႈတို႔ကိုျပသသည့္ ျဖစ္ရပ္လည္း
ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

Annual Report 2019

စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္းစင္တာသစ္မ်ားဖြင့္လွစ္ျခင္း

ဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္ ပူးေပါင္းေဆာင္႐ြက္မႈကုိ တုိးခ်ဲ႕ေဆာင္
႐ြက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ ထိုမိတ္ဖက္ဖြဲ႕စည္းမႈ၏ အဓိကရည္
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အနာဂတ္ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းအတြက္
ႀကိဳတင္ျပင္ဆင္ျခင္း

ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတုိးတက္ေရးတြင္

႐ြယ္ခ်က္မွာ SME လုုပ္ငန္းမ်ားအတြက္ ဘ႑ာေရး

ဘ႑ာေရးဝန္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားကို အလြယ္တကူရယူသုံး

ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားေပးအပ္ရာတြင္ ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္နည္းပညာ

နည္းပညာတိုးတက္လာျခင္းနွင့္ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံ၏ ဘ႑ာ

စဲြနိုင္ျခင္း၏

နားလည္ထားသည့္အ

အသံုးျပဳျခင္း၊ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္ ေရ႐ွည္ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတိုးတက္ေရး

ေရးဝန္ေဆာင္မႈက႑ ပိုမုိပြင့္လင္း လြတ္လပ္မႈမ်ား႐ွိ

ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံေအာက္ပုိင္း

အတြက္ Risk Framework ကို ခ်မွတ္ျခင္းႏွင့္ ေဘး

လာသည့္ေနာက္တြင္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ၏ ျပည္သူအမ်ား

ႏွင့္ အထက္ပုိင္း ႏွစ္ခုစလုံးတြင္ ၎၏ စီးပြားေရးလုပ္

ကင္းၿပီး ေခတ္မီေသာ IT အေျခခံအေဆာက္အအံု

အျပားသည္ ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းစနစ္ႏွင့္ အကၽြမ္းတ၀င္႐ိွ

ငန္း၀န္ေဆာင္မႈကုိ

ပုိမုိအ႐ွိန္ျမႇင့္တင္ႏုိင္ရန္အတြက္

မ်ားကိုအသံုးျပဳ၍ အမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးေသာ ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္ဝန္ေဆာင္

လာသည္ကို ေတြ႕႐ွိရပါသည္။

ရန္ကုန္ၿမိဳ႕ႏွင့္ မႏ ေ
ၱ လးၿမိဳ႕တုိ႔တြင္ စီးပြားေရးလုုပ္ငန္း

မႈမ်ားကို လုုပ္ငန္းခ်ဲ႕ထြင္နိုင္ေရး၊ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့ခိုင္ၿမဲ

စင္တာသစ္မ်ားအား ဖြင့္လွစ္ခဲ့ပါသည္။ အဆုိပါစင္တာ

ေရးတို႔ ရ႐ွိေစေရးအတြက္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ၏

စီးပြားေရး
အေရးႀကီးပံုကုိ

ေလ်ာက္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္သည္

မ်ားသည္

ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့ေသာ စီးပြားေရးဖံြ႕ၿဖိဳးတုိး

တက္မႈကုိ ျမႇင့္တင္နုိင္ရန္ႏွင့္ စီးပြားေရးလုုပ္ငန္း လုိ
အပ္ခ်က္မ်ား၊ ဘ႑ာေရး၀န္ေဆာင္မႈသစ္ အမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳး

အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္အသစ္ႏွင့္
ရည္မွန္းခ်က္အသစ္

လာမည့္အနာဂတ္ကာလတြင္

ဘဏ္လုပ္ငန္းက႑

သည္ ဘ႑ာေရးအသိပညာမ်ား မွ်ေဝေပးျခင္း၊ ဒီဂ်စ္
တယ္နည္းပညာ အသြင္ကူးေျပာင္းျခင္း၊ ဘ႑ာေရး
ထုုတ္ကုန္နွင့္ ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈအသစ္မ်ားအတြက္ အသိ
ပညာေပးျခင္းတို႔ကို ပိုမိုအာ႐ံုစိုက္ လုုပ္ေဆာင္ၾကရန္

ကုိ ဖန္တီးထုတ္လုပ္ျခင္းႏွင့္ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈေပးျခင္း လုပ္

လြန္ခဲ့ေသာ (၇)ႏွစ္ၾကာကာလတြင္ ဘဏ္ကုိေအာင္

အေရးႀကီးပါသည္။ ႐ိုးမ ဘဏ္သည္ ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္အသြင္

ျမင္စြာဦးေဆာင္ခဲ့ၿပီး ခုိင္မာေသာ အေျခခံလမ္းေၾကာင္း

ကူးေျပာင္းျခင္း၏ ေကာင္းက်ိဳးမ်ားကိုသိျမင္ၿပီး နည္း

လယ္ယာစုိက္ပ်ဳိးေရးလုပ္ငန္း ေငြထုတ္ေခ်းမႈ

တစ္ခုအား ဖန္တီးေပးႏိုင္ခဲ့သည့္ Mr. Hal Bosher

ပညာနွင့္ ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားတြင္ ရင္းနွီးျမွဳပ္နွံ

အစီအစဥ္

ေနရာတြင္ စက္တင္ဘာလကစ၍ စတင္တာ၀န္ထမ္း

မႈမ်ား အထူးအေလးထား ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

ငန္းမ်ားကုိ လုပ္ေဆာင္ေပးလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

ေဆာင္လ်က္႐ွိေသာ

အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္အသစ္

ဘ႑ာေရး

ျဖစ္သူ Mr. Dean Cleland အား ႐ိုးမဘဏ္မွ ႀကိဳဆုိပါ

FMI အေနျဖင့္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္သည္ တီထြင္ဖန္တီးမႈမ်ား

႐ုိးမဘဏ္သည္

သည္။ Mr. Cleland သည္ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ွိခ်ဳပ္

ဆက္လက္ျပဳလုုပ္ၿပီး ရ႐ိွလာေသာ အခြင့္အေရးမ်ားကို

ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံ ေက်းလက္ေဒသ႐ိွ လူေနမႈဘ၀အရင္းအ

သစ္အေနျဖင့္ ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္နည္းပညာ အျပည့္အ၀သုံး

ဆက္လက္ဆုပ္ကိုင္၍ေရရွည္ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတိုးတက္မႈ အစီအ

ျမစ္၏ အဓိကျဖစ္ေသာ လယ္ယာလုပ္ငန္းက႑ကိုေခ်း

စြဲသည့္ စီးပြားေရး ဘဏ္တစ္ခုအျဖစ္ လ်င္ျမန္စြာ

စဥ္မ်ားကို အေကာင္အထည္ေဖာ္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ႏိုင္မည္

ေငြရ႐ွိႏုိင္ရန္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ထား႐ိွၿပီး ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ဘဏ္

ေျပာင္းလဲႏုိင္သည့္ ဘဏ္၏ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာနည္းလမ္း ကုိ

ဟု ယံုၾကည္ပါသည္။ အနာဂတ္ကို ေမွ်ာ္ၾကည့္ပါက

အေနျဖင့္

စီးပြားေရးမိတ္ဖက္

ထပ္ေလာင္းအတည္ျပဳ လုပ္ေဆာင္ေနပါသည္။ လစ္

၂၀၂၀ ခုုနွစ္သည္

မ်ားႏွင့္ပူးေပါင္းကာ လယ္ယာစုိက္ပ်ဳိးေရးလုပ္ငန္း ေငြ

ဟာမႈမ႐ွိ ေသာ ဘဏ္၀န္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားျဖင့္ သံုးစြဲသူျပည္

ျမင္ၿပီး စိတ္လႈပ္႐ွားစရာေကာင္းေသာ ႏွစ္တစ္နွစ္ျဖစ္

ထုတ္ေခ်းမႈအစီအစဥ္ကုိ

လာမည္ဟု ေမွ်ာ္လင့္ရပါသည္။

ျမန္မာ့စီးပြားေရး
ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈ၏

ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတုိးတက္မႈတြင္
အေရးပါမႈေၾကာင့္

ျပည္တြင္းႏွင့္ျပည္ပမွ

အ႐ွိန္ျမႇင့္ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္

သူမ်ား၏ အဆင္ေျပေခ်ာေမြ႕မႈကို ဦးစားေပးျခင္းႏွင့္

႐ွိပါသည္။ ဥပမာအားျဖင့္ ႐ုိးမဘဏ္သည္ ဒီဂ်စ္တယ္

အျခား ဘဏ္မ်ားႏွင့္ မတူညီေသာအေနအထားကို ဖန္

နည္းပညာျဖင့္

တီးျခင္းသည္ ႐ိုးမဘဏ္အတြက္ ၂၀၂၀ တြင္ အဓိက

ေငြေၾကးအကူအညီရ႐ွိရန္

နယ္သာ

လန္နို္င္ငံအေျခစိုက္ Rabobank ဘဏ္တို႔ႏွင့္ မဟာ

ေဆာင္႐ြက္ရမည့္ ကိစၥတစ္ခုျဖစ္လာပါမည္။

႐ိုးမဘဏ္အတြက္ မ်ားစြာေအာင္
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Healthcare
Caring for the Growing needs
of our Community
In 2014, Pun Hlaing International Hospital was transformed to a Pun Hlaing Siloam
("PHSH")-branded hospital pursuant to a joint venture between FMI and the Lippo Group.
In April 2019, the Lippo Group's interest in PHSH was bought over by OUE Lippo Healthcare
Limited ("OUELH")1, a company listed on the Catalist board of SGX-ST. OUELH provides
high-quality and sustainable healthcare solutions through the acquisition, development,
management and operations of healthcare facilities across Asia.

System Transformation
During the FY Sep2019, PHSH continued to focus on evolving from a dedicated full-time
specialist model into a hybrid model comprising full-time specialists and part-time service
doctors in order to accelerate growth. With the hybrid model, PHSH will continue to
increase the number of dedicated full-time specialist doctors as the core nucleus across the
nationwide network that will set the bar in clinical patient safety standards in the market.
At the same time, PHSH will also introduce an additional layer of part-time service doctors
that will widen and deepen the spectrum of clinical care across the continuum of care
both horizontally (from education, diagnosis to treatment) as well as vertically (primary to
tertiary). This dedicated hybrid model also applies to the fabric of PHSH’s institution, vis-àvis its nursing and allied health professionals.

1 http://www.ouelh.com/

Going forward, this hybrid model, with the
right mix and balance of full-time and parttime service specialist doctors is expected
to accelerate the economic returns both
in terms of throughout and revenue
generation capacity and capability across
PHSH’s hospital and clinic network.
The partnership with OUELH is intended
to bring added value and access to
accelerate PHSH’s pipeline and strategic
alliances. Within this environment, PHSH
is confident that its ‘hybrid specialist
engagement’ model will provide a robust
and sustainable model to establish a ‘hub
and spoke’ ecosystem across the country.

Annual Report 2019

Service Transformation
PHSH’s unique service delivery model
is anchored and guided by its vision to
provide international quality healthcare
in Myanmar. In July 2017, PHSH obtained
the Joint Commission International
Accreditation (“JCIA”), the gold-standard
accreditation in hospital certifications
worldwide from the Joint Commission
International. PHSH also aims to increase
its reach by building a nationwide ‘hub
and spoke’ service delivery model of
health care services and facilities. To
scale its operations, PHSH also utilises a
pricing mechanism that aims to provide
equitable, affordable and accessible
healthcare
for
all
socio-economic
segments, and a holistic approach to
deliver the four dimensions of health
i.e. physical, spiritual, psychological and
social. From an operational perspective,
the use of a hybrid specialists and clinical
service delivery model has allowed an
improvement in the performance of PHSH
for FY Sep2019.

The revitalisation process that PHSH went
through helped enhance its reputation
for innovative service models, operating
systems and facilities in the Myanmar
healthcare market. PHSH will continue
to invest in the development of human
capital across all levels of employees.
FMI is confident that PHSH can provide
affordable, accessible healthcare for all
socio-economic segments and to deliver
seamless continuum of care across all
facilities.
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ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု
၂၀၁၄ ခုုနွစ္တြင္ ပန္းလႈိင္ေဆး႐ံုကို FMI ႏွင့္ လစ္ပို
ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုတို႔

အက်ိဳးတူပူးေပါင္း၍

ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံု

ေဆး႐ံု ("PHSH") Brand တစ္ခုအျဖစ္ အသြင္ေျပာင္း
လဲခဲ့ပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္၊ ဧၿပီလတြင္ လစ္ပိုကုမၸဏီ
အုပ္စု၏ PHSH

အစုု႐ွယ္ယာမ်ားကို စကၤာပူစေတာ့

အိတ္ခ်ိန္း၏ Catalist Board တြင္ စာရင္းတင္သြင္း
ထားေသာ

OUE

Lippo

Healthcare

Limited

(OUELH) မွ ျပန္လည္၀ယ္ယူခဲ့ပါသည္။ OUELH
သည္

အာ႐ွတစ္၀န္း႐ိွ

က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈ

က႑မ်ားတြင္ ႐ွယ္ယာ၀ယ္ယူျခင္း၊ ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတိုးတက္
ေအာင္ လုပ္ေဆာင္ျခင္း၊ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲျခင္းႏွင့္ လုပ္ငန္း
လည္ပတ္ျခင္းတို႔ျဖင့္ အရည္အေသြးျမင့္ၿပီး ေရ႐ွည္
တြင္တည္တံ့မည့္ က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈ ေျဖ႐ွင္း
ခ်က္မ်ားကို ေပးအပ္လ်က္႐ိွသည္။

စနစ္ျပဳျပင္ေျပာင္းလဲျခင္း
၂၀၁၉ ခုုႏွစ္တြင္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံု၏ ေဆးကုုသမႈ
လုုပ္ငန္းမ်ား အလ်င္အျမန္ တိုးတက္လာေစရန္ ရည္
႐ြယ္လ်က္ အထူးကုုဆရာဝန္မ်ား အခ်ိန္ျပည့္ထား႐ွိ
သည့္စနစ္မွ ေပါင္းစပ္အသံုးျပဳသည့္စနစ္သို႔ တျဖည္း
ျဖည္း

ေျပာင္းလဲခဲ့ပါသည္။ ေပါင္းစပ္အသံုးျပဳသည့္

စနစ္အရ နိုင္ငံတစ္ခုလံုး႐ွိ ေဆး႐ံုကြန္ရက္ တစ္ခုလံုး
တြင္ လူနာမ်ား၏ေဆးကုုသမႈဆိုင္ရာစံနႈန္းမ်ား အဆင့္
အတန္း ျပည့္မီေစရန္အတြက္ အေျခခံအားျဖင့္ အထူး
ကုုဆရာဝန္မ်ား အခ်ိန္ျပည့္႐ွိသည့္စနစ္ ဆက္လက္
ထား႐ွိမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ တစ္ခ်ိန္တည္းမွာပင္ အခ်ိန္
ပိုင္း ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈေပးသည့္ ဆရာဝန္မ်ားထား႐ွိသည့္
စနစ္ကို ထပ္မံေပါင္းစပ္အသံုးျပဳသြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။
ထိုစနစ္အရ ေဆးကုုသမႈလုပ္ငန္းမ်ားနွင့္ ပတ္သက္၍
ပညာေပးျခင္း၊ ေရာဂါ႐ွာေဖြျခင္းႏွင့္ ကုုသျခင္းစသည့္
ေဘးတုုိက္တိုးခ်ဲ႕ျခင္းနွင့္ အေျခခံအဆင့္မွ တတိယ
အဆင့္အထိ အထက္ေအာက္တိုးခ်ဲ႕ျခင္းမ်ားကို က်ယ္
က်ယ္ျပန္႔ျပန္႔ လုုပ္ေဆာင္သြားနုုိင္မည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။
အထူးျပဳစနစ္အသစ္အား PHSH ၏ ပညာေပးဆုိင္ရာ
အစီအစဥ္မ်ား၊ သူနာျပဳႏွင့္ အျခားက်န္းမာေရးဆုိင္ရာ
ကၽြမ္းက်င္ပညာ႐ွင္မ်ားလည္း
ပါသည္။

ပါဝင္က်င့္သုံးလ်က္႐ွိ
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အနာဂတ္ကာလတြင္

ထိုအခ်ိန္ျပည့္ႏွင့္

အခ်ိန္ပိုင္း

၀န္ေဆာင္မႈေျပာင္းလဲေပးျခင္း
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ရာ စသည္မ်ားအားလံုး ၿခံဳငံုပါဝင္သည့္ ေဆးကုုသမႈ

အထူးကုုဆရာဝန္မ်ားကို အခ်ိဳးညီစြာ ေပါင္းစည္းထား

စနစ္ကို က်င့္သံုးလ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။ လုုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္

ျခင္း (Hybrid Model) ျဖင့္ PHSH ေဆး႐ံုႏွင့္ ေဆးခန္း

ပန္းလိႈင္စီလုံေဆး႐ုံ၏

ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံ

မႈဆုိင္ရာ ႐ႈေထာ့င္မွၾကည့္ပါက ေပါင္းစပ္အသံုးျပဳသည့္

ကြန္ရက္မ်ားတစ္ေလွ်ာက္တြင္ ဝင္ေငြတိုးပြားေစသည့္

တြင္ ႏိုင္ငံတကာအဆင့္ အရည္အေသြး႐ွိ က်န္းမာ

စနစ္သစ္ေၾကာင့္ ၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္ဘာ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္

အျပင္ စြမ္းေဆာင္ရည္လည္း ျမင့္တက္လာမည္ျဖစ္ၿပီး

ေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈကို ေပးအပ္လိုျခင္းအေပၚတြင္ အ

တုိးတက္မႈ ထပ္မံရ႐ွိခဲ့ပါသည္။

PHSH အတြက္ စီးပြားေရး အက်ိဳးအျမတ္မ်ားစြာကုုိ

ေျခခံၿပီး အမ်ားႏွင့္မတူေသာ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈေပးသည့္ပုံစံ

ျဖစ္ထြန္းေပၚေပါက္ေစႏုုိင္မည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ကို တည္ေဆာက္ထားပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၇ ခု၊ ဇူလိုင္လတြင္

PHSH မွ လုုပ္ေဆာင္ခဲ့သည့္ ျပဳျပင္ေျပာင္းလဲမႈ လုုပ္

PHSH သည္ Joint Commissioin International မွ

ငန္းစဥ္မ်ားေၾကာင့္

OUELH နွင့္ မိတ္ဖက္္ဖြဲ႕စည္းခဲ့ျခင္းသည္ ေဆး႐ံုတန္

ခ်ီးျမႇင့္သည့္

ေ႐ႊအဆင့္

ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈပံုစံ၊ လုုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္မႈစနစ္မ်ားနွင့္ ဝန္

ဖိုးကို

ျမင့္တက္ေစၿပီး

အျခားမဟာဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္

ရည္မွန္းခ်က္မွာ

ႏိုင္ငံတကာအသိအမွတ္ျပဳ

၎၏

တီထြင္ဆန္းသစ္ေသာ

Joint Commissioin International Accreditationi

ေဆာင္မႈဆိုင္ရာ နာမည္ဂုဏ္သတင္းကို ျမန္မာနုုိင္ငံ၏

မိတ္ဖက္မ်ားႏွင့္လည္း ပိုမိုလြယ္ကူစြာ လုပ္ကိုင္ႏိုင္ေစ

(JICA)

ႏိုင္ငံတစ္ဝန္းက်ယ္ျပန္႔ေသာ

က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈ ေစ်းကြက္တြင္ ထင္ေပၚ

သည္။ ထိုအေျခအေနမ်ိဳးတြင္ အခ်ိန္ပိုင္းႏွင့္ အခ်ိန္

ေနရာမ်ားအထိ ေရာက္႐ွိရန္အတြက္လည္း “၀န္႐ုိးႏွင့္

ေစမည္ျဖစ္သည္။ PHSH သည္ ဝန္ထမ္းအဆင့္ဆင့္

ျပည့္ အထူးကုပညာ႐ွင္မ်ားျဖင့္ ဖြဲ႕စည္းထားျခင္းျခင္း

ေဒါက္တုိင္” ပုံစံ က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈ စနစ္ျဖင့္

တိုင္းတြင္ လူ႔စြမ္းအားအရင္းအျမစ္ တိုးတက္ေစရန္

သည္ ေရ႐ွည္တြင္အက်ိဳး႐ွိေစၿပီး ဝင္႐ိုးနွင့္ေဒါက္တိုင္

ေဆး႐ုံကြန္ရက္ကုိ တုိးခ်ဲ႕တည္ေဆာက္ျခင္းျဖင့္ ျပည္

ဆက္လက္ရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံသြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

စနစ္ကို ႏုုိင္ငံတစ္ဝန္းတြင္ တည္ေဆာက္နိုင္မည္ဟု

သူမ်ား ေဆးကုသမႈခံယူရာတြင္ အဆင္ေျပလြယ္ကူစြာ

PHSH မွ ယံုၾကည္မႈအျပည့္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

ရယူနုိင္ရန္

ရ႐ိွခဲ့ပါသည္။

သည္

FMI အေနျဖင့္ ပန္းလိႈင္စီလံုေဆး႐ံုက ေစ်းနႈန္းသင့္

လူမႈစီးပြားဆိုင္ရာ ကြဲျပားသည့္ အဆင့္အတန္းအားလံုး

ရည္႐ြယ္ထားပါသည္။

PHSH

တင့္မွ်တၿပီး လူတန္းစားအလႊာအသီးသီးမွ ျပည္သူမ်ား

အတြက္ မွ်တမႈ႐ွိေရး၊ တတ္နိုင္ၿပီး လြယ္လင့္တကူ

အတြက္ က်န္းမာေရးေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈမ်ားကို ေထာက္

ရ႐ွိနုိင္သည့္ က်န္းမာေရးဝန္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားကို ေပးႏုုိင္

ပံ့ေပးနိုင္ၿပီး ေဆး႐ံုေဆးခန္းအားလံုးတြင္လည္း ဝန္

ေရးတို႔အျပင္ ေဆးကုုသရာတြင္ ႐ုုပ္ပိုင္းဆိုင္ရာ၊ ယံု

ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားအား တေျပးညီေပးအပ္နုိင္ လိမ့္မည္ဟု

ၾကည္မႈဆိုင္ရာ၊ စိတ္ပညာပိုင္းဆိုင္ရာ၊ လူမႈေရးဆိုင္

အျပည့္အဝယံုၾကည္ပါသည္။
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Real

Estate
Building Better Communities for
the Future of Myanmar
In 2018, Yoma Land was launched to unify
the real estate businesses of the Yoma
Group under one umbrella brand.
Yoma Land is one of the leading property
developers in Myanmar with a focus
on township projects and the mission

of “Building Better Communities for
the Future of Myanmar”. Being one of
Myanmar’s largest landbanks, Yoma
Land is transforming Yangon’s cityscape
with interests in key developments such
as StarCity, Yoma Central (including The
Peninsula Residences Yangon and Westin
Yangon) and Pun Hlaing Estate. From
urban residential developments to highend luxury offerings, Yoma Land aims to
build sustainable communities that are
attractive, safe and vibrant, while placing
emphasis on innovative designs, building
standards and product range. Current
sectors in which Yoma Land is active
include residential, hotel, office, schools
and retail.
In October 2019, Yoma Land was awarded
the 2019 Best Educational Development
Award for Dulwich College Yangon at the
Myanmar National Real Estate Awards.
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Market Transformation
City Loft

StarCity

In November 2018, Yoma Land expanded
its real estate offering with City Loft, a new
division of modern urban housing offering
a competitive price point combined
with mortgage financing of up to 25
years. The first City Loft development is
being built on a 0.5 million square feet
master-planned site at StarCity. City
Loft will be launched in phases and will
comprise approximately 1,400 units upon
completion. Construction commenced in
March 2019 following a positive response
to the initial launch. As of 30 November
2019, 80% of units across six buildings has
successfully sold out.

StarCity is a 135-acre residential
development in Thanlyin Township
and is the only large-scale residential
development located near the Thilawa
Special Economic Zone (“SEZ”). StarCity is
expected to feature approximately 10,000
homes and 1.7 million square feet of
commercial space upon completion. Yoma
Land had sold more than 2,000 apartments
in StarCity as at 30 September 2019.

The project will showcase modern urban
housing at a competitive price point,
with a masterplan including commercial,
communal and recreational areas. The
development of City Loft is very much in
line with Yoma Land’s wider mission - to
Build Better Communities for the Future
of Myanmar.

Yoma Central and the Peninsula Yangon
Built on an approximately 10-acre site in the heart of downtown
Yangon, Yoma Central is a mixed-use development designed by
prominent architect Cecil Balmond OBE. The development will
feature ultra-modern towers juxtaposed against the heritage
architecture of the colonial-era Myanma Railways Building. Yoma
Central will comprise of The Peninsula Residences Yangon, two
Grade A office towers and the Westin Yangon which will feature
a wellness centric hotel and serviced apartments. The site will be
anchored by the former headquarters of the Myanma Railways,
which is being meticulously restored into The Peninsula Yangon,
a luxury hotel that will bring a new level of distinction to the
Myanmar hospitality scene.
In May 2019, Yoma Central obtained an Environmental Compliance
Certificate from the Environment Conservation Department.
In October 2019, Marriott International signed a landmark
agreement to bring the Westin brand to Myanmar as a part of the
Yoma Central Project.
The management is looking towards bringing in innovative
development plans to these projects, which will be beneficial to
the broader community. With more banks offering mortgages
and the liberalisation of interest rates from the CBM, FMI believes
there may be a breakthrough in Myanmar’s real estate and
property development sector.

As part of Yoma Land’s effort to build up its
recurring rental income and tap into the
more robust serviced apartment sector,
200 units in Galaxy Tower 2, Tower 4 and
the remainder of StarCity Zone C have
been transformed from development
properties to investment properties.
Yoma Land’s existing rental driver is
Star Residence, which is a popular rental
option for expatriates and multinational
corporations.
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First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Yoma Land
၂၀၁၈ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ အိိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္

ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ Yoma Land သည္ ရန္ကုန္ၿမိဳ႕ကို အႀကီး

ဆယ္၌ Yoma Land ၏ တည္ေဆာက္ေရး လုုပ္ငန္း

တည္ေဆာက္ေရး

စား အိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္း (၃)ခုု ျဖစ္ေသာ StarCity ၊ Yoma

မ်ားတြင္ လူေနအိမ္ရာမ်ား၊ ဟုိတယ္မ်ား၊ ႐ုံးခန္းမ်ား၊

Central ႏွင့္ Pun Hlaing Estate တို႔ျဖင့္ ျပဳျပင္

ေက်ာင္းမ်ားႏွင့္ ေစ်းဆုိင္ခန္းမ်ား ပါ၀င္ပါသည္။

လုပ္ငန္းမ်ားအားလံုးကိုစုေပါင္း၍

Yoma Land ဟု သတ္မွတ္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

ေျပာင္းလဲမႈမ်ား ျပဳလုုပ္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။ ၿမိဳ႕ျပအိမ္ရာ
Yoma Land သည္ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံတြင္ ေ႐ွ႕ေဆာင္အိမ္

ေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရးမွသည္ အဆင့္ျမင့္ ဇိမ္ခံ

၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္၊ ေအာက္တုိဘာလတြင္ Yoma Land သည္

ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္သူအျဖစ္

ရပ္္တည္လ်က္

အိမ္ရာမ်ားအထိ Yoma Land သည္ ေဘးကင္းလံုၿခံဳၿပီး

ျမန္မာအမ်ိဳးသား အိမ္ရာတည္ေဆာက္ေရးလုပ္ငန္းမွ

႐ိွပါသည္။ ၿမိဳ႕နယ္တစ္ခုနွင့္တူေသာ အိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္း

တက္ႂကြမႈ႐ွိ၍ ဆြဲေဆာင္မႈ႐ွိေသာ၊ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့

ခ်ီးျမႇင့္ေသာ ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္ အေကာင္းဆုံး ပညာေရးဖြံ႕

မ်ားကို အာ႐ံုစိုက္လုပ္ေဆာင္ၿပီး အနာဂတ္ျပည္သူမ်ား

ခိုင္ၿမဲသည့္ လူမႈအသိုက္အဝန္းမ်ားကို တည္ေဆာက္

ၿဖိဳးတည္ေဆာက္မႈဆုကို Dulwich College အတြက္

အတြက္ ပုိမုိေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ လူမႈ၀န္းက်င္အားတည္

ရန္ ရည္႐ြယ္ပါသည္။ တီထြင္ဖန္တီးမႈ႐ွိေသာ ဒီဇိုင္း

ခ်ီးျမႇင့္ျခင္းခံရပါသည္။

ေဆာက္ျခင္းဟူေသာ ရည္႐ြယ္ခ်က္ျဖင့္ လုပ္ေဆာင္

မ်ား၊ အေဆာက္အအံု စံနႈန္းမ်ားနွင့္ အမ်ိဳးအစားစံုလင္

ေနသည့္ Yoma Land သည္ ျမန္မာႏုုိင္ငံ၏ ထိပ္တန္း

ေသာ

အိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္သည့္

တည္ေဆာက္ရန္လည္း ရည္႐ြယ္ပါသည္။ ေလာေလာ

ကုမၸဏီတစ္ခု

အိမ္ရာတိုက္ခန္းမ်ားကို

အထူးအေလးထား
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ေစ်းကြက္ ျပဳျပင္ေျပာင္းလဲျခင္း
City Loft
၂၀၁၈ ခုုနွစ္၊ ႏိုဝင္ဘာလတြင္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုသည္
အိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ေဆာက္မႈ

အသစ္တစ္ခုျဖစ္

ေသာ ေခတ္မီ City Loft အိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္းအသစ္ကို
တန္ဖိုးသင့္ၿပီး (၂၅) ႏွစ္အထိ အိမ္ရာေခ်းေငြရယူနိုင္
ေသာ ေငြေပးေခ်မႈပံုစံျဖင့္ စတင္မိတ္ဆက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။
ပထမ City Loft စီမံကိန္းကို StarCity ၏ (၀.၅) သန္း
စတုုရန္းေပ႐ွိေသာ ေျမေနရာတြင္ တည္ေဆာက္မည္
ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ တိုက္ခန္း စုုစုေပါင္း (၁,၄၀၀)ကို အဆင့္
မ်ားခြဲၿပီး တည္ေဆာက္သြားပါမည္။ ကနဦးေရာင္းခ်မႈ
မ်ားတြင္ ေကာင္းမြန္ေသာရလဒ္မ်ား ထြက္ေပၚလာခဲ့
ေသာေၾကာင့္ ေဆာက္လုပ္ေရးလုုပ္ငန္းမ်ားကို ၂၀၁၉
ခုႏွစ္၊

မတ္လတြင္

စတင္

ေဆာက္လုပ္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္၊ နိုဝင္ဘာလ (၃၀) ရက္ေန႔အထိ ေရာင္းခ်
ခဲ့ေသာ အေဆာက္အဦ (၆)လံုး၏ ၈၀% ေသာ အခန္း
မ်ားကို ေအာင္ျမင္စြာေရာင္းခ်ခဲ့ၿပီး ျဖစ္ပါသည္။
ထိုစီမံကိန္းသည္ တန္ဖိုးသင့္ အိမ္ရာစီမံကိန္းျဖစ္ၿပီး
စီးပြားေရးသံုးေနရာမ်ား၊ လူအမ်ားစုေ၀းရာႏွင့္ အပန္း
ေျဖေနရာမ်ားပါ႐ိွသျဖင့္ အနာဂတ္ျပည္သူမ်ားအတြက္

Yoma Central နွင့္ The Peninsula Yangon

ပိုမိုေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ လူမႈဝန္းက်င္အား တည္ေဆာက္
ျခင္းဟူသည့္ Yoma Land ၏ ရည္မွန္းခ်က္ႏွင့္လည္း

Yoma Central သည္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ အထင္ကရ အိမ္

Yangon ကို

ကိုက္ညီမႈ႐ိွပါသည္။

ရာစီမံကိန္းတစ္ခုျဖစ္ၿပီး ရန္ကုန္ၿမိဳ႕လယ္ေခါင္႐ွိ ေျမ

နွင့္ ေခတ္မီအစိတ္အပုုိင္းမ်ားကို မွ်တစြာေပါင္းစပ္ၿပီး

(၁၀)ဧကေပၚတြင္

တည္ေဆာက္သြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

StarCity

တည္ေဆာက္သြားမည္ျဖစ္သည္။

ေ႐ွးေဟာင္းသမိုင္းဝင္ အေမြအနစ္မ်ား

နာမည္ေက်ာ္ ဗိသုကာပညာ႐ွင္ “Cecil Balmond
OBE” မွ ဒီဇုိင္းေရးဆဲြထားၿပီး ေ႐ွးေဟာင္းဗိသုကာ

၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္၊ ေမလတြင္ Yoma Central သည္

StarCity သည္ သန္လ်င္ၿမိဳ႕နယ္တြင္တည္႐ွိ၍ (၁၃၅)

လက္ရာျဖစ္ေသာ ျမန္မာ့မီးရထား႐ုံးခ်ဳပ္ အေဆာက္

သဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္ ထိန္းသိမ္းေရးဦးစီးဌာနမွ သ

ဧက က်ယ္၀န္းၿပီး သီလ၀ါအထူးစီးပြားေရးဇုန္ (SEZ)

အအုံႏွင့္

ေခတ္မီအဆင့္ျမင့္တာ၀ါမ်ားကုိ တစ္ခုႏွင့္

ဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္ႏွင့္ လိုက္ေလ်ာညီေထြစြာ တည္

အနီးအနား႐ွိ တစ္ခုတည္းေသာ အႀကီးဆုံးအိမ္ရာစီမံ

တစ္ခု ျခားနားမႈေပၚလြင္ေစရန္ သဘာဝပတ္ဝန္းက်င္

ေဆာက္ႏုိင္မႈ အသိအမွတ္ျပဳလက္မွတ္ ရ႐ွိခဲ့ပါသည္။

ကိန္းတစ္ခုျဖစ္ပါသည္။ StarCity အိမ္ရာကုိ ေဆာက္

နွင့္

ဗိသုကာဒီဇိုင္းျဖင့္

၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္ ေအာက္တုိဘာလတြင္ Yoma Central

လုပ္မႈ ၿပီးစီးခ်ိန္တြင္ အိမ္ခန္းေပါင္း (၁၀,၀၀၀) ခန္႔ႏွင့္

ဖန္တီးထားသည့္ စီမံကိန္းတစ္ခု ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ယင္း

စီမံကိန္း၏ အစိတ္အပုိင္းတစ္ရပ္အေနျဖင့္ Westin

စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္းမ်ားအတြက္

ဧရိယာစတုရန္းေပ

စီမံကိန္းတြင္ Peninsula အမွတ္တံဆိပ္ အဆင့္ျမင့္

အမွတ္တံဆိပ္အား

ခန္႔မွန္းထားပါသည္။

လူေနအိမ္ခန္းမ်ား၊ Grade A အဆင့္႐ွိ ႐ုံးခန္းမ်ားပါ

Marriott International ႏွင့္ သေဘာတူလက္မွတ္

၂၀၁၉ ခုုႏွစ္၊ စက္တင္ဘာလ (၃၀)ရက္ေန႔ အခ်က္အ

ဝင္ေသာ တာဝါ(၂)ခု၊ ဟုိတယ္တစ္လုံးႏွင့္ ၀န္ေဆာင္

ေရးထုိးခဲ့ပါသည္။

လက္မ်ားအရ StarCity တြင္ တိုက္ခန္းေပါင္း (၂,၀၀၀)

မႈမ်ားပါ႐ွိေသာ

ေက်ာ္ကို ေရာင္းခ်ၿပီးျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ေဆာက္အအံုအားလံုးကို

(၁.၇)သန္းထိ

႐ွိလာမည္ဟု

လိုက္ေလ်ာညီေထြမႈ႐ွိေသာ

လူေနအိမ္ခန္းမ်ားပါ႐ွိၿပီး

ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံသုိ႔

ယူေဆာင္ရန္

ယင္းအ

လက္လီအေရာင္းဆိုင္ခန္း

FMI အေနျဖင့္ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈအဖြဲ႕သည္ တီထြင္ဖန္တီး

တြဲတစ္ခုႏွင့္ ဆက္စပ္ေပါင္းကူးထားမည္ ျဖစ္သည္။

မႈမ်ားကုိအေျချပဳလ်က္

Yoma Land သည္ ေရ႐ွည္တြင္ ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈေပးသည့္

ဤစီမံကိန္းေနရာ႐ွိ မီးရထား႐ံုးခ်ဳပ္အေဟာင္းကို The

ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတိုးတက္ေစရန္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္႐ွိၿပီး ပိုမိုက်ယ္

တိုက္ခန္းမ်ားမွ ငွားရမ္းခဝင္ေငြမ်ား ရ႐ွိရန္ Galaxy

Peninsula Yangon အမည္႐ွိ ေခတ္မီ ဇိမ္ခံဟိုတယ္

ျပန္႔ေသာ လူမႈအသိုက္အဝန္းအတြက္ အက်ိဳးေက်းဇူး

Tower 2 ၊ Tower 4 ႐ိွ တိုက္ခန္းေပါင္း (၂၀၀) ႏွင့္

အျဖစ္ ျပဳျပင္တည္ေဆာက္သြားမည္ျဖစ္ၿပီး ျမန္မာဟို

မ်ား ျဖစ္ထြန္းနိုင္ေစရန္ ရည္႐ြယ္ပါသည္။ ဘဏ္အမ်ား

StarCity Zone C တို႔႐ွိ ေရာင္းရန္က်န္႐ွိေနေသာ အခန္း

တယ္က႑၏ အဆင့္အတန္းအသစ္တစ္ရပ္ကို ျမင္

စုသည္ ယခုုအခါတြင္ အိမ္ေခ်းေငြမ်ား ထုုတ္ေပးေနၿပီး

မ်ားကို အိမ္ရာေဖာ္ထုတ္တည္ ေဆာက္ေရးလုုပ္ငန္းမွ

ေတြ႕ၾကရမည္ျဖစ္သည္။ ေနထိုင္သူမ်ားအေနျဖင့္ အ

ျမန္မာႏုုိင္ငံေတာ္ဗဟိုဘဏ္ကလည္း

ရင္းနွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈ

ပန္းေျဖ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ား၊ အဆင့္ျမင့္ေစ်း၀ယ္ စင္တာ

ကို ေျဖေလ်ာ့ေပးေနသျဖင့္ ျမန္မာနုုိင္ငံ၏ အိမ္ရာေဖာ္

Yoma Land ၏ Star Residence သည္ ႏုုိင္ငံတကာ

ႏွင့္

ရ႐ိွမည္ျဖစ္သည္။

ထုုတ္တည္ေဆာက္ေရးက႑သည္ မၾကာမီအနာဂတ္

ေကာ္ပိုေရး႐ွင္းမ်ားနွင့္

ႏုုိင္ငံျခားကၽြမ္းက်င္ပညာ႐ွင္

Peninsula အမွတ္တံဆိပ္၏ နာမည္ေက်ာ္နည္းပညာ

ကာလတြင္ ေနာက္ထပ္တဖန္ တ႐ွိန္ထိုးတိုးတက္လိမ့္

မ်ားအၾကား ေရပန္းစားေနသည့္အတြက္ လက္႐ွိတြင္

နွင့္ ခ့ံညားထည္ဝါမႈမ်ားျဖင့္ Peninsula Residence

မည္ဟု FMI က ယံုၾကည္ပါသည္။

လုုပ္ငန္းအျဖစ္သို႔

ေျပာင္းလဲခဲ့သည္။

ငွားရမ္းခဝင္ေငြကို အဓိက႐ွာေဖြေပးေနေသာ အိမ္ရာ
တစ္ခုျဖစ္ပါသည္။

အျခား၀န္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားကို

အဆိုပါ

စီမံကိန္းမ်ားအား

အတိုးနႈန္းမ်ား
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Tourism
Explore, Embrace and Experience
Myanmar with Memories Group
Memories Group’s Integrated Tourism Platform offers a range of quality products and
services under a cohesive brand overseen by an internationally experienced team
comprising both expatriates and Myanmar nationals. Memories Group has a strong
international network and brand recognition through its well-established international
sales and representative channels. Comprising three business segments – Hotels,
Experiences, and Services – Memories Group’s strategy is to leverage its first-mover
advantage and further establish its position as a leading tourism company in Myanmar.

Hotels
Memories Group currently owns five properties across five major destinations in Myanmar.
The Awei Collection features Awei Metta – a chic, urban golf resort in Yangon – and Awei
Pila – a private island resort on the exotic Pila Island in the Mergui Archipelago.

The Keinnara Collection includes Keinnara Hpa-An and Keinnara Loikaw, both offering
rustic eco-boutique lodges equipped with modern facilities.

The Suggati Collection which includes the Hotel Suggati in Mawlamyaing provides a vibrant
yet professional environment in which business travellers can enjoy affordable comfort
alongside modern business amenities.
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Experiences
Balloons Over Bagan, Balloons
Over Inle & Balloon Safaris
Long considered an iconic Myanmar
tourism experience, Balloons Over
Bagan’s famous burgundy coloured
balloons have been offering tourists a
unique perspective on Myanmar and
its people for the past 20 years. With 14
balloons now flying over Bagan and Inle,
Memories Group is the largest commercial
hot-air balloon operator in Myanmar.

Burma Boating

Services

Burma Boating creates sensational
sailing expeditions in southern Myanmar,
providing the ultimate way to explore the
many uncharted islands of the Mergui
Archipelago. It owns and operates the
85-foot, four-cabin Meta IV yacht and has
partnership arrangements with several
other yachts to offer a wide range of
charter options including private charter.

Memories Travel (Asia Holidays Travels & Tours Company Limited) comprises travel and
destination management. It provides full-scale and personalised tour services including
designing and organising fully customised itineraries and tour packages for agencies and
individuals, as well as customising unique excursions, activities and cultural experiences
for travellers. Memories Travel is committed to enabling its customers to fully immerse
themselves in Myanmar’s culture and truly experience the local way of life.

The brand has been rated ‘excellent’
on TripAdvisor by many explorers
and has been featured in renowned
travel magazines and publications
such as National Geographic Traveler,
Travel+Leisure, Condé Nast Traveller and
DestinAsian.

Strategic Outlook
Memories Group has developed and will continue to develop new and exciting hotels,
resorts and lodges throughout the country’s major tourist and business destinations.
A new initiative includes managing hotels and resorts for owners who are looking to
streamline their operations and benefit from Memories Group’s management expertise.
FMI believes that Memories Group's strategic approach to driving the Myanmar tourism
market is going in the right direction and expects the business to achieve sustainable
results in the long-run.
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Memories Group
Memories Group ၏ ပူးေပါင္းထားသည့္ ခရီးသြား
လာမႈအစီအစဥ္သည္

ျပည္ပမွျပန္လည္ေရာက္႐ွိလာ

သူမ်ားနွင့္ ျပည္တြင္းမွ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံသားမ်ား ပူးေပါင္း
ထားေသာ ႏုိင္ငံတကာအေတြ႕အႀကဳံ႐ွိ အဖဲြ႕အစည္းမွ
ႀကီးၾကပ္ကာ အရည္အေသြးအဆင့္အတန္းမီ ခရီးစဥ္
မ်ားႏွင့္ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ားကို ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပးလ်က္႐ွိပါ
သည္။ Memories Group သည္ ႏိုင္ငံတကာ ဟုိတယ္
အုပ္စုႏွင့္

ေကာင္းမြန္ေသာခ်ိတ္ဆက္မႈ႐ွိၿပီး

၎၏

ႏုိင္ငံတကာတြင္ ကာလၾကာျမင့္စြာ အေျခစုိက္ထား
သည့္ အေရာင္းႏွင့္ ကိုယ္စားလွယ္မ်ားေၾကာင့္လည္း
နာမည္ေကာင္းရ႐ွိ ထားပါသည္။ ဟုိတယ္မ်ား၊ အေတြ႕
အႀကဳံမ်ားႏွင့္ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈလုပ္ငန္း အပုိင္း (၃)ခုကုိ ပူး
ေပါင္းထားသည့္ Memories Group ၏ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာ
သည္ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ၌ ထိပ္တန္းခရီးသြားလုပ္ငန္းတစ္ခု
ျဖစ္လာေစရန္ အ႐ွိန္ျမႇင့္လုပ္ေဆာင္သြားပါမည္။

ဟုိတယ္မ်ား
Memories Group သည္ ျမန္မာႏုိင္ငံ႐ွိ အေရးပါေသာ
ခရီးသြားေဒသ (၅)ခုတြင္ ဟုိတယ္ (၅)ခုကုိ ပုိင္ဆုိင္
ထားပါသည္။
အေ၀ဟုိတယ္အုပ္စုတြင္ အေ၀ေမတၱာ သည္ ရန္ကုန္
ၿမိဳ႕တြင္ ေခတ္မီအပန္းေျဖေဂါက္ကြင္းပါေသာ ဟိုတယ္
ႏွင့္ အေ၀ဖီလာ သည္ ၿမိတ္ကၽြန္းစု႐ွိ ထူးျခားဆန္းျပား
ေသာ ဖီလာကၽြန္းေပၚတြင္ ကုိယ္ပုိင္အပန္းေျဖစခန္း
တစ္ခု ျဖစ္္ပါသည္။
ကိႏၷရာဟုိတယ္အုပ္စုတြင္ ကိႏၷရာဘားအံ ႏွင့္ ကိႏၷရာ
လိြဳင္ေကာ္ တုိ႔ပါ၀င္ပါသည္။ ဤ ဟုိတယ္အုပ္စု သည္
ေခတ္မီအသုံးအေဆာင္ပစၥည္းမ်ား တပ္ဆင္ထားသည့္
သဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္

ထိိန္းသိမ္းေစာင့္ေ႐ွာက္မႈအား

လုိက္နာကာ ေက်းလက္ဆန္ေသာ တည္းခုိအိမ္ငယ္
မ်ားျဖင့္ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈေပးထားပါသည္။
သုဂတိ ဟုိတယ္အုပ္စုသည္ စိမ္းလန္းစုိေျပသည့္ ပတ္
၀န္းက်င္တစ္ခု ဖန္တီးေပးထားကာ ယင္းပတ္၀န္းက်င္
၌ စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္း႐ွင္ ခရီးသြားမ်ားအေနျဖင့္ စီးပြား
ေရးကိစၥမ်ားေဆာင္႐ြက္ရင္း
အပန္းေျဖႏုိင္ပါသည္။

ေခတ္မီစိတ္ခ်မ္းသာစြာ
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ခရီးစဥ္မ်ားကို အျခားေသာ ႐ြက္ေလွမ်ားႏွင့္ မိတ္ဖက္
သေဘာတူညီခ်က္မ်ား ျပဳလုုပ္ထားၿပီး ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈ

Balloons Over Bagan ၊ Balloons Over Inle ႏွင့္
Balloon Safaris

ေပးလ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။
Burma Boating အမွတ္တံဆိပ္သည္ TripAdvisor

ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ၏ ထင္႐ွားသည့္ ခရီးသြားလာေရး အေတြ႕

အင္တာနက္ စာမ်က္ႏွာတြင္ ခရီးသြားအမ်ားအျပားက

အႀကံဳမ်ားဟုု သတ္မွတ္ခံထားရသည့္ Balloons Over

အေကာင္းဆံုး (Excellent) အဆင့္ေပးအပ္သတ္မွတ္

Bagan ၏ နာမည္ေက်ာ္ အနီေရာင္မိႈင္းမိႈင္း မိုးပ်ံ

ျခင္းကိုခံရၿပီး အျခားေသာနာမည္ေက်ာ္ ခရီးသြားလာ

ပူေဖာင္းႀကီးမ်ားသည္

(၂၀)

ေရး မဂၢဇင္းမ်ားျဖစ္ေသာ National Geographic

ေက်ာ္အတြင္း ျမန္မာႏုုိင္ငံ၏ ထူးျခားေသာ႐ႈျမင္ကြင္း

Traveler ၊ Travel+Leisure ၊ Condé Nast Traveller

မ်ားကို ခရီးသြားမ်ားခံစားႏိုင္ရန္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပးလ်က္

ႏွင့္ DestinAsian တို႔တြင္လည္း ဂုုဏ္ျပဳေဖာ္ျပျခင္း ခံခဲ့

႐ွိပါသည္။ ယခုုအခါ မိုးပ်ံပူေဖာင္းေပါင္း (၁၄)ခုုျဖင့္

ရပါသည္။

လြန္ခဲ့ေသာႏွစ္ေပါင္း

ပ်ံသန္းလ်က္႐ွိသည့္ Memories Group သည္ ျမန္
မာနုုိင္ငံတြင္ အႀကီးမားဆံုးစီးပြားျဖစ္ မိုးပ်ံပူေဖာင္းလုုပ္

ဝန္ေဆာင္မႈမ်ား

ငန္း လုုပ္ကိုင္သူျဖစ္ပါသည္။
Memories Travel (Asia Holidays Travels & Tours)

Burma Boating

သည္ ခရီးသြားလာေရးနွင့္ ခရီးသြားေနရာမ်ား အား
စီမံခန္႔ခြဲသည့္ ကုုမၸဏီျဖစ္ပါသည္။ Memories Travel

ျမန္မာႏုုိင္ငံေတာင္ဘက္စြန္းတြင္ ႐ြက္လႊင့္အေတြ႕အ

သည္

ႀကံဳမ်ားကို ေပးအပ္လ်က္႐ွိေသာ Burma Boating

အတြက္ ခရီသြားမ်ားအႀကိဳက္ ခရီးစဥ္မ်ားႏွင့္ အုပ္စုဖဲြ႕

ေအဂ်င္စီမ်ားႏွင့္

တစ္ဦးခ်င္းခရီးသြားမ်ား

အေပ်ာ္ခရီးသြား ႐ြက္လႊင့္လုပ္ငန္းသည္ ၿမိတ္ကၽြန္းစုု

ခရီးစဥ္မ်ားကုိ အရည္အခ်င္းျပည့္၀၍ ခရီးသြားအေတြ႕

အတြင္း ယခင္က လူသူမသိေသးေသာ မ်ားျပားလွ

အႀကဳံ႐ွိသူမ်ားႏွင့္ ၀န္ေဆာင္မႈေပးလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

ေသာ ကၽြန္းမ်ားကို ေလ့လာစူးစမ္းနုုိင္သည့္ အေကာင္း

ပို႔ေဆာင္ေရး၊ ယဥ္ေက်းမႈဆိုင္ရာ အေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ားမွ

ဆံုးနည္းလမ္းပင္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ (၈၅) ေပ အ႐ွည္႐ွိေသာ

စ၍ အပန္းေျဖလႈပ္႐ွားမႈမ်ားအထိ အေသးစိတ္ဂ႐ုုစိုက္

ေလးခန္းတြဲပါ Meta IV ႐ြက္ေလွတစ္စီးကို ေျပးဆြဲ

ၿပီး ျမန္မာႏုုိင္ငံလူေနမႈဘဝကို အမွန္တကယ္ခံစားနိုင္

လ်က္႐ွိၿပီး သီးသန္႔ခရီးစဥ္အပါအဝင္ အမ်ိဳးမ်ိဳးေသာ

ေစရန္အတြက္ စီစဥ္ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပးလ်က္ ႐ွိပါသည္။

မဟာဗ်ဴဟာေမွ်ာ္မွန္းခ်က္
Memories Group သည္ ေခတ္မီ၍ စိတ္လႈပ္႐ွားေပ်ာ္စ
ရာေကာင္းေသာ ဟုိတယ္မ်ား၊ အပန္းေျဖစခန္းမ်ားႏွင့္
တည္းခုိခန္းမ်ားကို ႏုိင္ငံတစ္၀န္း ကမ ၻာလွည့္ခရီးသြား
မ်ားႏွင့္ စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္း႐ွင္မ်ား အဓိကသြားေရာက္
ရာေဒသမ်ားတြင္

ဆက္လက္

တိုးခ်ဲ႕တည္ေဆာက္

သြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ပဏာမေျခ လွမ္းသစ္အျဖစ္
ေဆာင္႐ြက္ရာတြင္ Memories Group ၏ စီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈ
ကၽြမ္းက်င္သူမ်ားထံမွ အေတြ႕အႀကဳံေကာင္းမ်ား ရယူ
ႏုိင္ရန္ႏွင္႔ ၎တုိ႔၏ လုပ္ငန္းမ်ားအား ထိေရာက္တြက္
ေျခကုိက္သည့္ စနစ္ကုိအသုံးျပဳႏုိင္ရန္ ႐ွာေဖြေနၾက
ေသာ

ဟုိတယ္ပုိင္႐ွင္မ်ားအတြက္

ဟုိတယ္မ်ားနွင့္

အပန္းေျဖ စခန္းမ်ားကုိ စီမံခန္႔ခဲြျခင္းလုပ္ငန္း ပါ၀င္ပါ
သည္။
Memories Group သည္ ျမန္မာႏိုင္ငံ၏ ခရီးသြားလာ
ေရးလုုပ္ငန္းနယ္ပယ္ကို

ႏိုင္ငံတကာႏွင့္ ရင္ေဘာင္

တန္းႏိုင္ရန္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေန႐ံုမွ်မက ေရ႐ွည္တြင္လည္း
တည္ၿမဲေသာ စီးပြားေရးအက်ိဳးရလဒ္မ်ား ရ႐ိွနိုင္ရန္
မဟာဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ႏိုင္မည္ဟု FMI က
ယံုၾကည္ပါသည္။
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Strategic

Investments

Committed To Bringing You
Only The Best

Transforming Agriculture for
the future of Myanmar

FMIDecaux Company Limited (“FMIDecaux”) is a joint venture
between FMI and JCDecaux Asia (S) Pte. Ltd. (“JCDecaux”), the
number one outdoor advertising company worldwide. JCDecaux
owns a 60% stake and FMI a 40% stake in FMIDecaux.

FMI maintains a 30% interest in Myanmar Agri-Tech Limited
(“MAGT”) which owns the planting rights to the Maw Tin Estate and
Sein Taung Estate near Pathein. Currently, there is a coffee project
at Maw Tin with a commercial trial plantation area of 300 acres
of lowland Robusta coffee trees that were planted 5 years ago. A
total of 3,000 acres was surveyed for its feasibility to scale up the
commercial coffee plantation based on the results achieved from
the current trial plantation.

In early 2018, FMIDecaux was made the exclusive operator for
advertising bus shelters and city information panels in Yangon. It
plans to build 500 bus shelters and 500 city information panels
across Yangon. As at the end of September 2019, FMIDecaux has
installed 340 bus shelters and 262 city information panels.
FMIDecaux continues to create new job opportunities in operation
and maintenance and has a mission to beautify the urban city
landscape and contribute to the public transportation system in
the city at zero cost to the Yangon government and its people.

Additionally, trial plantation and feasibility studies are also
being undertaken for natural rubber, forest tree plantations and
contract farming of hybrid rice production as potential investment
projects.
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FMIDecaux

Myanmar Agri-Tech Limited

FMIDecaux ကုမၸဏီသည္ FMI ႏွင့္ ကမ ၻာ့နံပါတ္တစ္

FMI သည္ Myanmar Agri-Tech Limited (MAGT)

ျပင္ပေၾကာ္ျငာလုုပ္ငန္း JCDecaux Asia (S) Pte Ltd.

၏ အစုု႐ွယ္ယာ ၃၀% ကို ဆက္လက္ပိုင္ဆိုင္ထားၿပီး

ကုမၸဏီတို႔ပူးေပါင္း၍ တည္ေထာင္ထားေသာ ဖက္စပ္

၎သည္ ပုသိမ္ၿမိဳ႕အနီး ေမာ္တင္စိုက္ခင္းႏွင့္ စိန္

ကုမၸဏီျဖစ္ၿပီး JCDecaux မွ ၆၀% ႏွင့္ FMI မွ ၄၀%

ေတာင္စိုက္ခင္းတို႔တြင္ သစ္ပင္စိုက္ပ်ိဳးခြင့္ကို ရ႐ွိထား

အစုရွယ္ယာ ရင္းႏွီးထည့္၀င္ထားသည့္ ကုမၸဏီျဖစ္

ပါသည္။ ေမာ္တင္ေဒသ႐ွိ ဧက (၃၀၀) ခန္႔႐ွိသည့္ စဦး

ပါသည္။ FMIDecaux သည္ ရန္ကုန္ၿမိဳ႕တြင္ ေခတ္မီ

စိုက္ပ်ိဳးေျမဧရိယာေပၚတြင္ေရာ္ဘတ္စတာ (Robusta

ဘတ္စ္ကားမွတ္တုိင္မ်ားႏွင့္ ၿမိဳ႕ေတာ္သတင္းအခ်က္

Coffee) ေကာ္ဖီပင္မ်ားကုုိ လြန္ခဲ့သည့္ (၅) ႏွစ္ခန္႔က

အလက္မ်ားကုိေဖာ္ျပသည့္ ဆုိင္းဘုတ္မ်ား (CIPs)

စိုက္ပ်ိဳးခဲ့သည္။ လက္႐ွိ စမ္းသပ္စိုက္ပ်ိဳးေနေသာ စိုက္

တည္ေဆာက္ လုပ္ကုိင္ခြင့္ကုိ ၂၀၁၈ ခုႏွစ္၊ နွစ္ဦးပုိင္း

ခင္းမ်ားထဲမွရ႐ွိလာေသာ

ကာလတြင္ ရ႐ွိခဲ့ပါသည္။ FMIDecaux ကုမၸဏီသည္

ေကာ္ဖီစိုက္ခင္းကို ဧက (၃,၀၀၀) အထိ တိုးခ်ဲ႕ရန္စစ္

ေခတ္မီ ဘတ္စ္ကားမွတ္တုိင္ (၅၀၀) ႏွင့္ CIP (၅၀၀)

ေဆးမႈမ်ားျပဳလုုပ္ လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

ရလဒ္မ်ားအရ

စီးပြားျဖစ္

ကုိ တည္ေဆာက္သြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္
စက္တင္ဘာလကုန္အထိ FMIDecaux သည္ ဘတ္စ္

ျဖစ္နိုင္ေျခ႐ွိေသာ

ကားမွတ္တုိင္ (၃၄၀) ႏွင့္ CIP (၂၆၂) ခုကုိ တည္

သဘာဝရာဘာႏွင့္ သစ္ပင္စိုက္ခင္းမ်ားအား စမ္းသပ္

ေဆာက္ၿပီး ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

စို္က္ပ်ိဳးမႈႏွင့္ ေလ့လာသံုးသပ္မႈမ်ားအား ျပဳလုုပ္လ်က္
႐ွိပါသည္။

FMIDecaux သည္ ရန္ကုန္ၿမိဳ႕ အစိုးရနွင့္ျပည္သူမ်ား
ထံမွ ကုုန္က်စရိတ္မ႐ွိဘဲ ၿမိဳ႕အေနအထားလွပေစရန္၊
ရန္ကုန္ၿမိဳ႕၏ သယ္ယူပို႔ေဆာင္ေရးစနစ္ကို ေထာက္ပံ့
ေပးႏုိုင္ရန္နွင့္ လုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္မႈႏွင့္ ျပဳျပင္ထိန္းသိမ္း
မႈမ်ားျဖင့္ အလုုပ္အကိုင္အသစ္မ်ား ဖန္တီးေပးနုုိင္ရန္
ရည္႐ြယ္၍ ေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈစီမံကိန္းမ်ားအတြက္
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Governance &

Sustainability
Our Path to the Summit
Our business is built on a foundation of transparency and good
corporate governance. This path has separated us from the
competition and guided us to our current position as a leading
blue-chip company in Myanmar.

Sunrise Sin Phyu Taung in Kayah State
Photography by Ko Ko Lay
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Corporate Governance

Report

The Group is committed to good
corporate governance and managing its
affairs in a fair and transparent manner
to create long-term sustainable value
for the Company’s shareholders and the
wider community through ethical and
responsible business practices.

This report describes the Company's
Corporate
Governance
Framework,
Policies, Procedures and Standards
(collectively the “Code”) adopted by the
Group during FY Sep2019.

Governance Structure

Shareholders

.....

Board Matters
The Board's Conduct of Affairs
FMI's management team ("Management")
remains accountable to the Board, and is
responsible for the day-to-day operations
and administration of the Company in
accordance with the policies and strategy
set by the Board. The Company also has
designated CEOs responsible for some
of its respective subsidiaries. In support
of this, the Board has established a
framework of effective risk management
that allows it to assess and manage the
risks associated with the Company’s
businesses.

Responsibilities of the Board
of Directors
Board of Directors

Board Committee

a) providing entrepreneurial leadership,
setting strategic objectives and
ensuring that the necessary financial
and human resources are in place for
the Company to meet its objectives;

Management

Group
Shared
Resources

Corporate
Functions

Myanmar’s Most
Transparent Company
FMI ranked #2, 2019

The principal responsibilities of the Board
include:

Our
Entities

•
•
•
•
•

Yoma Bank
Pun Hlaing Siloam Hospitals
Memories Group
Yoma Land
Strategic Investments

Highlights of
Governance
Achievements

Myanmar’s Best
Disclosure Practice
Award 2019
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b) establishing a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed, including the safeguarding
of shareholders’ interests and the Company’s assets;
c)

reviewing Management’s performance;

d) identifying the key stakeholder groups and recognising that their perceptions affect the Group's reputation;
e) setting the Group’s values and standards (including ethical standards);
f)

ensuring that obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met; and

g) considering sustainability issues, such as environmental and social factors, as part of its strategic formulation.

Delegation by the Board
There is a clear separation of roles and responsibilities in the Board so that no one individual represents a considerable concentration
of power. The Audit and Risk Management Committee (“ARMC”), Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”, and
collectively, the “Board Committees”) comprised Non-Executive Directors only.

Board and Board Committees meetings
Between April and September of FY 2019, the number of the Board and Board Committees meetings held and the attendance of each
Director, are disclosed as below:

Board
Meeting

Audit & Risk
Management
Committee Meeting

Nominating
Committee
Meeting

Remuneration
Committee
Meeting

Annual
General
Meeting

2

1

1

1

1

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

2

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

1

U Tun Tun

2

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

1

Daw Zarchi Tin *

2

N.A.

N.A.

N.A.

1

U Myat Thin Aung

2

N.A.

N.A.

1

1

U Than Aung

2

1

1

N.A.

1

Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint

2

1

N.A.

1

1

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet

2

N.A.

1

N.A.

1

U Kyi Aye

2

1

N.A.

1

1

U Linn Myaing

2

N.A.

1

N.A.

1

Total number of meetings held

Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors

Directors’ Attendance during period April 2019 – September 2019
* Daw Zarchi Tin resigned from the Board with effect from October 2019.
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Board Orientation
The Company conducts an induction programme for newly appointed Directors which seeks to familiarise Directors with the Group’s
businesses, board processes, internal controls and governance practices. It includes site visits, Management presentations on the Group’s
businesses, strategic plans and objectives, meetings with key management personnel and briefings on key areas of the Company’s
operation.

Board Training and Development
Directors are encouraged to attend seminars, conferences and workshops to supplement and keep themselves updated with current
market/industry information and to ensure continuous professional development.

Board Composition and Guidance
Size and Composition of the Board of Directors
The Board comprises 8 Directors, with 6 Non-Executive Directors and 2 Executive Directors. The Non-Executive Directors have strong
experiences in entrepreneurship, finance and academia which allows for effective decision making. The Company benefits from a diverse
range of objective perspectives with highly respected members of the community as Board members.

Composition of the Board Committees
Date of First
Appointment

LastRe-election

Board

ARMC

RC

NC

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

12 Sep 2004

2019

Chairman

-

-

-

U Tun Tun

17 Nov 2009

2017

Member

-

-

-

U Myat Thin Aung

31 Jul 1992

2017

Member

-

Chairman

-

U Than Aung

31 Jul 1992

2019

Member

Member

-

Member

17 Nov 2009

2018

Member

Member

Member

-

Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet

3 Dec 2013

2018

Member

-

-

Chairman

U Kyi Aye

5 Nov 2015

2019

Member

Chairman

Member

-

2 Jul 2012

2018

Member

-

-

Member

Name

Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint

U Linn Myaing

The composition of the Board as of December 2019 is set out above.

Chairman
Chairman of the Board
U Theim Wai is the Executive Chairman of
the Company.
As the Executive Chairman, he plays
an instrumental role in providing the
Company with strong leadership and
vision, assisting the Board in developing
policies and strategies, and ensuring
that these are implemented effectively,
as well as to promote high standards of
corporate governance.

The Executive Chairman bears primary
responsibility for the workings of the
Board by ensuring effectiveness in all
aspects of its role, including setting the
agenda for Board meetings with input
from management and exercising control
over the quality, quantity and timeliness of
information flow between the Board and
Management to encourage constructive
relations within the Board and between
the Board and Management. To promote

a culture of openness and debate at
the Board, the Chairman ensures that
adequate time is available for discussion
of all agenda items strategic issues, and
also facilitates the effective contribution
of Non-Executive Directors. At the AGM
and other shareholder meetings, he plays
a pivotal role in fostering constructive
dialogue between shareholders, the
Board and Management.
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Board Membership

The NC regularly reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity) of
the Board and make recommendations
to the Board with regard to any changes.
The committee has the duty to ensure
all Directors submit themselves for renomination and re-appointment at
regular intervals and at least once every 3
years. The NC further keep under review
the leadership needs of the Company,
both executive and non-executive, with a
view to ensuring the continued ability of
the Company to compete effectively in the
marketplace.

Nominating Committee
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
Chairman
U Than Aung
Member
U Linn Myaing
Member
The NC makes recommendations to
the Board on all matters relating to the
appointment of Directors. The NC also
works with the Board to determine the
appropriate qualifications, skills and
experience for the Board as a whole and
its individual members with the objective
of creating a diverse Board comprised of
individuals with experience in finance,
business, government, and education.
Any appointment or removal of a Director
is subject to approval from the entire
Board to develop and maintain a formal
and transparent process. The Company is
strongly committed to fostering diversity
and inclusion on its Board, leveraging on
the collective strength of its members who
possess diverse abilities, knowledge, skills
and professional experiences which could
contribute to spurring innovative thinking
and sustainable competitive advantages
for the long-term growth and success of
the Company.

Remuneration Matters
Remuneration Committee
U Myat Thin Aung
Chairman
Prof Dr. Yi Yi Myint
Member
U Kyi Aye
Member

that remuneration arrangements support
the overall strategic goals of the Company
and enable the recruitment, retention
and motivation of Directors and senior
management personnel while also
complying with the requirements of rules
and regulation.
The RC also reviews the
Company’s obligations arising in the event
of termination of the Executive Director's
or Management's service agreements,
to ensure that such service agreements
contain fair and reasonable termination
clauses.
The RC ensures that the level and
structure of remuneration offered will
be appropriate to the responsibilities
undertaken and the level of contribution
to the Company; and after taking
into account factors like the industry
and comparable company standards,
the Company’s performance and the
individual's performance. The RC covers
all aspects of remuneration including but
not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries,
allowances, bonuses, options, sharebased incentives and awards, and
benefits in kind to successfully manage
the Company.

The RC is appointed by the Board of
Directors from amongst the members of
the Board. The RC considers and makes
recommendations to the Board concerning
the Company’s remuneration policy, level
and mix of remuneration and procedure
for setting remuneration. The RC ensure

Disclosure on Directors’ Remuneration

Remuneration
Band & Name of Director

Base/Fixed
Salary

Variable Component Or
Bonuses (%)
Paid

Deferred

Benefits-in-kind,
Allowance And
Other Incentives

78% *

Total

100%

Executive Directors
MMK 250 Million – MMK 520 Million
Daw Zarchi Tin

22%

-

-

MMK 140 Million – MMK 250 Million
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
U Tun Tun

78%

84%
-

-

* Include the shares award as per the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Scheme.

16%
22% *

100%
100%
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Disclosure on Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration
Fee (MMK) Other Benefits
Basic Retainer Fee
Non-Executive Director

10,000,000

Nil

Committee Chairman

2,000,000

Nil

Committee Member

1,000,000

Nil

Committee Chairman

1,500,000

Nil

Committee Member

1,000,000

Nil

Fee for Appointment to ARMC

Fee for Appointment to NC and RC

The fee structure of the Non-Executive Directors for FY Sep2019.

Accountability and Audit
Accountability of Board and
Management
The Board is ultimately accountable to
shareholders regarding the management
of
the
Company’s
affairs.
The
Management recognises the importance
of providing the Board with timely and
accurate information and keeps the Board
informed of any material developments.
This ensures that the Board has the
proper information to make informed
decisions on the Company’s behalf.
The Board reviews and approves the
Company’s annual financial statements
before they are released and aims to
provide shareholders with a balanced
and clear assessment of the Company’s
financial position.
The Board reviews all decisions that
may have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or earnings.
In addition, the Board also recommends
the declaration of dividends for approval
by shareholders, and approves the
publishing of the financial statements,
the acquisition or disposal of key assets
and the nomination of Directors. The
Board’s advice is sought on all key
financial decisions, strategies, and
projects with special attention given to
the Board’s opinion on the impact of the
Management’s decisions on the local
community.

Audit and Risk Management
Committee
U Kyi Aye
Chairman
Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint
Member
U Than Aung
Member
The ARMC is appointed by the Board of
Directors from amongst the members
of the Board. The ARMC plays a key
role in assisting the board in areas such
as independent advice, assurance,
and assistance to the Board on the
Company’s risk, compliance, control,
governance framework, and its external
accountability responsibilities including
in relation to financial statements. The
ARMC reviews the half-yearly and annual
financial statements of the Group before
submission to the Board for approval,
focusing in particular, on changes in
accounting policies and practices, major
risk areas, significant adjustments
resulting from the audit, compliance
with accounting standards as well as
compliance with any stock exchange and
statutory/regulatory
requirements.
The ARMC directs and works with
Management to develop and review
policies and processes to address and

manage identified areas of risk in a
systematic and structured manner in
achieving the Board’s strategic objectives.
The ARMC also oversees and advises
the Board on the current risk exposures
and future risk strategy of the Company.
Under the Company’s constitution, the
ARMC generally undertake such other
functions and duties as may be required
by statute or the relevant securities rules,
and the board by such amendments made
thereto from time to time and require the
attention of the ARMC.

Risk-Based Internal Audit
Risk-based internal audit is one of the
main functions carried out by the Group’s
Risk Management to help the businesses
to accomplish its objectives by bringing
a systematic, disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of
risk management, control and governance
processes through the Enterprise Risk
Management Framework, outlined as
follows:
a. identifying of potential risks inherent
within the Group and external risks
which the Group faces in the pursuit
of its corporate objectives;
b. assessing and rating all the identified
risks in a meaningful way in order for
the Group to determine the extent of
risks that it faces;
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c.

treating all identified risks, as far as
possible, through established controls
or pending control plans;
d. monitoring and updating any changes
to the severity of the identified risks
and any new risks that have emerged
and;
e. reporting key risks and the established
controls (or pending controls plans) to
the ARMC and the Board regularly.

External Audit
The Company has engaged Myanmar
Vigour & Associates Limited (“Deloitte
Myanmar”) as its external auditor, to audit
the accounts of the Company and all its
subsidiaries. The report of the external
auditor is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report section of this Annual
Report.

Risk Management
The Group instils and promotes a risk
management culture to allow prudent
risk-based decision-making by embedding
core values, principles, compliance
and dynamic internal control systems
in its day-to-day operations. Ongoing
communication, education, monitoring
and mitigation are an integral part of
the Group’s dynamic risk management
culture and is adopted across all its
business activities.

Investment assessments and due diligence
exercises are carried out on prospective
business opportunities to ensure that
potential financial, operational and
strategic risks are identified and mitigated
prior to commitment. In addition, Fraud
Risk Assessment is conducted across
the Group as part of the Annual Internal
Audit Programme to ensure consistency
with the Group’s commitment to
anti-corruption.
Half yearly and annual enterprise risk
assessments are carried out to validate
the existence and effectiveness of the
controls in place, review the changes
in risk profile, and update the existing
controls if required.
The
Enterprise
Risk
Management
Framework provides a sound system of
risk management and internal control,
and is underpinned by a strong foundation
of the Group’s strong corporate
governance culture, supported by five
pillars of management control system
being: Policies Procedures, Internal
External Audits, Due Diligence Reviews,
Compliance Monitoring Reporting and
Enterprise Risk Assessments, all of which
are overseen by the ARMC and the Board.
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Monitoring and Reporting
Risks
The risks, the adequacy and effectiveness
of mitigating controls identified are
closely monitored and validated as part of
Enterprise Risk Assessment, all of which
are registered on the enterprise risk
register for ongoing review and follow up.
The ARMC oversees how management
monitors compliance with the Group’s
risk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the Risk
Management in relation to the risks faced
by FMI.
Any existing or new risks that are identified
as posing a high risk to the company, or
which exceeds the risk tolerance level
of the company, or requires immediate
corrective actions, will be reported to the
senior management and ARMC as soon as
practicable.

Mountain Range in Shan State
Photography by Ko Oo
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ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုအေနျဖင့္ ေကာင္းမြန္ေသာ ေကာ္ပိုရိတ္

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕၏ တာဝန္ဝတၱရားမ်ား

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕၀င္မ်ားအတြက္ လုပ္ငန္း၀င္သင္တန္း

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕၏ အဓိကလုုပ္ငန္းတာ၀န္မ်ားမွာ

ကုမၸဏီသည္ အသစ္ခန္႔အပ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာမ်ားကုိ

စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈကို အေလးထား၍ က်င့္၀တ္သိကၡာ႐ိွၿပီး
တာ၀န္ယူမႈ႐ိွေသာ

စီးပြားေရးအေလ့အက်င့္မ်ားျဖင့္

ကုမၸဏီ႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ားႏွင့္

အမ်ားျပည္သူအားလံုးအ

တြက္ မွ်တ၍ပြင့္လင္းျမင္သာမႈ႐ိွၿပီး ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့

ကုမၸဏီမ်ားအုပ္စု၏ စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၊ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာ
(က)

ကုမၸဏီ၏ ရည္မွန္းခ်က္မ်ားကို ေအာင္ျမင္စြာ

အဖြဲ႕၏ လုပ္ငန္းစဥ္မ်ား၊ ဌာနတြင္းအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈမ်ား၊ စီမံ

ခိုင္ၿမဲေသာ တန္ဖိုးထားမႈမ်ားအားဖန္တီးႏိုင္ရန္ စီမံခန္႔

အေကာင္အထည္ေဖာ္ရန္ ဘ႑ာေရးႏွင့္ လူ

အုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈ အေလ့အက်င့္မ်ားႏွင့္ ေနသားက်ေစရန္

ခြဲပါသည္။

သားအရင္းအျမစ္မ်ား၊

လုပ္ငန္း၀င္သင္တန္းကုိ

စြန္႔ဦးတီထြင္မႈဆိုင္ရာ

ျပဳလုုပ္ေပးလ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

ဦးေဆာင္မႈႏွင့္ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္ ရည္မွန္း

အဆိုပါ သင္တန္းအစီအစဥ္တြင္ လုပ္ငန္းခြင္မ်ားသုိ႔

ခ်က္မ်ားျဖင့္ ျဖည့္ဆည္းေပးရန္။

သြားေရာက္ေလ့လာျခင္း၊ ကုမၸဏီမ်ားအုပ္စု၏ စီးပြား

ကုမၸဏီ၏ ပိုင္ဆိုင္မႈမ်ားႏွင့္ ႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ား၏

ေရးလုပ္ငန္းမ်ားအတြက္ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈဆုိင္ရာ ေဆြးေႏြး

က လက္ခံအတည္ျပဳခဲ့ေသာ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ ေကာ္ပို

အက်ိဳးစီးပြား ေဘးကင္းလံုၿခံဳေစရန္၊ အလားအ

တင္ျပမႈမ်ား ျပဳလုပ္ျခင္း၊ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာေျမာက္ ရည္မွန္း

ရိတ္ စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈမူေဘာင္၊ မူဝါဒမ်ား၊ လုုပ္ထံုးလုုပ္

လာ႐ွိေသာ ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ေျခမ်ားကို ႀကိဳတင္သိျမင္

ခ်က္မ်ားခ်မွတ္ျခင္း၊

နည္းမ်ားနွင့္ စံခ်ိန္စံနႈန္းမ်ား (စုုစုေပါင္းအားျဖင့္ “က်င့္

စီမံခန္႔ခြဲရန္အတြက္

ေတြ႕ဆံုျခင္းႏွင့္ ကုမၸဏီ လုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္မႈမ်ားအ

ဤ ႏွစ္ပတ္လည္အစီရင္ခံစာသည္ ၂၀၁၉ စက္တင္
ဘာလတြင္ကုန္ဆံုးေသာ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု

(ခ)

ဝတ္” ဟုု ေခၚဆိုပါမည္။) ကို ေဖာ္ျပထားျခင္း ျဖစ္ပါ
သည္။ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုသည္ ထိုက်င့္ဝတ္ကို အစဥ္အၿမဲ

မူေဘာင္တစ္ခု ခ်မွတ္ရန္။
(ဂ)

အဓိက

စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္သူမ်ားႏွင့္

ေၾကာင္း အသိေပးေျပာၾကားျခင္းတုိ႔ ပါ၀င္သည္။

စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈအဖဲြ႕၏ လုပ္ေဆာင္ခ်က္မ်ားကို အ

လုုိက္နာက်င့္သံုးမည္ျဖစ္ၿပီး လိုက္နာမႈမ႐ွိသည့္ အေျခ
အေနမ်ား႐ွိပါကလည္း တိတိက်က် ေဖာ္ထုတ္တင္ျပ

ထိေရာက္မွန္ကန္ေသာ

(ဃ)

ကဲျဖတ္သံုးသပ္ရန္။

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕အား ေလ့က်င့္သင္ၾကားေပးမႈနွင့္

ကုမၸဏီဂုဏ္သတင္းအေပၚ သက္ေရာက္မႈ႐ွိေစ

ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးမႈ

ႏိုင္သည့္ စီးပြားပတ္သက္သူမ်ားကို အုပ္စုခြဲျခား

သြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ေကာ္ပိုရိတ္စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈဆိုင္ရာ ေအာင္ျမင္မႈမ်ား
(င)
• ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ၏ ဒုုတိယပြင့္လင္းျမင္
သာမႈ အ႐ွိဆံုးကုမၸဏီအျဖစ္ ပြင့္သစ္စအစီရင္ခံစာ

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာမ်ားအား

ခ်က္မ်ားကို ေလ့လာအသိအမွတ္ျပဳရန္။

စက္မႈလုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၏

ကုမၸဏီ၏ တန္ဖိုးမ်ားႏွင့္ လူ႔က်င့္၀တ္ဆိုင္ရာ

အခ်ိန္ႏွင့္တေျပးညီ

စံႏႈန္းမ်ားကို သတ္မွတ္ေပးရန္။

ေဆာင္ရည္ အစဥ္တိုးတက္ေစရန္အတြက္ ကုမၸဏီ၏

လက္႐ိွ

ေစ်းကြက္အေျခအေန၊

သတင္းအခ်က္အလက္မ်ားကုိ
သိ႐ိွေနေစရန္ႏွင့္

လုုပ္ငန္းစြမ္း

( စ ) ႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ားႏွင့္ အျခားစီးပြားပတ္သက္သူ

ကုန္က်စရိတ္ျဖင့္ ႏွီးေႏွာဖလွယ္ပြဲမ်ား၊ ၫိႇႏိႈင္းေဆြး

မ်ားအေနျဖင့္ ၎တို႔လုပ္ေဆာင္ရမည့္ တာ၀န္

ေႏြးပြဲမ်ားႏွင့္ အလုုပ္႐ံုေဆြးေႏြးပြဲမ်ားသို႔ တက္ေရာက္

မ်ားကို အမွန္တကယ္နားလည္လုပ္ေဆာင္ေစ

ရန္ တို္က္တြန္းအားေပးလ်က္႐ွိပါသည္။

တြင္ သတ္မွတ္ခံရသည္။
• ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္တြင္ ျမန္မာနိုင္ငံ႐ွိ စာရင္းဝင္အမ်ားပိုင္
ကုမၸဏီမ်ားထဲတြင္ ပြင့္လင္းျမင္သာ႐ွိမႈ အေကာင္း
ဆံုးဆုုကို Yangon Stock Exchange ထံမွရ႐ွိသည္။

သတ္မွတ္ရန္ႏွင့္ ၎တို႔၏ လုပ္ေဆာင္ယူဆ

ရန္။
(ဆ)

မဟာဗ်ဴဟာမ်ားခ်မွတ္ရာတြင္ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ ဖြဲ႕စည္းပံုနွင့္လမ္းၫႊန္မႈ

ခိုင္ၿမဲေစရန္ သဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္ႏွင့္ လူမႈေရး

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ႏွင့္ပတ္သက္ေသာ ကိစၥရပ္မ်ား

ဆိုင္ရာ အခ်က္အလက္မ်ားကိုပါ ထည့္သြင္း

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕၏ ဖြဲ႕စည္းပံုနွင့္ အ႐ြယ္အစား

စဥ္းစားရန္။
ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ကို ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ဝင္ (၈)ဦးႏွင့္ ဖြဲ႕

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕၏ လုုပ္ငန္းမ်ား

စည္းထားၿပီး အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မဟုုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕၏ ကိုယ္စားလွယ္လႊဲအပ္မႈ

တာ (၆)ဦးႏွင့္ အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္ဒါ႐ိုက္တာ (၂)ဦးတို႔

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕သည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏ ေကာ္ပိုရိတ္စြမ္းေဆာင္
ရည္ကို ႀကီးၾကပ္ကြပ္ကဲရန္ တာဝန္႐ွိၿပီး ႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕တြင္ ရာထူးႏွင့္တာ၀န္မ်ားကို ႐ွင္းလင္း

ပါ၀င္သည္။ အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မဟုုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္

မ်ားအတြက္

စြာ

တစ္စံုတစ္ဦးမွ်

တာမ်ားသည္ စြန္႔ဦးတီထြင္မႈ၊ ဘ႑ာေရးႏွင့္ ပညာ

ခန္႔ခြဲျခင္း၊ လမ္းၫႊန္ျခင္းတို႔ ျပဳလုုပ္ရမည့္ လုုပ္ငန္းစဥ္

အာဏာကို ခ်ဳပ္ကိုင္ထားျခင္း မ႐ွိပါ။ စာရင္းစစ္နွင့္

ေရးက႑မ်ားတြင္ အေတြ႕အႀကံဳမ်ားစြာ႐ိွသျဖင့္ ထိ

မ်ားႏွင့္ တည္ေဆာက္ပံုတို႔ကို အျပည့္အ၀တာ၀န္ယူ

ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈ အႏၲရာယ္မ်ား စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈေကာ္မတီ

ေရာက္မွန္ကန္ေသာ ဆံုးျဖတ္ခ်က္မ်ားကို ခ်မွတ္ႏိုင္

ရပါသည္။ FMI သည္ လက္ေအာက္ခံ ကုမၸဏီခြဲ

(Audit

ၾကပါသည္။ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕ကို

လူအမ်ားေလးစား

မ်ားကိုဦးစီးရန္ အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွခ်ဳပ္မ်ား ထား႐ိွပါ

Committee)၊

ယံုၾကည္ရသည့္

ဖြဲ႕စည္းထားေသာ

သည္။ ထို အမႈေဆာင္အရာ႐ိွ စီမံခန္႔ခဲြသူမ်ားသည္

(Nominating

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ကို တာဝန္ခံရန္လိုအပ္ၿပီး ဒါ႐ိုက္တာ

ခ်ီးျမႇင့္ေငြသတ္မွတ္ေရး ေကာ္မတီ (Remuneration

အဖြဲ႕ကခ်မွတ္ထားေသာ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာမ်ား၊ မူဝါဒမ်ား

Committee) တို႔ကို အမႈေဆာင္မဟုုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္

ႏွင့္အညီကုမၸဏီ၏

တာမ်ားျဖင့္သာ ဖြဲ႕စည္းထားပါသည္။

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ ေကာ္မတီမ်ား၏ဖြဲ႕စည္းပံု

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕နွင့္ ေကာ္မတီအစည္းအေဝးပဲြမ်ား

စာမ်က္ႏွာ (၅၂) တြင္ ၾကည့္႐ႈႏိုင္ပါသည္။

ကုမၸဏီစီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈကိစၥရပ္မ်ားကို

စီမံ

ေန႔စဥ္လုပ္ငန္းစီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈမ်ားနွင့္

ေဖာ္ျပခြဲျခားထားသည့္အတြက္

Committee

and

Risk

Management

အမည္တင္သြင္းေရး
Committee)

ႏွင့္

ေကာ္မတီ
လုုပ္အားခႏွင့္

ပုုဂၢိဳလ္မ်ားျဖင့္

ေၾကာင့္ ကုမၸဏီအတြက္ အျပဳသေဘာေဆာင္သည့္
အက်ိဳးေက်းဇူးမ်ားကို ရ႐ိွေစပါသည္။

အုုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈမ်ားအတြက္ တာဝန္႐ွိပါသည္။ ထိုသုိ႔ ျပဳလုုပ္
ႏုုိင္ရန္အတြက္ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕သည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏ စီးပြား
ေရးလုုပ္ငန္းမ်ား နွင့္ပတ္သက္ေနေသာ ဆံုး႐ံႈးနိုင္ေျခ
အႏ ၱရာယ္မ်ားကို သံုးသပ္နိုင္ရန္နွင့္ စီမံနိုင္ရန္အတြက္

၂၀၁၉ ခုုနွစ္ ဧၿပီလနွင့္ စက္တင္ဘာလၾကား ဘ႑ာ

ထိေရာက္ေသာ

ေရးနွစ္တြင္ က်င္းပခဲ့ေသာ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕နွင့္ ေကာ္

ဆံုး႐ံႈးနုုိင္ေျခ႐ွိမႈ

အႏ ၱရာယ္မ်ားကို

စီမံခန္႔ခြဲျခင္းမူေဘာင္ကို ခ်မွတ္ထားပါသည္။

မတီအစည္းအေ၀းမ်ားႏွင့္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာမ်ား အစည္းအ
ေ၀းတက္ေရာက္မႈ အေျခအေနကို စာမ်က္ႏွာ (၅၁)
တြင္ ၾကည့္႐ႈႏိုင္ပါသည္။

Annual Report 2019

ဥကၠ႒

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕၏ အဖြဲ႕ဝင္မ်ား

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ ဥကၠ႒

အမည္တင္သြင္းေရးေကာ္မတီ (NC)

ဦးသိမ္းေ၀ (ခ) Mr. Serge Pun သည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏

ပါေမာကၡေဒါက္တာေအာင္ထြန္းသက္ (ဥကၠ႒)
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လုုပ္အားခႏွင့္ခ်ီးျမႇင့္ေငြသတ္မွတ္ေရး
ေကာ္မတီ (RC)
ဦးျမတ္သင္းေအာင္ (ဥကၠ႒)

အမႈေဆာင္ဥကၠ႒ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ပါေမာကၡေဒါက္တာရီရီျမင့္ (အဖြဲ႕ဝင္)
ဦးသန္းေအာင္ (အဖြဲ႕ဝင္)

အမႈေဆာင္ဥကၠ႒ ဦးသိမ္းေ၀ သည္ ေကာ္ပုိေရး႐ွင္း
ဆုိင္ရာအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈ၏ အဆင့္အတန္းကုိ ပုိမုိျမင့္မားေစ

ဦးၾကည္ေအး (အဖြဲ႕ဝင္)
ဦးလင္းၿမိဳင္ (အဖြဲ႕ဝင္)

ရန္ရည္႐ြယ္၍ မူ၀ါဒမ်ားႏွင့္ နည္းဗ်ဴဟာမ်ားဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတုိး

လုပ္အားခႏွင့္ ခ်ီးျမႇင့္ေငြသတ္မွတ္ေရး ေကာ္မတီကုိ

တက္ေစရန္ ကုမၸဏီဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕ကုိကူညီကာ ယင္း

အမည္စာရင္းတင္သြင္းေရး ေကာ္မတီသည္ ဒါ႐ုိက္

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕႐ွိ အဖြဲ႕၀င္ဒါ႐ိုက္တာမ်ားျဖင့္ ဖြဲ႕စည္း

မူ၀ါဒမ်ားႏွင့္ နည္းဗ်ဴဟာမ်ားကုိ ထိေရာက္စြာ အ

တာအဖြဲ႕ႏွင့္ သူ၏အဖြဲ႕၀င္မ်ားကို ဘ႑ာေရး၊ စီးပြား

ထားျခင္းျဖစ္သည္။ ေကာ္မတီသည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏လုုပ္

ေကာင္အထည္ေဖာ္ထားျခင္း ႐ိွ၊ မ႐ိွ အတည္ျပဳလ်က္၊

ေရး၊ အစိုးရဌာနနွင့္ ပညာေရးအစ႐ွိသည့္ က႑အ

အားခႏွင့္ခ်ီးျမႇင့္ေငြ သတ္မွတ္ျခင္းေပၚလစီ၊ အဆင့္အ

ကုမၸဏီအတြက္ ခုိင္မာေသာ ေခါင္းေဆာင္မႈႏွင့္ ရည္

သီးသီးတြင္

တန္းႏွင့္ လုုပ္ငန္းစဥ္မ်ားကို စဥ္းစားဆံုးျဖတ္ၿပီး ဒါ႐ိုက္

မွန္းခ်က္ျဖင့္ အေရးပါေသာ အခန္းက႑မွပါ၀င္ေဆာင္

ေသာ

႐ြက္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

ဖြဲ႕စည္းႏိုင္ရန္ရည္႐ြယ္၍ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕အတြက္သင့္

ေကာ္မတီသည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာရည္မွန္းခ်က္

အေတြ႕အႀကံဳ႐ွိသူမ်ားနွင့္

ပုဂၢိဳလ္မ်ားပါ၀င္သည့္

မတူကြဲျပား

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕အျဖစ္

တာအဖြဲ႕ကို

အႀကံေပးမႈမ်ား

ျပဳလုုပ္ေပးရပါသည္။

ေတာ္ေသာ အရည္အခ်င္း၊ စြမ္းရည္ႏွင့္ အေတြ႕အႀကံဳ

မ်ားကုိ အေထာက္အကူျဖစ္ေစရန္ အခေၾကးေငြဆိုင္

ဦးသိမ္းေ၀ သည္ အမႈေဆာင္ဥကၠ႒အျဖစ္ တာ၀န္ယူ

႐ွိေသာသူမ်ားကို ဆံုးျဖတ္ေ႐ြးခ်ယ္ေပးရသည္။ ဒါ႐ိုက္

ရာ အစီအစဥ္မ်ားျဖင့္ လုပ္ေဆာင္ေပးျခင္း၊ ထို႔အျပင္

ရာတြင္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕ အတြင္းႏွင့္၊ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕ႏွင့္

တာတစ္ဦးခ်င္းအား ခန္႔အပ္ျခင္းႏွင့္ ႏုတ္ထြက္ျခင္း

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာမ်ား၊

စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္သူမ်ားအၾကား အျပဳသေဘာေဆာင္ေသာ

တို႔အတြက္ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕တစ္ခုလံုး၏ အတည္ျပဳ

ပုဂၢိဳလ္မ်ား တာ၀န္မွရပ္ဆိုင္းသည့္အခါတြင္ ၀န္ေဆာင္

ဆက္သြယ္ေဆာင္႐ြက္မႈမ်ား ျဖစ္ထြန္းေစရန္ တုိက္

ခ်က္ကိုရယူရန္ လိုအပ္ပါသည္။ ကုမၸဏီ၏ ေရ႐ွည္

မႈ သေဘာတူညီခ်က္ စာခ်ဳပ္ခ်ဳပ္ဆိုရာ၌ ထိုစာခ်ဳပ္ထဲ

တြန္းအားေပးသည့္အေနျဖင့္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕ႏွင့္ စီမံ

တိုးတက္မႈႏွင့္ ေအာင္ျမင္မႈတို႔ကုိ ေဖာ္ေဆာင္ႏိုင္မည့္

တြင္ မွ်တၿပီး ေၾကာင္းက်ိဳးဆီေလ်ာ္ေသာ အခ်က္မ်ား

အုပ္ခ်ဳပ္သူမ်ားအၾကား သတင္းအခ်က္အလက္မ်ား၏

ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့ေသာ ယွဥ္ၿပိဳင္ႏိုင္မႈ၊ တီထြင္ဆန္းသစ္မႈ

ပါ၀င္ေစရန္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပးရပါသည္။

အရည္အေသြး၊ အေရအတြက္ႏွင့္ အခ်ိန္ႏွင့္တစ္ေျပး

အေတြးအျမင္မ်ားကုိ ရ႐ိွႏုိင္ရန္အတြက္ ကုမၸဏီသည္

ညီ စီးဆင္းမႈတုိ႔ကုိ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္ျခင္း၊ စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္သူမ်ား

မတူကြဲျပားေသာ စြမ္းေဆာင္ရည္မ်ား၊ ဗဟုသုတမ်ား၊

RC သည္ ကုမၸဏီထံသို႔ ထည့္ဝင္မႈပမာဏနွင့္ ထမ္း

ထံမွရ႐ိွေသာ သတင္းအခ်က္အလက္၊ အႀကံဉာဏ္

ကၽြမ္းက်င္မႈမ်ား၊ အတတ္ပညာဆိုင္ရာ အေတြ႕အႀကဳံ

ေဆာင္ရသည့္ တာဝန္မ်ားနွင့္ သင့္ေလ်ာ္ေသာ ခံစား

မ်ားကုိအေျခခံ၍

မ်ားကုိ တစ္ဦးခ်င္းပိုင္ဆိုင္ထားသည့္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕

ခြင့္လစာမ်ားကို သတ္မွတ္ျပ႒ာန္းေပးပါသည္။ လုုပ္

တြက္ အစည္းအေ၀းေခါင္းစဥ္မ်ား၊ အေၾကာင္းအရာ

၀င္မ်ား၏

ငန္းအေျခအေန၊

မ်ားခ်မွတ္ျခင္းတုအ
႔ိ ပါအ၀င္ ဒါ႐ုက
ိ တ
္ ာအဖြဲ႕၏ လုပင
္ န္း

တာအဖြဲ႕ကုိ မတူကြဲျပားသည့္ အဖြဲ႕အစည္းတစ္ခုအ

ကုမၸဏီမ်ား၏ စံနႈန္းမ်ား၊ ကုမၸဏီ၏ လုုပ္ငန္းစြမ္းေဆာင္

မ်ားကို က႑မ်ိဳးစံု၊ ႐ႈေထာင့္မ်ိဳးစံုမွ ထိေရာက္မႈ႐ိွေစ

ျဖစ္ ဆက္လက္ထိန္းသိမ္းထား႐ိွရန္ ခိုင္မာစြာလက္ခံ

ရည္ႏွင့္ တစ္ဦးခ်င္းစီ၏ စြမ္းေဆာင္ရည္ စသည့္အခ်က္

ရန္ အဓိက တာ၀န္ယူေဆာင္႐ြက္ပါသည္။ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာ

ထားပါသည္။

မ်ားကို ထည့္သြင္းစဥ္းစားၿပီး သတ္မွတ္ျခင္းျဖစ္သည္။

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖြဲ႕

အစည္းအေ၀းအ

စုေပါင္းစြမ္းအားကုိ အေျချပဳေသာ ဒါ႐ုိက္

အဖြဲ႕အတြင္း ပြင့္လင္းျမင္သာမႈ႐ိွၿပီး ေဆြးေႏြးဖလွယ္

အုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈဆိုင္ရာ

နိႈင္းယွဥ္နို္င္ေသာ

အဓိကတာ၀န္႐ွိ

အျခားေသာ

RC သည္ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာမ်ားက ကုမၸဏီအား ေအာင္ျမင္

ေသာ အေလ့အထတစ္ရပ္ကို ျမႇင့္တင္ေပးရန္၊ တိုင္ပင္

NC သည္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာဘုတ္အဖဲြ႕၏ ဖဲြ႕စည္းပုံ၊ အဖဲြ႕၀င္

စြာ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈအေပၚမူတည္၍ ဒါ႐ုုိက္တာလစာ၊ ခံစား

ေဆြးေႏြးရန္ႏွင့္

ဆံုးျဖတ္ခ်က္မ်ားခ်မွတ္ရန္အတြက္

ဦးေရ၊ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕ အ႐ြယ္အစားႏွင့္ (ကြ်မ္းက်င္မႈ၊

ခြင့္၊ အပိုဆုေၾကးေငြ၊ ေ႐ြးခ်ယ္ခြင့္၊ ႐ွယ္ယာအေပၚအ

လံုေလာက္ေသာ အခ်ိန္႐ိွေအာင္ လုပ္ေဆာင္ေပးျခင္း

အသိပညာ၊ အေတြ႕အႀကဳံႏွင့္ ကဲြျပားျခားနားမႈ အပါ

ေျခခံသည့္ မက္လံုးမ်ား၊ ဆုုေၾကးမ်ား၊ ပစၥည္းအက်ိဳး

ႏွင့္ အမႈေဆာင္မဟုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာမ်ား၏ လုပ္

အ၀င္) ေပါင္းစပ္ဖဲြ႕စည္းမႈတုိ႔ကုိ ပုံမွန္သုံးသပ္ၿပီး ဒါ႐ိုက္

ခံစားခြင့္မ်ား အစ႐ိွေသာ ခံစားခြင့္မ်ားကို ဆံုးျဖတ္ေပး

ေဆာင္ခ်က္မ်ား ထိေရာက္မႈ႐ိွေအာင္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ေပး

တာမ်ားအား အေျပာင္းအလဲျပဳလုုပ္နိုင္ရန္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာ

ပါသည္။

သည္။ ႏွစ္ပတ္လည္ႏွင့္ ႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္အစည္းအေ၀းမ်ား

ဘုတ္အဖဲြ႕အား ေထာက္ခံခ်က္မ်ား ေပးပါသည္။ ဤ

တြင္ ႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ား ဘုတ္အဖြဲ႕၀င္မ်ားႏွင့္ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈ

ေကာ္မတီသည္ အနည္းဆုံး (၃)ႏွစ္ျပည့္တုိင္း ဒါ႐ုိက္

အဖြဲ႕မ်ားအၾကား အျပဳသေဘာေဆာင္သည့္ ေဆြးေႏြး

တာအဖြဲ႕ဝင္မ်ားအားလုုံး ရာထူးမွႏုတ္ထြက္ျခင္း၊ ျပန္

မႈမ်ားရ႐ိွေအာင္ အဓိကလုပ္ေဆာင္ေနသူျဖစ္သည္။

လည္အဆုိျပဳျခင္းႏွင့္ ျပန္လည္ခန္႔ျခင္းတုိ႔အား ၎တို႔
ကိုယ္တိုင္ အမည္စာရင္းျပန္လည္တင္သြင္းေစရန္ ႀကီး
ၾကပ္ရပါသည္။ NC သည္ ေစ်းကြက္အတြင္း ကုမၸဏီ
အေနျဖင့္

ထိေရာက္သည့္ ယွဥ္ၿပိဳင္နုိင္မႈ စြမ္းရည္

ဆက္လက္႐ိွေနေစရန္

ေမွ်ာ္မွန္းကာ

ကုမၸဏီေခါင္း

ေဆာင္မႈ လုိအပ္ခ်က္မ်ားႏွင့္အညီ အလုပ္အမႈေဆာင္
ႏွင့္ အလုုပ္အမႈေဆာင္မဟုုတ္ေသာ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာမ်ား
အား ျပန္လည္သုံးသပ္မႈကုိ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ရပါသည္။

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာမ်ား၏ခံစားခြင့္အား ေဖာ္ထုတ္တင္ျပျခင္း
စာမ်က္ႏွာ (၅၃) ႏွင့္ (၅၄) တြင္ ၾကည့္႐ႈႏိုင္ပါသည္။
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တာဝန္ခံမႈနွင့္ စာရင္းစစ္ျခင္း

စာရင္းစစ္ နွင့္ ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈ အႏၲရာယ္မ်ားကုိ

ဖြဲ႕ကို အႀကံေပးပါသည္။ ကုမၸဏီ၏ ဖြဲ႕စည္းပံုအေျခခံ

စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈ ေကာ္မတီ (ARMC)

စည္းမ်ဥ္းအရ ARMC သည္ တည္ဆဲဥပေဒအရ၊ သို႔မ

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕ႏွင့္စီမံခန္႔ခဲြေရးအဖဲြ႔၏ တာ၀န္ခံမႈ

ဟုုတ္ သက္ဆိုင္ရာ
ဦးၾကည္ေအး (ဥကၠ႒)

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕သည္ အေျခခံအားျဖင့္ ကုမၸဏီ၏စီမံခန္႔
ခဲြမႈကိစၥမ်ားႏွင့္ပတ္သက္၍

အစု႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ားအား

ေလ့႐ိွၿပီး ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕က အခ်ိန္အားေလ်ာ္စြာ ခ်
ပါေမာကၡေဒါက္တာရီရီျမင့္ (အဖြဲ႕ဝင္)

မွတ္ထားေသာ ARMC က တာဝန္ယူရန္လိုအပ္ေသာ

တာ၀န္ခံရပါသည္။ ထို႔ေၾကာင့္ စီမံခန္႔ခဲြေရးအဖဲြ႕သည္
တိက်မွန္ကန္သည့္

သတင္းအခ်က္အလက္မ်ားႏွင့္

ေငြေခ်းသက္ေသခံလက္မွတ္

စည္းမ်ဥ္းအရ လုုိအပ္ေသာတာဝန္မ်ားကို တာဝန္ယူ

ျပင္ဆင္မႈမ်ားကိုလည္း ျပဳလုုပ္ရန္လိုအပ္ပါသည္။
ဦးသန္းေအာင္ (အဖြဲ႕ဝင္)

ေျပာင္းလဲတုိးတက္မႈမ်ားအား အခ်ိန္ႏွင့္တေျပးညီ ဒါ

ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈေပၚအေျချပဳေသာ ကုမၸဏီတြင္း

႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕အား အသိေပးျခင္းမွာ အထူးအေရးႀကီး

ARMC ေကာ္မတီကို ဒါရုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕႐ွိ အဖြဲ႕၀င္ဒါ႐ိုက္

သည္ကုိ သိ႐ွိနားလည္ထားပါသည္။ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕

တာမ်ားျဖင့္

သည္ ကုမၸဏီကုိယ္စား အသိေပးထားသည့္ ဆုံးျဖတ္

သည္

ကုမၸဏီ၏ ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈအႏၲရာယ္၊ ဥပေဒ

ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈေပၚအေျချပဳေသာ ကုမၸဏီတြင္းစာရင္း

ခ်က္မ်ားအား ခ်မွတ္ႏုိင္ရန္ မွန္ကန္သည့္သတင္းအ

လိုက္နာမႈ၊ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈ၊ အုုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈ မူေဘာင္တို႔နွင့္

စစ္မႈ (Risk Based Internal Audit) သည္ ကုမၸဏီ

ခ်က္အလက္မ်ား

ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕သည္

ပတ္သက္ေသာ ကိစၥရပ္မ်ားတြင္ လြတ္လပ္စြာ အႀကံ

အုပ္စု၏ ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈ စီမံခန္႔ခဲြျခင္းအဖဲြ႕မွေဆာင္

ျပန္လည္သုံးသပ္ျခင္းႏွင့္ အတည္ျပဳျခင္းတုိ႔ကုိ ေဆာင္

ေပးသည့္အျပင္ ဘ႑ေရး႐ွင္းတမ္းမ်ားနွင့္ ပတ္သက္

႐ြက္ေနေသာ အဓိကလုပ္ငန္းတစ္ခု

႐ြက္ၿပီး

တိက်႐ွင္းလင္းေသာ

သည့္ကိစၥရပ္မ်ားအပါအဝင္ အျခားလုိအပ္သည့္ တာ

ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ ေျခ႐ိွမႈစီမံခန္႔ခဲြျခင္း၊ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈႏွင့္စီမံအုပ္

ကုမၸဏီ၏ ဘ႑ာေရးဆုိင္ရာ အကဲျဖတ္အစီရင္ခံစာ

ဝန္ဝတၱရားမ်ားကိုပါ လုပ္ေဆာင္ရသည္။ ARMC သည္

ခ်ဳပ္မႈလုပ္ငန္းစဥ္မ်ားအား

မ်ားကုိ ေပးအပ္ႏုိင္ရန္အတြက္ ကုမၸဏီ၏ႏွစ္ပတ္လည္

ႏွစ္၀က္တိုင္းႏွင့္ နွစ္ပတ္လည္ ဘ႑ာေရးထုတ္ျပန္

ရန္ စနစ္က်၍ စည္ကမ္းက်ေသာနည္းလမ္းတစ္ရပ္

ဘ႑ာေရးအစီရင္ခံစာမ်ားအား မထုတ္ျပန္မီ ႀကိဳတင္

ခ်က္မ်ားကို

ျဖစ္လာ ေစေရးႏွင့္ ရည္မွန္းခ်က္အတုိင္း ၿပီးေျမာက္

ဖတ္႐ႈ အတည္ျပဳခ်က္ေပးရပါသည္။

ေဆးျခင္း၊ အထူးသျဖင့္ စေတာ့အိတ္ခ်ိန္းႏွင့္ စဥ္းမ်ဥ္း

႐ွိရပါမည္။

႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ားအား

ဖြဲ႕စည္းထားျခင္းျဖစ္သည္။

ဘုတ္အဖြဲ႕သို႔မတင္ျပမီ

စာရင္းစစ္မႈ

ေကာ္မတီ

ျပန္လည္စစ္

ျဖစ္ပါသည္။

ထိေရာက္တုိးတက္မႈ႐ိွေစ

ေစေရးကို အေထာက္အကူျပဳႏုိင္ရန္အတြက္ -

ျပ႒ာန္းခ်က္မ်ားအရ ေျပာင္းလဲထားသည့္ စာရင္းကိုင္
ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕သည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏ ဘ႑ာေရးအေျခအ

မူ၀ါဒႏွင့္ အေလ့အထမ်ား၊ ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈ အႏ ၱရာယ္၊

ေနႏွင့္ ၀င္ေငြအားထိခုိက္ႏုိင္ေသာ အလားအလာ႐ွိ

ေငြစစ္စာရင္းႏွင့္

သည့္ ဆုံးျဖတ္ခ်က္မ်ားအားလုံးကုိ စစ္ေဆးသုံးသပ္ရ

အာ႐ံုစိုက္ စစ္ေဆးသည္။

(က)

စာရင္းကိုင္ စံခ်ိန္စံၫႊန္းမ်ားအေပၚ

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏

ရည္မွန္းခ်က္မ်ားအား

အ

ေကာင္အထည္ေဖာ္ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ရာတြင္ ရင္
ဆုိင္ႀကဳံေတြ႕နိုင္သည့္

သည့္အျပင္ အစု႐ွယ္ယာ႐ွင္မ်ားအတြက္ အစုေပၚအ

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုအတြင္း

ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားႏွင့္ ကုမၸဏီျပင္ပဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္

ျမတ္ခဲြေ၀ေပးျခင္းအား ေၾကညာျခင္းကုိလည္း အႀကံျပဳ

ARMC သည္ စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္သူအဖြဲ႕ႏွင့္ အလုုပ္တြဲလုပ္

ျခင္း၊ ဘ႑ာေရးအစီရင္ခံစာမ်ား ထုတ္ျပန္ျခင္း၊ ပုိင္ဆုိင္

ျခင္း၊ ၫႊန္ၾကားခ်က္မ်ားေပးျခင္းျဖင့္ မူဝါဒမ်ားကို ျပန္

( ခ ) ႀကံဳေတြ႕ေနရသည့္ ဆံုးရႈံးနုိင္ေျခ႐ွိမႈ အတိုင္းအ

မႈမ်ားကုိ ၀ယ္ယူျခင္း၊ ထုခဲြေရာင္းခ်ျခင္း အတည္ျပဳဆုံး

လည္သံုးသပ္ျခင္း၊ ေရးဆြဲျခင္းတို္႔ကို ျပလုုပ္ၾကပါသည္။

တာကို ဆံုးျဖတ္နုိင္ရန္အတြက္ ေတြ႕႐ွိထား

ျဖတ္ေပးရပါသည္။ ေဒသခံျပည္သူမ်ားအေပၚ အက်ဳိး

ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕၏ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာ ရည္မွန္းခ်က္မ်ားကို

ေသာ ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ေျခ႐ွိမႈအားလံုးကို အဆင့္မ်ား

သက္ေရာက္ႏုိင္ျခင္းကုိ

စီမံ

ရ႐ိွႏိုင္ရန္အတြက္ စနစ္တက် တည္ေဆာက္ထားေသာ

ကိန္း မ်ား၊ ဘ႑ာေရးဆုိင္ရာ ဆုံးျဖတ္ခ်က္မ်ား၊ မဟာ

ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခ်က္မ်ားျဖင့္ ဆံုး႐ံႈးနိုင္ေခ်႐ိွေသာ ေနရာ

( ဂ ) ခဲြျခားေ႐ြးထုတ္ထားသည့္ ဆုံး႐ွံးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈအား

ဗ်ဴဟာဆုိင္ရာ

အထူးအာ႐ုံစုိက္ရမည့္

ကိစၥရပ္မ်ားႏွင့္

ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားအား ခဲြျခားသတ္မွတ္ျခင္း၊

ခြဲျခားသတ္မွတ္ျခင္း၊

အထူးစီမံကိန္းမ်ား

မ်ားအား ေျဖ႐ွင္းျခင္း၊ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲျခင္းတို႔ကို ျပဳလုုပ္ရပါ

လုံးကုိ အေျခက်ေနၿပီး မူရင္းထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈမ်ား

အေပၚတြင္ စီမံခန္႔ခဲြမႈအဖဲြ႕အား အႀကံေပးလ်က္႐ွိပါ

သည္။ ARMC သည္ ကုမၸဏီ၏ အနာဂတ္ဆံုး႐ံႈးနိုင္

(သို႔မဟုတ္) ဆိုင္ငံ့ထားေသာ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈ အစီ

သည္။

ေျခမဟာဗ်ဴဟာႏွင့္ လက္႐ိွဆံုး႐ံႈးနိုင္ေျခမ်ားႏွင့္ ထိစပ္
မႈအေျခအေနမ်ားကို ေလ့လာသံုးသပ္ၿပီး ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအ

အစဥ္မ်ားျဖင့္ ေျဖ႐ွင္းျခင္း၊
(ဃ)

အသစ္ထြက္ေပၚလာေသာ ဆံုး႐ံႈးနိုင္ေျခ႐ွိမႈမ်ား
ႏွင့္ ခြဲျခားေ႐ြးထုုတ္ထားေသာ ဆံုးရံႈးနိုင္ေျခ႐ွိမႈ
မ်ား၏ ျပင္းထန္မႈအေျပာင္းအလဲကို စစ္ေဆး
ျခင္း၊ ျပဳျပင္မြမ္းမံျခင္းကို ေစာင့္ၾကည့္ျခင္း၊

Annual Report 2019

( င ) စာရင္းစစ္ႏွင့္

ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈ
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စီမံခန္႔ခဲြေရး

သည့္ အဓိကဆုံး႐ႈံးႏိုင္ေျခမ်ားကုိ ေဖာ္ထုတ္ၿပီး ေလ်ာ့

ေကာ္မတီႏွင့္ ဒါ႐ုိက္တာအဖဲြ႕သုိ႔ အေရးႀကီး

ပါးသက္သာေအာင္ ျပဳလုပ္ႏိုင္ရန္အတြက္ အလားအ

ေသာ ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားႏွင့္ အေျခက်ၿပီးျဖစ္

လာ႐ိွေသာ ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈဆုိင္ရာ အခြင့္အလမ္းမ်ား

စီးပြားေရးလုပ္ငန္း ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈအကဲျဖတ္ျခင္း အ

သည့္ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈမ်ား (သုိ႔မဟုတ္) ဆိုင္းငံ့ထား

ကုိ အကဲျဖတ္သုံးသပ္ျခင္းႏွင့္ သက္ဆိုင္ရာသတင္းအ

စိတ္အပုိုင္းတစ္ရပ္အေနျဖင့္ ေတြ႕႐ွိထားသည့္ ဆံုးရံႈး

ေသာ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္ေရးအစီအစဥ္မ်ားအား ပုံမွန္

ခ်က္အလက္မ်ားအား ဂ႐ုတစိုက္ စစ္ေဆးျခင္းတို႔ကုိ

ႏိုင္မႈမ်ားႏွင့္ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈမ်ားအား နီးကပ္စြာေလ့လာ

အစီရင္ခံတင္ျပျခင္း။

ျပဳလုပ္ပါသည္။ ထို႔အျပင္ အဂတိလိုက္စားမႈ ဆန္႔က်င္

ေစာင့္ၾကည့္မႈမ်ား ျပဳလုပ္လ်က္႐ိွၿပီး ျပန္လည္သုံးသပ္

ေ႐ွာင္႐ွားေရး ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ မူ၀ါဒႏွင့္အညီ ကုမၸဏီ

မႈႏွင့္ ဆက္လက္လုပ္ေဆာင္ရန္ လုပ္ငန္းမ်ားအတြက္

တြင္း ႏွစ္စဥ္စာရင္း စစ္ေဆးမႈအစီအစဥ္၏ အစိတ္အ

ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ေျခစာရင္းတြင္ မွတ္ပုံတင္ထားပါသည္။ စာ

ပိုင္းတစ္ရပ္အျဖစ္ Fraud Risk Assessment (လိမ္

ရင္းစစ္ ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈေကာ္မတီသည္ FMI

ကုမၸဏီႏွင့္ ၎၏လက္ေအာက္ခံ ကုမၸဏီမ်ား၏ စာ

လည္မႈကုိအေျခခံသည့္ ဆုံး႐ႈံးႏိုင္ေျခမ်ားကုိ အကဲျဖတ္

ကုမၸဏီမွ ႀကဳံေတြ႕ေနရေသာ ဆုံး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားအ

ရင္းမ်ားကို စစ္ေဆးရန္အတြက္ Myanmar Vigour

သုံးသပ္ျခင္း) ကုိ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုတစ္ခုလုံး အတိုင္းအ

တြက္ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈအဖြဲ႕၏ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခ်က္မ်ားႏွင့္ လုပ္

& Associates Limited (“Deloitte Myanmar”) ကို

တာျဖင့္ လုပ္ေဆာင္ပါသည္။

ထုံးလုပ္နည္းမ်ား က်င့္သံုးျခင္း႐ွိမ႐ွိကို ေစာင့္ၾကည့္

ကုမၸဏီျပင္ပစာရင္းစစ္မႈ

ျပင္ပစာရင္းစစ္ အဖြဲ႕အစည္းအျဖစ္ ေ႐ြးခ်ယ္ထားပါ

ေလ့လာေစာင့္ၾကည့္ျခင္းႏွင့္ အစီရင္ခံျခင္း

လ်က္႐ိွၿပီး ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ေျခစီမံခန္႔ခဲြျခင္းမူေဘာင္ကို အစဥ္

သည္။ ထိုျပင္ပစာရင္းစစ္အဖြဲ႕အစည္း၏ အစီရင္ခံစာ

ဆုံး႐ႈံးႏိုင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားအေပၚ လက္႐ိွထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈစနစ္မ်ား

ကုုိ ၂၀၁၉ ဘ႑ာနွစ္အတြက္ ထုုတ္ျပန္ေသာ နွစ္ပတ္

၏ ထိေရာက္မႈမ်ားကုိ သုံးသပ္ရန္၊

လည္အစီရင္ခံစာ၏ လြတ္လပ္ေသာစာရင္းစစ္ အစီ

ျပင္ရန္၊ ဆုံး႐ႈံးႏိုင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ား၏ ပုံစံေျပာင္းလဲေနမႈမ်ား

ကုမၸဏီအေနျဖင့္ ခ်က္ျခင္းေျဖ႐ွင္းရန္ လိုအပ္သည့္

ရင္ခံစာက႑တြင္ ေဖာ္ျပထားပါသည္။

ကုိ

႐ွိရင္းစြဲ (သို႔) အသစ္ႀကံဳေတြ႕ရမည့္ ႀကီးမားေသာ ဆုံး

ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈအႏၲရာယ္မ်ားကုိ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲျခင္း
ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏
ကုမၸဏီ၏

ေန႔စဥ္

သုံးသပ္ရန္တို႔အတြက္

သံုးသပ္လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

လိုအပ္ပါက ျပဳ

ႏွစ္၀က္ႏွင့္

ႏွစ္စဥ္

Enterprise Risk Assessment (လုပ္ငန္းဆိုင္ရာ

႐ႈံးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားနွင့္

ဆုံး႐ႈံးႏိုင္ေျခအကဲျဖတ္ျခင္း) မ်ားကုိ လုပ္ေဆာင္လ်က္

ေသာ ဆုံး႐ႈံးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားအတြက္ အႀကီးတန္းစီမံခန္႔

႐ိွပါသည္။

ေရးအဖြဲ႕ႏွင့္ ARMC သို႔ အျမန္ဆုံးသတင္းပုိ႔ရပါမည္။

ကုမၸဏီ၏

ခံႏုိင္ရည္႐ိွမႈထက္ပို

လုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္မႈတြင္
မူ၀ါဒမ်ားႏွင့္

ကုမၸဏီအတြင္း ထိေရာက္သည့္ ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ေျခ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲ

မွန္ကန္ေသာ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈစနစ္မ်ားကိုအေျခခံ၍ အေမွ်ာ္

အဓိကတန္ဖုိးထားမႈမ်ား၊

မႈႏွင့္ ထိန္းခ်ဳပ္မႈစနစ္႐ိွေစရန္ ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏိုင္ေျခစီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈ

အျမင္႐ိွသည့္ စြန္႔စားမႈကိုအေျခခံေသာ ဆံုးျဖတ္ခ်က္

မူေဘာင္မွ ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ အားေကာင္းေသာ ေကာ္

မ်ားခ်မွတ္နိုင္သည့္၊

ပိုရိတ္

ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခ႐ိွမႈမ်ားကုိ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲ

စီမံခန္႔ခြဲအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈ

စနစ္ကိုအေျခခံ၍

လုပ္

သည့္ အေလ့အက်င့္တစ္ရပ္ကုိ တည္ေဆာက္လ်က္

ေဆာင္ေပးလ်က္႐ိွသည္။ ထိုေကာ္ပိုရိတ္ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲအုပ္

႐ိွပါသည္။ ထိုအေလ့အက်င့္ကို ၀န္ထမ္းမ်ားသိ႐ိွလာ

ခ်ဳပ္မႈစနစ္ကို စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈစနစ္၏ အဓိကမ႑ိဳင္ႀကီး (၅)

ေအာင္ျပဳလုပ္ျခင္း၊ အသိပညာေပးျခင္း၊ ေလ့လာေစာင့္

ရပ္ျဖစ္သည့္ ေပၚလစီမ်ားႏွင့္ လုုပ္ထံုးလုုပ္နည္းမ်ား၊

ၾကည့္ျခင္းႏွင့္

အတြင္းအျပင္

ဆံုး႐ံႈးႏုိင္ေျခမ်ား

ေလ်ာ့ပါးေအာင္

စာရင္းစစ္မႈမ်ား၊

အကဲျဖတ္သံုးသပ္

ေဆာင္႐ြက္ျခင္းတုိ႔ကို ကုမၸဏီမ်ားအုပ္စု၏ လုပ္ငန္း

ခ်က္မ်ား၊ လိုက္နာမႈ႐ိွမ႐ိွ ေစာင့္ၾကည့္အစီရင္ခံတင္ျပ

အားလံုးတြင္ က်င့္သံုးေဆာင္႐ြက္လ်က္ ႐ိွပါသည္။

ျခင္းမ်ားႏွင့္ စီးပြားေရးလုုပ္ငန္းဆံုး႐ံႈးမႈဆိုင္ရာ အကဲ
ျဖတ္မႈတို႔မွ

အေထာက္အကူျပဳ

ထားပါသည္။

ထို

ရင္းႏွီးျမႇဳပ္နွံမႈအတြက္ အမွန္တကယ္ ဆုံးျဖတ္ေဆာင္

မ႑ိဳင္မ်ားကို စာရင္းစစ္နွင့္ ဆံုး႐ံႈးနိုင္ေျခ စီမံခန္႔ခြဲမႈ

႐ြက္ျခင္းမျပဳမီတြင္ ျဖစ္ႏိုင္ေျခ႐ိွေသာ ဘ႑ာေရးဆိုင္

ေကာ္မတီႏွင့္ ဒါ႐ိုက္တာအဖြဲ႕တို႔မွ ႀကီးၾကပ္ကြပ္ကဲ

ရာ

လ်က္႐ိွပါသည္။

လုပ္ငန္းလည္ပတ္မႈဆိုင္ရာႏွင့္ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာက်

Mountain Range in Mon State
Photography by Ko Oo
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Sustainability

Report

The Group’s sustainability strategy is centred on building capacity and giving back to the communities in which it operates. For FY Sep2019,
the company focuses on the monitoring and evaluation of our businesses in 6 key areas – Anti-corruption, Legal compliance, Environment,
Employee Training and Development, Diversity, and local communities – intended to integrate the significant environmental, social and
governance impacts of their operations.

FMI’s Materiality, Targets, Policies and Results for FY 2019
Material Factors

Targets

Policies

Results

Governance
Anti-Corruption

• To uphold and adhere to
the Group’s zero tolerance
approach to corruption, bribery
and fraud.

•
•
•
•
•

Anti-Bribery Policy
Anti-Corruption Procedure
Code of Conduct
Conflict of Interest Policy
Whistle Blowing Policy

Zero cases of corruption, fraud or
bribery reported.

Legal Compliance

• FMI strive to maintain full
compliance with the relevant
national environmental policies,
laws and regulations.

• Code of Conduct
• Environmental, Health and
Safety Policy
• Human Rights Policy

Zero cases of fraudulent
behaviour reported.

• Do not harm environment
• Reduce the use of plastics

• Environment, Health & Safety
Policy

Through the Less Single Use
Plastic Campaign, the Group has
replaced plastics water bottles
with glass jars and cups in the
offices, used paper straws and
provided reusable stainless-steel
water bottles to employees.

Employee skills, training
and development

• 10 % increase hours of training
per employee for FY2019

• Employment Policy
• Human Rights Policy

The Group is consistently
providing a range of development
programmes every 3 months.

Diversity

• 50% of managers to be trained
on anti-harassment

• Diversity Policy

Through “Generation Equality:
Action Against Harassment at
Work” campaign , more than 50%
of managers from the company
has participated the training on
anti-harassment on 10th Dec 2019.

Local Communities

• 2 hours per employee of
volunteer time every financial
year

• CSR and Sustainability
committees

The Company has achieved
volunteer 2 hours per employee
in FY Sep2019 through different
activities.

Environmental
Environment

Social

Further information on the Company’s sustainability effort and performance will be detailed in the
sustainability report to be published by February 2021.

Annual Report 2019

61

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စု၏ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့ခုိင္ၿမဲမႈ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာသည္ ကုမၸဏီစီးပြားေရးလုုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၏ အဓိကက်ေသာေနရာ (၆)ခုအား ေလ့လာေစာင့္ၾကည့္ျခင္းႏွင့္ အကဲျဖတ္ျခင္းတုိ႔ကုိ
ျပဳလုုပ္ပါသည္။ ထို (၆)ခုုမွာ အက်င့္ပ်က္ျခစားမႈတုိက္ဖ်က္ျခင္း၊ ဥပေဒႏွင့္ညီၫြတ္စြာလုပ္ကုိင္ျခင္း၊ သဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္ထိန္းသိမ္းျခင္း၊ ၀န္ထမ္းမ်ားအား သင္ၾကားေလ့က်င့္
တုိးတက္ေစျခင္း၊ မတူကဲြျပားျခားနားျခင္းႏွင့္ ေဒသခံလူ႔အဖြဲ႕အစည္းမ်ား

ျဖစ္ၾကပါသည္။ မဟာဗ်ဴဟာ၏ ရည္႐ြယ္ခ်က္မွာ ကၽြန္ေတာ္တို႔ လုုပ္ငန္းမ်ားတြင္ ၎တို႔၏ လုုပ္ငန္း

ေဆာင္႐ြက္မႈမ်ားတြင္ အေရးႀကီးေသာ သဘာဝပတ္ဝန္းက်င္၊ လူမႈေရးႏွင့္ စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈဆိုင္ရာ အက်ိဳးသက္ေရာက္မႈမ်ားကို ပူးေပါင္းလုပ္ေဆာင္နိုင္ေစရန္ ရည္႐ြယ္ပါသည္။

FMI ၏ အေရးႀကီးေသာ အခ်က္အလက္မ်ား၊ ပန္းတိုင္မ်ား၊ မူဝါဒမ်ားႏွင့္ ရလဒ္မ်ား

အေရးႀကီးေသာ
အခ်က္အလက္မ်ား

ပန္းတိုင္မ်ား

မူဝါဒမ်ား

ရလဒ္မ်ား

စီမံအုပ္ခ်ဳပ္မႈ
အက်င့္ပ်က္ျခစားမႈ
တိုက္ဖ်က္ေရး

• အက်င့္ပ်က္ျခစားမႈ၊
လာဘ္ေပးလာဘ္ယူမႈႏွင့္
လိမ္လည္မႈကိစၥမ်ားကို လံုးဝေ႐ွာင္
ၾကဥ္ရန္

• လာဘ္ေပးလာဘ္ယူ ဆန္႔က်င္ေရးမူဝါဒ

အက်င့္ပ်က္ျခစားျခင္း၊ လိမ္လည္ျခင္းႏွင့္ လာဘ္

• အက်င့္ပ်က္ျခစားမႈ တုုိက္ဖ်က္ေရး

ေပးလာဘ္ယူျခင္း ကိစၥမ်ားတစ္စုံတစ္ခုမွ်

လုပ္ငန္းစဥ္

ျဖစ္ပြားခဲ့ျခင္း မ႐ွိခဲ့ပါ။

• လုုပ္ငန္းဆိုင္ရာက်င့္ဝတ္
• ကိုယ္က်ိဳးစီးပြား ပဋိပကၡျဖစ္ျခင္းဆိုင္ရာ
မူဝါဒ
• အသိေပးတိုင္ၾကားျခင္းမူဝါဒ

ဥပေဒေလးစားလိုက္နာမႈ

• အမ်ဳိးသား သဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္
ထိန္းသိမ္းေရးဆုိင္ရာ မူ၀ါဒမ်ား၊
ဥပေဒႏွင့္ စည္းမ်ဥ္းစည္းကမ္းမ်ား၊
မူ၀ါဒမ်ားအတိုင္း FMI မွ အျပည့္အ၀

• လုုပ္ငန္းဆိုင္ရာက်င့္ဝတ္

မမွန္မကန္လုပ္ေဆာင္မႈ တစ္စုံတစ္ရာျဖစ္ပြားခဲ့ျခင္း

• ပတ္ဝန္းက်င္ထိန္းသိမ္းေရး၊ က်န္းမာ

မ႐ွိပါ။

ေရးႏွင့္ ေဘးကင္းလံုၿခံဳေရးမူဝါဒ
• လူ႔အခြင့္အေရးမူဝါဒ

လုုိက္နာေဆာင္႐ြက္ျခင္း

သဘာဝပတ္ဝန္းက်င္
သဘာဝပတ္ဝန္းက်င္

• သဘာ၀ပတ္၀န္းက်င္ထိခုိက္မႈ
မ႐ွိေစျခင္း
• ပလပ္စတစ္သုံးစဲြမႈေလ်ာ့ခ်ျခင္း

• ပတ္ဝန္းက်င္ ထိန္းသိမ္းေရး၊

ပလပ္စတစ္သုံးစဲြမႈ ေလ်ာ့က်ေရး လႈပ္႐ွားမႈမွတဆင့္

က်န္းမာေရးႏွင့္ ေဘးကင္း

႐ံုးမ်ား၌ ပလပ္စတစ္ေရသန္႔ဗူးမ်ားကုိ ဖန္ခြက္မ်ား

လံုၿခံဳေရးမူဝါဒ

ျဖင့္ အစားထုိးခဲ့ျခင္း၊ စကၠဴပုိက္မ်ားအသုံးျပဳျခင္း၊
ျပန္လည္အသုံးျပဳႏုိင္သည့္ စတီးေရဗူးမ်ား ျဖန္႔ေ၀
ေပးျခင္းတုိ႔ကုိ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ႏုိင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

လူမႈေရး
ဝန္ထမ္းမ်ား၏

• ၂၀၁၈ ခုႏွစ္ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္မွစတင္၍

စြမ္းေဆာင္ရည္၊ ေလ့က်င့္

၀န္ထမ္း တစ္ဦးခ်င္းစီ၏

သင္ၾကားေပးမႈနွင့္

သင္တန္းခ်ိန္ကို ၁၀% တုိးျမႇင့္ျခင္း။

• ဝန္ထမ္းမ်ားဆိုင္ရာမူဝါဒ

ကုမၸဏီအုပ္စုအေနျဖင့္ (၃)လတစ္ႀကိမ္ လုပ္ငန္း

• လူ႔အခြင့္အေရးမူဝါဒ

စြမ္းေဆာင္ရည္ တုိးတက္ေရးအစီအစဥ္မ်ား / သင္
တန္းမ်ားအား ပုံမွန္ေဆာင္္႐ြက္ႏုိင္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

ဖြံ႕ၿဖိဳးတိုးတက္မႈ
မတူကြဲျပားမႈ

• မန္ေနဂ်ာ ၅၀% အား

• မတူကြဲျပားမႈဆိုင္ရာမူဝါဒ

“Generation Equality: Action Against

အေနွာင့္အယွက္ေပးမႈ

Harassment at Work” အစီအစဥ္အရ မန္ေနဂ်ာ

တုုိက္ဖ်က္ျခင္းႏွင့္ပတ္သက္၍

၅၀% ေက်ာ္သည္ ၂၀၁၉ ခုႏွစ္ ဒီဇင္ဘာလ (၁၀)

ေလ့က်င့္ေပးျခင္း

ရက္ေန႔တြင္ လုပ္ငန္းခြင္အတြင္း ထိပါးေႏွာင့္ယွက္
မႈတားဆီးေရး ေလ့က်င့္မႈတြင္ ပါ၀င္ေလ့က်င့္္ခဲ့ၾက
ပါသည္။ ၂၀၁၉ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္တြင္ လူမႈလုပ္အားေပး
လုပ္ငန္းမ်ား၌္ လုပ္အားေပးခ်ိန္နာရီေပါင္းမ်ားစြာ
ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

ေဒသခံလူ႔အဖြဲ႕အစည္းမ်ား

• ႏွစ္စဥ္လုပ္အားေပးမႈတြင္
၀န္ထမ္းတစ္ဦးလွ်င္ (၂)နာရီ
ပါ၀င္ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခ်ိန္

• CSR နွင့္ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့ခိုင္ၿမဲေရး
ေကာ္မတီမ်ား

ကုမၸဏီသည္ ၂၀၁၉ ဘ႑ာႏွစ္ကုန္တြင္
၀န္ထမ္းတစ္ဦးလွ်င္ လူမႈေရးလုပ္ငန္းမ်ားတြင္
လုပ္အားေပးခ်ိန္ (၂)နာရီ ေဆာင္႐ြက္ခဲ့ပါသည္။

ကုမၸဏီ၏ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့ခုိင္ၿမဲေရး ႀကိဳးပမ္းေဆာင္႐ြက္မႈ ႏွင့္ပတ္သက္သည့္ သတင္းအခ်က္အလက္မ်ားကုိ ၂၀၂၁ ခုႏွစ္၊ ေဖေဖာ္၀ါရီလမတိုင္ခင္ ထုတ္ေ၀မည့္ ေရ႐ွည္တည္တံ့
ခုိင္ၿမဲေရး အစီရင္ခံစာတြင္ အေသးစိတ္ေဖာ္ျပသြားမည္ ျဖစ္ပါသည္။
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Report of the

Directors
The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the six-month period ended September 30, 2019.

1. Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
U Myat Thin Aung
U Than Aung
Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint
U Tun Tun
U Linn Myaing
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
U Kyi Aye

2. Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.

3. Directors’ Interest in Shares or Debentures
The directors holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital of the Company as recorded in the
register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company, except as follows:

Shareholdings registered
in name of director
Names of directors
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
U Tun Tun
U Myat Thin Aung
U Than Aung
U Linn Myaing
Prof. Dr. Yi Yi Myint
Prof. Dr. Aung Tun Thet
U Kyi Aye

At beginning of year or
date of appointment, if
later
9,008,506
79,500
66,160
22,800
8,610
6,379
635
205

At end
of year
9,008,506
82,200
66,160
22,800
11,310
6,379
635
205

Shareholdings in which a director is
deemed to have an interest
At beginning of year or
date of appointment, if
later
8,003,533
-

At end
of year
8,001,533
-

4. Results of the Group
The financial position of the Group as at September 30, 2019 and the financial performance of the Group for the six-month period
then ended are set out on pages 68 to 69 and page 70, respectively.
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5. Dividends
No dividend has been proposed by the Board of Directors of the Company for the six-month period ended September 30, 2019.

6. Auditors
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Cho Cho Aung, Certified Public Accountant and Financial Consultant of
Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

U Tun Tun

Executive Chairman

Executive Director

Date: December 30, 2019
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Statement of the

Directors

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 68 to 122 are drawn up so as to give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at September 30, 2019, and the financial performance, changes in equity and
cash flows of the Group for the six-month period then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe
that the Group will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

U Tun Tun

Executive Chairman

Executive Director

Date: December 30, 2019
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Myanmar Vigour & Associates
Limited
#411, Level 4
Strand Square
No. 53 Strand Road
Pabedan Township
Yangon, Myanmar
Tel: +95 1230 7364
www.deloitte.com/mm

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at September 30, 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group for the six-month period then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 68 to 122.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law”) and Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”). This responsibility includes:
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Myanmar Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at September 30,
2019, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the six-month period then ended in accordance with the provisions of the
Law and MFRSs.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Law to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated
in Myanmar of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Law.

Cho Cho Aung
PA-54
Certified Public Accountant and
Financial Consultant
Yangon, Myanmar
Date: December 30, 2019

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Financial Position

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
As at September 30, 2019

Note

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary
Inventories
Advances and prepayments
Available-for-sale investments
Total current assets

5
6
7
8
9
11

384,154,922
80,742,458
1,846,185,268
1,300,285
15,420,059
10,484,352
2,338,287,344

350,634,146
64,056,772
1,660,001,943
1,249,156
29,244,740
2,105,186,757

Non-current assets
Other non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments
Investment in joint venture
Investment in associates
Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary
Investment properties
Property and equipment
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

2,957,154
43,776,795
3,356,290
74,010,039
483,060,003
8,975,541
108,995,169
57,479,365
5,392,965
788,003,321

10,216,857
49,036,422
3,357,261
74,372,409
395,807,512
2,736,451
109,619,240
57,833,335
5,610,990
708,590,477

3,126,290,665

2,813,777,234

138,164,271

148,449,066

2,564,888,437
4,459,755
8,774,080
25,228,334
2,741,514,877

2,269,400,040
4,217,058
6,554,385
11,145,460
2,439,766,009

56,317,689
4,769,973
61,087,662

63,140,150
63,140,150

2,802,602,539

2,502,906,159

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from customers by the bank
subsidiary
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP, by the bank subsidiary
Income tax payable
Borrowings and bank overdraft
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Other payables
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

19

20

20
19
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Financial Position

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
As at September 30, 2019

Note
Capital and Reserves
Share capital
Reserves
Retained profits
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

21
23

September 30,
2019
MMK’000
93,762,054
39,519,507
81,434,579
214,716,140
108,971,986
323,688,126

93,762,054
30,821,043
93,383,726
217,966,823
92,904,252
310,871,075

3,126,290,665

2,813,777,234

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
U
TheimChairman
Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive
Executive Chairman

U Tun Tun
Executive Director

Date: December 30, 2019

Date : December 30, 2019

See
accompanying
notes
to financial
statements.
See accompanying
notes
to financial
statements.

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

U Tun Tun
Executive Director
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FORthe
THE
SIX-MONTH
PERIOD
ENDED30,
SEPTEMBER
30, 2019
For
six-month
period ended
September
2019

Note

Revenue

24

For the six-month
period ended
September 30, 2019
MMK’000

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000

168,432,139

279,735,934

Cost of sales

(99,285,554)

(169,007,085)

Gross Profit

69,146,585

110,728,849

Administrative expenses

25

(51,731,077)

(97,883,972)

Finance expenses

26

(4,962,917)

(6,861,297)

Other losses, net

27

(1,772,980)

(5,834,211)

1,951,715

20,576,668

12,631,326

20,726,037

(5,530,725)

(6,282,648)

7,100,601

14,443,389

Share of profit of associates and joint venture,
net of tax

12, 13

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

28

Profit for the period/year
Other comprehensive income
Fair value adjustment of available-for-sale
investments

11, 23

2,332,924

(6,015,680)

Share of other comprehensive loss of associate

13, 23

(2,315,056)

-

Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the
period/year, net of tax

17,868

(6,015,680)

Total comprehensive income for the period/year

7,118,469

8,427,709

253,177
6,847,424
7,100,601

9,011,337
5,432,052
14,443,389

271,045
6,847,424
7,118,469

2,995,657
5,432,052
8,427,709

9

338

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
Earnings per share
Basic (MMK)

29

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun
Executive Chairman

U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun

U Tun Tun

Date:
December
Executive
Chairman30, 2019

Executive Director

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
Date: December 30, 2019
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Balance at April 1, 2018
Reclassification
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total
Capital reserve added
Transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity
Additional capital contribution from noncontrolling interests
Additional non-controlling interest from
acquisition of subsidiaries
Bonus shares issued
Share premium transferred
Dividends declared
Total
Balance as at March 31, 2019
21
21
22

23

Note

-

(1,287,671)
(66,649,307)
(67,936,978)
-

-

1,287,671
66,649,307
67,936,978
93,762,054

71

67,936,978
-

Share
premium
MMK’000

30,821,043

-

(6,015,680)
(6,015,680)
4,032,874

32,938,132
(134,283)

Reserves
MMK’000

-

(2,582,508)
(2,582,508)
93,383,726

-

9,011,337
(5,982,275)

9,011,337

92,802,889
134,283

Retained
profits
MMK’000

Attributable to owners of the Company

25,825,076
-

Share
capital
MMK’000

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

Changes in Equity

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

-

(2,582,508)
(2,582,508)
217,966,823

-

9,011,337
(6,015,680)
2,995,657
(1,949,401)

219,503,075

Total
MMK’000

968,979
92,904,252

154,570

5,432,052
5,432,052
(1,872,954)

88,221,605
-

Noncontrolling
interests
MMK’000

-

968,979
(2,582,508)
(2,582,508)
310,871,075

154,570

14,443,389
(6,015,680)
8,427,709
(3,822,355)

307,724,680

Total
equity
MMK’000

Annual Report 2019
71

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Balance as at September 30, 2019

Balance as at April 1, 2019
Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total
Capital reserve added
Transactions with owners, recognised
directly in equity
Impact to non-controlling interest arising
from adjustments to provisional amounts
Difference in fair value of loan from noncontrolling interest
Impact of change in parent’s ownership
interest without loss of control
Conversion of subsidiary loan by noncontrolling interest
Total
-

36
20
4

93,762,054

-

-

23

20

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

72

Share
premium
MMK’000

39,519,507

(3,521,728)

(3,521,728)

-

-

17,868
17,868
12,202,324

30,821,043

Reserves
MMK’000

81,434,579

-

-

-

-

253,177
253,177
(12,202,324)

93,383,726

Retained
profits
MMK’000

Attributable to owners of the Company

93,762,054

Note

Share
capital
MMK’000

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR
THE SIX-MONTH
PERIOD
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For
the six-month
period ended
September
30, 2019

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.

AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Changes
in Equity

Consolidated Statement of

214,716,140

(3,521,728)

(3,521,728)

-

-

253,177
17,868
271,045
-

217,966,823

Total
MMK’000

108,971,986

4,705,000
9,220,310

3,521,728

841,880

151,702

6,847,424
6,847,424
-

92,904,252

Noncontrolling
interests
MMK’000

323,688,126

4,705,000
5,698,582

-

841,880

151,702

7,100,601
17,868
7,118,469
-

310,871,075

Total
equity
MMK’000
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FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT
PUBLIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
Cash
Flows

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Finance expense
Depreciation of property and equipment
Specific provision on non-performing loans and other assets
Fair value loss at initial recognition of investment property
Amortisation of intangible assets
Property and equipment written off
Write-off of unsuccessful business development
Inventories written off
Provision for doubtful debts
Depreciation of investment properties
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Gain on conversion of loan
Unrealised forex loss
Share of profit of associates and joint venture, net of tax
Available-for-sale investments written off
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments
Adjustment for unclaimed deposit
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
Deposits and balances from customers, by the bank subsidiary
Advances and prepayments
AFP foreign currency deposit, by the bank subsidiary
Inventories
Trade and other payables
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers, by the bank subsidiary
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Net cash provided by operating activities

For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000

12,631,326

20,726,037

4,922,263
4,512,429
3,537,312
872,173
787,350
502,234
216,982
12,891
5,519
(31,250)
(42,850)
(150,000)
(330,365)
(1,951,715)
25,494,299

6,805,632
8,378,494
8,716,273
1,201,720
161,173
2,524,139
41,900
34,510
31,250
(44,538)
4,264,801
(20,576,668)
258,941
4,151
(3,822,355)
28,705,460

295,488,397
15,316,504
242,697
(64,021)
(13,142,568)
(16,435,771)
(189,309,781)
117,589,756
(5,077,294)
112,512,462

457,859,844
5,400,214
1,895,578
(111,632)
20,921,110
(8,465,625)
(300,605,504))
205,599,445
(7,019,826)
198,579,619

73

74

First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd.

Consolidated Statement of

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Cash Flows

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Additions to other non-current assets
Additions to deferred investment
Additions to intangible assets
Additions to property and equipment
Investment in government and other securities, by the bank
Subsidiary
Cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries
Investment in associates
Investment in available-for-sales investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings and bank overdraft
Proceeds from loan from an external party
Dividends paid
Interest paid
Repayment of borrowings and bank overdraft
Proceeds from additional contribution from non-controlling
interests
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000

45,010
(2,432)
(34,862)
(569,325)
(3,887,080)

119,041
(580,013)
(2,111,755)
(2,334,547)
(8,113,665)

(87,252,491)
(91,701,180)

(132,336,907)
(4,601,500)
(1,889,220)
(536,696)
(152,385,262)

17,001,977
4,598,400
(7,256)
(4,372,549)
(4,511,078)

31,676,988
(2,566,841)
(6,805,632)
(4,975,242)

12,709,494

154,570
17,483,843

33,520,776
350,634,146
384,154,922

63,678,200
286,955,946
350,634,146
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Financial Statements

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

1

GENERAL
First Myanmar Investment Public Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) (Registration No. 121398001) is
incorporated in Myanmar with its principal place of business and registered office located at The
Campus, 1, Office Park, Rain Tree Drive, Pun Hlaing Estate, Hlaing Thayar Township, Yangon,
11401, Myanmar.
The Company is listed on the Yangon Stock Exchange Joint Venture Company Limited on March 25,
2016. The financial statements are prepared in Myanmar Kyats (“MMK”).
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries, joint venture and associates are disclosed in Notes 4, 12 and 13, respectively, to these
consolidated financial statements.
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future and, therefore, continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the six-month period ended September 30,
2019 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on December 30, 2019.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up
in accordance with the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law (“Law”) and Myanmar Financial
Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”).
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods
and services.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within
the scope of MAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not
fair value, such as net realisable value in MAS 2 Inventories or value in use in MAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.
REPORTING PERIOD – Pursuant to the Letter from the Internal Revenue Department dated
May 28, 2019, all cooperatives and private enterprises are required to close their accounts for the
transition period from April 1, 2019 to September 30, 2019. Accordingly, the Group also changed its
financial reporting period end from March 31 to September 30 and the Consolidated Statement of
Profit and Loss and other Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of changes in Equity and
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six-month period ended September 30, 2019 and
twelve-month period ended March 31, 2019 are presented as comparative figures of the current
period consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the amounts presented in the consolidated
financial statements are not entirely comparable.
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - There have been no new/revised MFRSs and
Interpretations of MFRSs adopted by the Myanmar Accountancy Council during the period.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The
interest of non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured (at date of original business combination) either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another MFRS.
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under MAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS – The acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent
changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as
measurement period adjustments (see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with MAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, or MAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the
acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from
interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate
if that interest were disposed of.
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under the MFRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:
•

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or
the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based
payment awards transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in MFRS 2 Sharebased Payment at the acquisition date; and

•

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with MFRS 5 Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that Standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period
(see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains
complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date – and is
subject to a maximum of one year from acquisition date.
The accounting policy for initial measurement of non-controlling interests is described above.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

ASSOCIATES - An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in
which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share
of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses
of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are not
recognised, unless the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Where a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
JOINT VENTURE - A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control, that is when the strategic financial
and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
Where a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint venture arrangements directly, the Group’s
share of jointly controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers are
recognised in the financial statements of the relevant entity and classified according to their nature.
Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are
accounted for on an accrual basis. Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of
jointly controlled assets, and its share of joint venture expenses, are recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the Group and their
amount can be measured reliably.
Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each
venturer has an interest are referred to as jointly controlled entities. The Group reports its interests
in jointly controlled entities using proportionate consolidation, except when the investment is
classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for under MFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations. The Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of jointly controlled entities are combined with the equivalent items in the consolidated financial
statements on a line-by-line basis.
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group’s interest in a jointly controlled entity is
accounted for in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of a subsidiary (see below).
Where the Group transacts with its jointly controlled entities, unrealised profits and losses are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the joint venture.

Annual Report 2019

Notes to Consolidated

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Financial Statements

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument
and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where
appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
Financial assets
All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of
an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value.
(a)

Classification
Financial assets are classified into following categories: “loans and receivables”, “held-tomaturity investments” and “available-for-sale” financial assets. The classification depends on
the nature and the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
(i)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current
assets, except for those maturing later than 12 months after the year end which are
presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and
other receivables”, “loans and advances to customers” and “cash and cash equivalents”
in the statement of financial position. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by
applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the
effect of discounting is immaterial.

(ii)

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group has the positive intention
and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are reported in the
statement of financial position as “government and other securities”.
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(iii)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as noncurrent unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of the assets
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Available-for-sale financial
assets are subsequently carried at fair value if the fair value can be reliably estimated
using valuation techniques supported by observable market data, otherwise, those
assets are carried at cost less impairment loss. Changes in the fair values of availablefor-sale equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, together
with the related currency translation differences.

(b)

Impairment
Financial assets, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted.
For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
the investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed
not to be impaired individually are, in addition assessed for impairment on a collective
basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is
reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the
amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised in
profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value
after an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.
(c)

Derecognition of financial asset
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(a)

Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.
(i)

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of
the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(ii)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
Interest-bearing borrowings are initially measured at their fair values and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of
borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).

(b)

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT – Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and
any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Costs of a self-constructed
asset include material costs, labour costs and other direct costs used in the construction of the
asset. Other costs such as start-up costs, administration and other general overhead costs,
advertising and training costs are excluded and expensed as incurred. Cost also includes borrowing
costs (refer to Note on borrowing costs).
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than assets under construction,
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:
Land and building
Machinery and equipment
Renovation, furniture and office equipment
Motor vehicles
IT and computers
Facilities and infrastructure system
Rehabilitation cost

20 – 67
5 – 10
3 – 20
5–8
3–5
10 – 20
5

years
years
years
years
years
years
years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The effects of any
revision are recognised in the profit or loss when the changes arise.
Fully depreciated property and equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no
longer in use.
Assets-under-construction included in property and equipment is not depreciated as these assets are
not available for use. These are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Depreciation for
the assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss.
GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that
control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS ACQUIRED IN A BUSINESS COMBINATION EXCLUDING GOODWILL - Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from goodwill,
where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair value can be measured reliably.
The cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.
The amortisation periods for the intangible assets are as follows:
Computer software
License

5 years
10 years

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets acquired separately.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES - Investment properties include those portions of office buildings that are
held for long-term rental yields and/or for capital appreciation and land under operating leases that
is held for long-term capital appreciation or for a presently in determinate use.
These investment properties are measured initially at its cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property.
The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any
other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their
intended use and capitalised borrowing costs.
The Group’s investment properties also include properties taken over from loan defaulters by the
bank subsidiary and held until the Group identifies a potential buyer. These properties are measured
at the fair value at the time of initial recognition and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation. On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
An investment property is derecognised on its disposal, or when it is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the
items is derecognised.
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IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each
reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest Group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
INVENTORIES - Inventories consist of medicines and consumables which are purchased for the
purpose of sale in the ordinary course of business. Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis and comprises of cost of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less all estimated
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value shall be recognised as an expense in the period
the write-down occurs.
PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar
allowances.
Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
rendering of services in the ordinary course of the activities of the Group. Sales are presented net of
commercial tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and its related cost can be reliably
measured, when it is reasonably assured that the related receivables are collectable, and when the
specific criteria for each of the Group’s activities are met as follows:
Rendering of services – Financial services and healthcare services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the period in which the services are rendered.
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable.
Rental income
The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described below.
LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
use benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.
The Group as lessee
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern
in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the statement profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability
is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.
Current tax is recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss.
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS – Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the
contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, are dealt with as
payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent
to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of
each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the
Group are presented in Myanmar Kyats, which is the presentation currency for the consolidated
financial statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than
the entity’s reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary
items are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised other comprehensive income. For such nonmonetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Myanmar Kyats using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense items (including
comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions are used.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash equivalents in
the statement of cash flows comprise of cash on hand, cash at bank and demand deposits, bank
overdrafts, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
EARNINGS PER SHARE - The Group presents basic earnings per share data for its ordinary shares
("EPS").
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing by profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period,
adjusted for own shares held.
3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
(i)

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
Management are of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not
expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements,
except as described below.
a.) Control over Yoma Bank Limited
Note 4 describes that Yoma Bank (“Yoma Bank”) is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group only owns a 48.39% ownership interest in Yoma Bank. Based on the contractual
arrangement between the Group and the other investor, the Group has the power over
more than half of the voting rights of Yoma Bank, and hence the Group has control over
the financial and operating policies of Yoma Bank. Therefore, the directors of the Company
concluded that Yoma Bank is controlled by the Group and is consolidated in these financial
statements (Note 4).
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(ii)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.
a) Allowance for doubtful debts
The policy for allowance for doubtful receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current
creditworthiness, the past collection history and ongoing dealings. If the financial
conditions of the customer were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of its ability to
make payments, additional allowance may be required.
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 6.
b) Uncertain tax positions
The Group is subject to income taxes in Myanmar. In determining income tax liabilities,
management is required to estimate the amount of capital allowances and the deductibility
of certain expenses (“uncertain tax positions”).
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, the Group makes adjustment for such differences in the income tax of the period
in which such determination is made.
Information about the income tax calculation is disclosed in Note 28.
c)

Impairment of goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cashgenerating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The
carrying amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period was MMK 57,479 million
(March 31, 2019: MMK 57,833 million).
No impairment of goodwill is recognised as at September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019.
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d) Impairment of loans and advances, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments
Management reviews its loans and advances, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity
investments for objective evidence of impairment at each reporting period. Significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and
default or significant delay in payments are considered objective evidence that a receivable
is impaired. In making this determination, management makes judgments as to whether
there is observable data indicating that there has been a significant change in the payment
ability of the debtor, or whether there have been significant adverse changes in the
market, economic or legal environment where the debtor maintains operations. In the case
of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment
includes significant financial difficulty of the issuer and information about significant
adverse changes that have occurred in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment where the issuer maintains operations, indicating that the cost of the
investment in the equity instrument may not be recoverable.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes judgements as to
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss. In making this
determination, management has used estimates based on historical loss experience for
assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The methodology and assumptions used for
estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to
reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
The carrying amounts of loans and advances, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity
investments as at September 30, 2019 are disclosed in Notes 7, 11 and 14, respectively.
Management has assessed that there is no objective evidence or indication that the
carrying amount of the Group’s held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments are not
recoverable as at the end of the financial reporting period, and accordingly impairment is
not required. The credit risk assessment on the Group’s loans and advances is also
disclosed in Note 32 (b).
e) Fair value of investment properties
In estimating the fair value of investment property, the Group uses current prices in an
active market for similar property in the same location and condition and subject to similar
lease and other contracts to the extent it is available. Where these are not available, the
Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The Management
works closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. Information about the valuation techniques and inputs
used in determining the fair value of investment properties is disclosed in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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4

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
Details of subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Yoma Bank Limited (1)(4)
Pun Hlaing International
Hospital Limited (2)
Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun
Hlaing Limited (2)(5)
FMI Industrial Investment
Co., Ltd. (3)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Principal activities

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting power
held
September 30,
March 31,
2019
2019

Myanmar

Financial services

48.39%

51.00%

Myanmar

Investment holding

60.00%

60.00%

Myanmar

Healthcare services

60.00%

60.00%

Myanmar

Investment holding

100.00%

100.00%

Audited by UTW (Myanmar) Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
Audited by Myanmar Vigour & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
Audited by Zaw Lwin & Associates Certified Public Accountants & Auditors, Myanmar.
On May 23, 2019, Yoma Bank has agreed to convert certain portions of the outstanding
International Finance Corporation’s convertible loan into 5.12% of the share capital of Yoma
Bank (“Transaction 1”). After Transaction 1 was completed in May and August 2019, the
Company’s shareholding in Yoma Bank was diluted from 51% to 48.45% and 48.39%,
respectively.
On June 3, 2019, the Company has entered into a conditional share swap agreement (“Share
Swap Agreement”) with Yangon Land Co., Ltd. (“Yangon Land”), to acquire 669,553 shares of
Yoma Bank owned by Yangon Land by way of (a) a share swap issuance of 9,091,170 new
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company with the nominal issue price of MMK 10,000 and
(b) cash payment of MMK 10,101,300,000 to Yangon Land (“Cash Payment”) (“Transaction 2”).
Pursuant to the Share Swap Agreement, the shares of Yoma Bank will be transferred to the
Company upon receipt of the approval from relevant regulatory authorities. The Cash Payment
will be made within 6 months of the completion of the transfer of the shares of Yoma Bank to the
Company and the long stop date for the satisfaction of the conditions of the Share Swap
Agreement is December 31, 2019. Upon completion of Transaction 1, Transaction 2 and capital
expansion which will be intended to undertake further planned activities by Yoma Bank (“Capital
Expansion”), the Company’s proposed shareholding in Yoma Bank will be 62.52% subject to
finalisation of the Capital Expansion.
Although the Group owns less than half of the voting power of Yoma Bank, based on the
contractual agreement between the Company and the other investor, the Group has the power
over more than half of the voting rights of Yoma Bank.
The effect of changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that did not result in a
change of control on the equity attributable to owners of the parent amounted to MMK
3,521,727,791, which is recorded as equity reserve in the consolidated statement of financial
position (Note 23).

(5)

The Company’s shares in Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Limited are pledged as collateral for
bank borrowings (Note 20).
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5

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Cash at bank and on hand
Cash on hand, by the bank subsidiary
Cash and placements with central
bank and other banks, by the bank subsidiary

6

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

411,425
61,543,529

297,453
42,670,778

322,199,968
384,154,922

307,665,915
350,634,146

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
External parties
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts
Trade receivables, net
Non-trade receivables
External parties
Related companies (Notes 11 and 33)
Associates (Note 13)
Other receivables
Deposits

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

44,047,802
(3,031)
44,044,771

35,477,336
(48,070)
35,429,266

643,776
3,970,071
13,635,410
18,249,257

634,620
3,970,153
13,441,482
18,046,255

5,789,524
12,658,906
80,742,458

10,079,735
501,516
64,056,772

The average credit period from rendering of services is 30 days (March 31, 2019: 30 days). No
interest is charged on the outstanding balance.
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The table below is an analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired (i)

(i)

43,562,017
482,754
44,044,771

34,955,475
473,791
35,429,266

58,884
56,389
367,481
482,754

73,377
103,196
297,218
473,791

Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired
Past due 0 to 3 months
Past due 3 to 6 months
Past due over 6 months

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

Balance at beginning of period/year
Provision during the period/year
Written off during the period
Balance at end of period/year

7

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

48,070
5,519
(50,558)
3,031

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
13,560
34,510
48,070

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Loans and advances
Trade financing
Less: Specific allowance

1,835,617,296
30,106,231
1,865,723,527
(19,538,259)
1,846,185,268

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
1,637,445,888
37,888,956
1,675,334,844
(15,332,901)
1,660,001,943
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A reconciliation of the specific allowance for impairment losses for the loans and advances, is as
follows:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Balance at beginning of period/year
Provision for the period/year
Adjustment for foreign exchange differences
Adjustment for restructured loan/write off
Total allowance for impairment losses by collectability
Transferred from LIFT-AFP (1)
Balance at end of period/year

(1)

15,332,901
3,122,290
4,167
335,577
18,794,935
743,324
19,538,259

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
9,688,435
6,953,055
215,046
(60,566)
16,795,970
(1,463,069)
15,332,901

For the year ended March 31, 2019, the Bank subsidiary has used the provision amounting
to MMK 1,463,068,848 for its HP AFP product. During the period, the bank subsidiary and
the Fund has agreed to transfer AFP fund amounting to MMK 743,324,094 as part of the
specific provision.

The table below is an analysis of loans and advances as at the end of the reporting period:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired (i)

(i)

1,506,577,662
153,424,281
1,660,001,943

Aging of loans and advances that are past due but not impaired:
Past due 0 to 3 months
Past due 3 to 6 months
Past due over 6 months

8

1,722,824,487
123,360,781
1,846,185,268

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

96,281,238
12,823,563
14,255,980
123,360,781

128,123,634
10,218,476
15,082,171
153,424,281

INVENTORIES
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Medical supplies

1,300,285

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
1,249,156

In the current period, the cost of inventories recognised as an expense amounts to
MMK 5,984,338,266 (March 31, 2019: MMK 8,248,311,168), of which MMK 12,891,276
(March 31, 2019: MMK 41,899,672) pertains to write-off of inventories.
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9

ADVANCES AND PREPAYMENTS
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Advance corporate income tax payment
Prepayments
Advance commercial tax payment
Advance to suppliers and contractors
Advance to employees
Other assets

8,112,272
3,039,973
860,280
151,736
42,013
3,213,785
15,420,059

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
6,205,428
18,394,606
845,937
281,315
16,514
3,500,940
29,244,740

Prepayments mainly consists of prepaid office rental expenses.
Other assets represent repossessed properties, which the bank subsidiary is in the process of
selling. As at September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019, the carrying amount of other assets
includes specific provision amounting to MMK 2,329,061,713 and MMK 1,914,039,813, respectively.
10

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
The Group’s other non-current assets consist of prepayments made to new projects undertaken by
the Group.
During the period, the management of Pun Hlaing International Hospital Limited, a subsidiary,
received the grant to the land in Mawlamyine with a cost of MMK 7,080,013,400. Accordingly, the
land was reclassified to investment property as management intends to hold the land for long-term
capital appreciation (Note 15).

11

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
Details of the Group’s available-for-sale investments as at September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019
are as follows:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Quoted equity shares, at fair value
Unquoted equity shares, at fair value
Total available-for-sale investments
Less: current portion
Non-current portion of available-for-sale investments

5,694,820
48,566,327
54,261,147
(10,484,352)
43,776,795

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
5,572,338
43,464,084
49,036,422
49,036,422

The investments above include investments in quoted equity securities that offer the Group the
opportunity for return through dividend income and fair value gains. The fair values of these
securities are based on the quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the financial
year.
The investments in unquoted equity investments primarily represent investments in companies that
are in the early stages of development and the recoverability of these investment is uncertain and
dependent on the outcome of these activities, which cannot presently be determined.
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Name of companies

Principal activities

Equity
holding
September 30,
2019

Fair
value
MMK’000

Equity
holding
March 31,
2019

Fair
value
MMK’000

Current
Myanmar Thilawa SEZ
Holdings Public Ltd.
Peninsula Yangon Holdings
Pte Ltd.
Digital Money Myanmar
Ltd.
Memories Group Ltd.
Meeyahta Development
Ltd.

12

Investment holding

1.65%

2,638,362

1.65%

1,833,983

Real estate developer

6.00%

7,413,624

6.00%

4,521,824

Mobile payments
Tourism

10.00%
8.36%

10,484,352
3,056,458

10.00%
8.36%

8,273,909
3,738,355

Real estate developer

12.00%

30,668,351
54,261,147

12.00%

30,668,351
49,036,422

INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
The Group has the following joint venture:

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

Unquoted equity shares at cost:
Beginning of the period/year
Share of post-acquisition results
At end of the period/year

3,357,261
(971)
3,356,290

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
3,358,901
(1,640)
3,357,261

The details of the interest in joint venture is as follows:

Name of joint venture

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Principal
activities

Proportion of ownership interest
and voting power held
September 30,
2019

LSC-FMI Co., Ltd
(1)

(1)

Property
development

Myanmar

50.00%

March 31,
2019
50.00%

Audited by Daw Me Me Than Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest
in the joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

Net assets of the joint venture
Ownership interest

6,712,580
50%

6,714,522
50%

Carrying amount of the Group’s shareholding interest

3,356,290

3,357,261
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INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Cost of investment in associates:
Beginning of the period/year
Additional investment
Repayment of advances by associate
Share of post-acquisition results
Share in other comprehensive loss of associate
Dividend income
At end of the period/year

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

74,372,409
1,952,686
(2,315,056)
74,010,039

58,743,603
2,789,220
(4,738,722)
20,578,308
(3,000,000)
74,372,409

Details of the Group’s associates are as follows:
Place of
incorporation
and operation

Name of companies

FMI Garden Development
Ltd.

Property

2

FMIDecaux Co., Ltd

1

Myanmar

Development

47.50%

47.50%

Myanmar

Advertising

40.00%

40.00%

30.00%

30.00%

Development

30.00%

30.00%

Investment holding
Agricultural activities

30.00%
30.00%

30.00%
30.00%

20.00%

20.00%

Thanlyin Estate

Property

Development Ltd.

Myanmar

3

Pun Hlaing Links Services
Co., Ltd

Myanmar

Chindwin Holdings Pte Ltd
Myanmar Agri-Tech Ltd.

5

3

Singapore/
Myanmar
Myanmar

Meeyahta International

1
2
3
4
5

Audited
Audited
Audited
Audited
Audited

5

by
by
by
by
by

Development
Golf course

4

Hotel Ltd.

Principal activities

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting power
held
September 30,
March 31,
2019
2019

Property
Myanmar

Development

UTW (Myanmar) Limited, Myanmar.
U Tun Ne Win Certified Public Accountants, Myanmar.
Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore.
Royal Treasure Audit Firm, Myanmar.
Excellent Choice Professional Company Limited, Myanmar.
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Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest
in the associates recognised in the consolidated financial statements:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

Assets and liabilities
Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share of associates’ net assets

907,556,524
(123,084,308)
784,472,216

897,302,382
(320,002,293)
577,300,089

74,010,039

74,372,409

For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Revenue

14

For the year
ended March
31, 2019
MMK’000

15,317,970

35,468,645

Profit for the period/year

1,996,805

64,875,841

Group’s share of associates’ profit for the
period/year, net of tax

1,952,686

20,578,308

GOVERNMENT AND OTHER SECURITIES, BY THE BANK SUBSIDIARY

Myanmar treasury bonds (1)
Myanmar treasury bills (1)
Money market (deposit auction
Digital Money Myanmar (2)
Myanmar Payment Union (3)
Myanmar ICT Park (3)
SWIFT (3)
Myanmar Credit Bureau (3)

(1)

(2)
(3)

(1)

)

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

267,717,068
176,043,388
35,000,000
4,035,934
200,000
56,500
6,073
1,040
483,060,003

268,699,646
111,808,183
11,000,000
4,035,934
200,000
56,500
6,209
1,040
395,807,512

Yoma Bank’s investments in the Central Bank of Myanmar’s 5-year treasury bonds,
3-year treasury bills and short-term deposit auctions. Current interest rates for Myanmar
treasury bonds are 7.25% to 10.20% p.a for 5-year bonds and 9.5% p.a for 3-year
bonds.
Yoma Bank currently owns a 5% interest in Digital Money Myanmar.
Yoma Bank’s other investments are as follows:
- MMK 200 million MPU card holders deposit fees.
- Pre-investment expenses in Myanmar ICT Park, SWIFT and Bank Association
membership fees for the Myanmar Credit Bureau.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
At fair value

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

Balance at beginning of period/year
Adjustment
Depreciation
Reclassification (Note 10)
Fair value loss at initial recognition
Balance at end of period/year

2,736,451
31,250
7,080,013
(872,173)
8,975,541

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
2,767,701
(31,250)
2,736,451

Included in investment properties is an office and retail location which is leased to Convenience
Prosperity Co., Ltd., an entity related by a common controlling shareholder, and land and buildings
held for investment.
The property rental income for the Group’s office and retail location which are leased out under
operating leases amounted to MMK 27,000,000 (March 31, 2019: MMK 54,000,000).
The fair values of the Group’s investment property at September 30, 2019 have been determined
on the basis of fair value given by current prices in an active market for similar property in the
same location and condition and subject to similar leases and other contracts.
As at September 30, 2019, the fair value of the land in Mawlamyine amounted to
MMK 6,207,840,000. Thus, the difference between fair value at initial recognition and carrying
amount of land of MMK 872,173,400 was recognised in profit or loss during the period. The fair
value was derived using the market comparable approach based on recent market prices without
any significant adjustments being made to the market observable data.
At September 30, 2019, the details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:
Description/
existing use

Tenure

Office and retail
location

5 years

Land and
building

Not
applicable

Field No. 1585, Ywar Thar Village, Naung Oo Township, Naung Oo District,
Mandalay Region

Land (9 acres)

Not
applicable

Strand Road and Lower Main Road, Bo Kone Quarter, Mawlamyine
Township, Mawlamyine District, Mon State

Land (2 acres)

Not
applicable

Location
Plot No.1159, Block No.7 & 8, Hlaing Thayar Townshhip, Yangon Region
Field No. 404 / A & B, West Ywar Thit Village, Pyay Township, Pyay District,
Bago Region
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1,607,263

5,981,860

82,408,211

82,550,647

Net book value
At March 31, 2019

At September 30,
2019
688,827

918,436

918,436
459,218
1,377,654
229,609
-

2,296,090

88,532,507

4,473,052
1,031,233
(321)
5,503,964
538,258
(2,081)
(58,281)

2,296,090
2,296,090
-

75,894,304
4,961,033
7,063,678
(6,840)
87,912,175
690,111
352,633
(3,581)
(418,831)

MMK’000

MMK’000

Accumulated
depreciation
At April 1, 2018
Depreciation
Disposals
Write off
At March 31, 2019
Depreciation
Disposals
Write off
At September 30,
2019

Cost
At April 1, 2018
Additions
Disposals
Transfer
Write off
At March 31, 2019
Additions
Adjustment
Disposals
Write off
At September 30,
2019

Rehabilitation
cost

Land and
building

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

12,764,227

13,789,238

17,427,762

12,563,331
4,223,942
(214,550)
16,572,723
2,259,570
(4,107)
(1,400,424)

30,191,989

27,979,059
1,922,149
781,157
(320,404)
30,361,961
1,167,112
142,911
(4,767)
(1,475,228)

MMK’000

Renovation,
furniture and
office
equipment

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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360,623

377,866

758,305

690,941
42,989
733,930
24,375
-

1,118,928

999,483
23,375
88,938
1,111,796
7,132
-

MMK’000

Facilities and
infrastructure
system

10,399,482

9,866,757

6,741,627

4,090,718
1,920,295
(3,991)
(169,833)
5,837,189
1,116,895
(212,457)

17,141,109

12,708,520
3,217,447
(3,991)
(218,030)
15,703,946
1,716,443
(279,280)

MMK’000

Machinery and
equipment

1,239,020

1,370,043

2,023,188

1,764,034
391,227
(225,017)
(1,480)
1,928,764
198,724
(103,630)
(670)

3,262,208

3,496,280
83,080
(298,130)
19,000
(1,423)
3,298,807
57,630
10,128
(103,630)
(727)

MMK’000

Motor vehicles

461,927

469,212

1,119,039

664,771
309,590
(155)
(165)
974,041
144,998
-

1,580,966

1,226,221
219,402
(1,545)
(825)
1,443,253
137,713
-

MMK’000

IT and
computers

530,416

419,477

-

530,416

7,614,988
757,262
(7,952,773)
419,477
110,939
-

MMK’000

Assets-underconstruction

Total

108,995,169

109,619,240

35,659,044

25,165,283
8,378,494
(229,163)
(386,349)
32,928,265
4,512,429
(109,818)
(1,671,832)

144,654,213

132,214,945
11,183,748
(303,666)
(547,522)
142,547,505
3,887,080
505,672
(111,978)
(2,174,066)

MMK’000
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GOODWILL

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

Cost:
At April 1, 2018 and March 31, 2019
Adjustment to provisional amount (Note 36)
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 36)
At September 30, 2019

57,833,335
(353,970)
57,479,365

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

52,731,087
5,102,248
57,833,335

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition to the cash-generating
units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from that business combination.
Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount of goodwill had been allocated as
follows:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Yoma Bank Ltd.
Pun Hlaing Siloam Taunggyi Hospital Limited
Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Limited
FMI Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.

51,490,489
4,748,278
1,239,863
735
57,479,365

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
51,490,489
5,102,248
1,239,863
735
57,833,335

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that
goodwill might be impaired.
For Yoma Bank Limited and Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Limited, the recoverable amount of
CGU is determined based on the most recent transactions.
For Pun Hlaing Siloam Taunggyi Hospital Limited, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs are
determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations
are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and
direct costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs.
The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts and committed expansion plans. Changes
in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in
the market.
The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved
by management for the next five years and extrapolates cash flows for the following five years
based on an estimated growth rate of 13% to 22%. The rate used to discount the forecast cash
flows is 17.35%.
As at September 30, 2019, any reasonably possible change to the key assumptions applied not
likely to cause the recoverable amounts to be below the carrying amounts of the CGU.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Computer
software
MMK’000

Total
MMK’000

Cost
At April 1, 2018
Additions
At March 31, 2019
Additions
At September 30, 2019

3,471,165
2,334,547
5,805,712
569,325
6,375,037

2,256,298
2,256,298
2,256,298

5,727,463
2,334,547
8,062,010
569,325
8,631,335

Accumulated amortisation
At April 1, 2018
Amortisation
At March 31, 2019
Amortisation
At September 30, 2019

933,319
976,090
1,909,409
674,535
2,583,944

315,981
225,630
541,611
112,815
654,426

1,249,300
1,201,720
2,451,020
787,350
3,238,370

Net book value
At March 31, 2019

3,896,303

1,714,687

5,610,990

3,791,093

1,601,872

5,392,965

At September 30, 2019

19

Licenses
MMK’000

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

Current
Trade payables
External parties
Non-trade payables
External parties
Related companies (Note 33)
Associates (Note 13)
Accrued operating expenses
Refundable deposits
Rental income received in advance
Interest income received in advance
Other payables
Total
Non-current
Loan from an external party
Deferred tax liability
Interest payable
Total
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March 31, 2019
MMK’000

83,889,121

85,414,063

614,053
22,667,141
13,946,878
37,228,072

981,521
26,360,858
13,748,521
41,090,900

5,431,171
313,267
35,500
5,414,241
5,852,899
138,164,271

4,607,612
208,535
93,650
7,620,566
9,413,740
148,449,066

4,598,400
140,581
30,992
4,769,973

-
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The average credit period on purchase of goods of the healthcare subsidiary is 30 days
(March 31, 2019: 30 days). No interest charged on the overdue trade payables.
Non-trade payables to related companies are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
On August 20, 2019, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Next Lead Holdings
Limited amounting to US$ 3 million. The loan carries an interest rate of 6% per annum and is
repayable on December 31, 2020.
20

BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFT

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

Bank overdraft
Bank borrowings
Other borrowings
Less: Amount due for settlement within
12 months (shown under current liabilities)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

8,991,382
70,325,927
2,228,714

1,029,405
73,256,205
-

(25,228,334)
56,317,689

(11,145,460)
63,140,150

The Group has seven principal bank borrowings:
a) a loan of US$ 18.32 million (equivalent to MMK 28.1 billion) (March 31, 2019: equivalent to
MMK 31.2 billion). The loan is secured by a guarantee and pledge of the Company’s shares by
U Theim Wai @ Serge Pun. The Company provided a back-to-back guarantee to U Theim Wai
@ Serge Pun in relation to this agreement. The loan carries an interest at an aggregate of 6%
(March 31, 2019: 6%) and the London Interbank Offered Rate per annum. The loan is
repayable in quarterly instalments beginning from June 2018 to November 2023.
b) a loan of MMK 13.5 billion as at September 30, 2019 and March 31, 2019. The loan is secured
by a guarantee and pledge of the Company’s shares by Yangon Land Co.,Ltd . The bank loan
carries an interest rate of 13% per annum with a term of 3 years.
c)

a loan of MMK 18 billion (March 31, 2019: MMK 12 billion). The loan is secured by the
Company's share in Yoma Siloam Pun Hlaing Hospital Ltd and the land of the Company's
associate. The bank loan carries an interest rate of 13% per annum with a term of 3 years.

d) a loan of MMK 7.5 billion (March 31, 2019: MMK 7.7 billion) raised by healthcare subsidiary.
The bank loan carries an interest rate of 13% per annum with a term of 3 years.
e) a loan of MMK 2.5 billion (March 31, 2019: MMK 3.7 billion) raised by the healthcare subsidiary
on August 23, 2018. The loan carries an interest rate of 13% per annum. The loan is secured
by its land and building.
f)

a convertible loan of MMK 4.85 billion as at March 31, 2019. The bank subsidiary loan was
advanced on September 16, 2014 by the International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) and is due
for repayment on April 27, 2019. The bank loan carried a fixed interest rate of 8% per annum.
Under the specified terms and conditions outlined in the loan agreement, IFC may convert the
loan to equity, subject to the governing laws of Myanmar. On May 23, 2019 and
August 30, 2019, the loan amounting to MMK 4.23 billion and MMK 474 million was converted
to 145,029 and 3,643 equity shares of Yoma Bank, respectively. The difference of
MMK 150,000,000 was recognised as gain on conversion of loan in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (Note 27).

102

Annual Report 2019

103

FIRST MYANMAR INVESTMENT PUBLIC CO., LTD.
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial
FOR THE SIX-MONTHStatements
PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2019
For the six-month period ended September 30, 2019

g) a loan of USD$ 2 million (MMK 2.2 billion) raised in the current period . The loan is unsecured
and unguaranteed. The loan does not carry interest and is repayable on the 5th anniversary of
the first disbursement. The fair value of the loan at the time of issuance amounted to MMK
2,198,120,449 and the difference between the proceeds and fair value amounting to MMK
841,879,551 is recorded as non-controlling interest in the consolidated statement of financial
position. During the period, the Group recognised an amortisation of the discount which was
recorded as finance expense, amounting to MMK 15,266,622 (Note 26).

21

SHARE CAPITAL
Share capital
September 30,
March 31,
September
2019
2019
30, 2019
Number of ordinary shares
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

Share premium
September
March 31,
30, 2019
2019
MMK’000
MMK’000

At the beginning of year

27,112,747

25,825,076

93,762,054

25,825,076

-

67,936,978

Share premium transfer

-

-

-

66,649,307

-

(66,649,307)

Bonus shares issued
At the end of year

-

1,287,671

-

1,287,671

-

(1,287,671)

27,112,747

27,112,747

93,762,054

93,762,054

-

-

In compliance with Myanmar Companies Regulations 2018, the Company transferred its share
premium amounting to MMK 66,649,307,700 as part of its share capital.
22

DIVIDENDS

Ordinary dividends paid:
Cash dividends of nil (March 31, 2019: MMK 100) per share
paid with respect to prior financial year
23

RESERVES

Reserves
Capital reserve (1)
At the beginning of period/year
Add: Share of capital reserve for the period/year
At the end of period/year
Investment revaluation reserve (2)
At the beginning of period/year
Add: Revaluation gain (loss)
Reclassification
At the end of period/year
Equity reserve (3)
Share in other comprehensive loss of associate
Total reserves
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September 30,
2019
MMK’000
-

September 30,
2019
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
2,582,508

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

33,468,553
12,202,324
45,670,877

29,435,679
4,032,874
33,468,553

(2,647,510)
2,332,924
(314,586)
(3,521,728)
(2,315,056)
39,519,507

3,502,453
(6,015,680)
(134,283)
(2,647,510)
30,821,043
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(1)

(2)
(3)

24

Capital reserve includes statutory reserve fund, reserve fund for contingencies, and
reserve for bad and doubtful debts in compliance with Central Bank of Myanmar
regulations.
Investment revaluation reserve represents revaluation of available-for sale investments
of the Company to market value as at the end of the reporting period.
Equity reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership interest in subsidiary when
there is no change in control (Note 4).

REVENUE
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Rendering of services:
Financial services
Healthcare services
Rental income
Dividend income

25

150,604,461
17,639,802
27,000
160,876
168,432,139

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000

254,597,729
24,929,420
54,000
154,785
279,735,934

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Employee benefit expenses
Professional fees
Depreciation of property and equipment
Specific provision on non-performing loans
Office rental expenses
Marketing and promotion
IT and communication expenses
Office supplies
Renovation and maintenance expenses
Travelling and related costs
Utilities
Amortisation of intangible assets
Director’s remuneration
Listing Fees
Annual general meeting expenses
Depreciation of investment property
Others

23,870,284
5,085,934
4,512,429
3,537,312
3,313,459
2,206,517
1,504,844
1,055,343
1,023,949
887,682
831,455
787,350
220,128
8,166
59
2,886,166
51,731,077
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For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000
44,002,657
10,776,316
8,378,494
8,716,273
6,521,268
3,916,217
2,557,050
1,838,900
1,608,614
1,945,307
1,393,122
1,201,720
682,785
36,228
82,878
31,250
4,194,893
97,883,972
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FINANCE EXPENSES
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
4,922,263
40,654
4,962,917

Interest expenses
Bank charges
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6,805,632
55,665
6,861,297

OTHER LOSSES, NET
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Gain on conversion of loan
Fair value loss on initial recognition of
investment property
Write off of property and equipment
Loss on foreign currency exchange, net
Write off of unsuccessful business development
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
Capital gains tax
Write off of investment in available-for-sale
investments
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments
Others

28

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000

150,000
(872,173)
(502,234)
(370,851)
(216,982)
42,850
(3,590)
(1,772,980)

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000
(161,173)
(2,378,634)
(2,524,139)
44,538
(551,168)
(258,941)
(4,151)
(543)
(5,834,211)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Current period/year tax expense
Deferred tax expense
Under provision of current year tax in prior years
Total income tax expense

5,390,144
140,581
5,530,725

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000
6,198,029
84,619
6,282,648

Domestic income tax is calculated at 25% (March 31, 2019: 25%) of the estimated assessable
profit for the year.
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The total charge for the period/year can be reconciled to accounting profit as follows:
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Profit before income tax
Tax at Myanmar’s statutory income tax rate of 25%
Effect of non-deductible expense
Under provision of current year tax in prior years
Total income tax expense

29

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000

12,631,326

20,726,037

3,157,832
2,372,893
5,530,725

5,181,510
1,016,519
84,619
6,282,648

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary owners of the Company
is based on the following data:

Earnings
Net profit, including non-operating income,
attributable to equity holders of the Company
(MMK’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for basic earnings per share (’000)
Basic earnings per share (MMK per share)

30

For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019

For the year
ended March 31,
2019

253,177

9,011,337

27,113
9

26,633
338

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
At the end of the financial period/year, the Group has the following commitments:
The Group as lessee
Payments recognised as an expense during the period/year:
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Minimum lease payments under operating leases

3,313,459

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000
6,521,268

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has no significant operating lease commitments
under non-cancellable operating leases as it has been prepaid as disclosed in Note 9. Operating
lease payments represents rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises. Leases
are negotiated and rentals are fixed for an average term of 5 years.
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The Group as a lessor
The Group leases commercial and investment properties under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. These leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The payment
due are computed without the escalation clauses and renewal rights as the quantum has not been
determined. Property rental income earned during the period/year was MMK 27,000,000
(March 31, 2019: MMK 54,000,000).
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future
minimum lease payments:
September 30,
March 31,
2019
2019
MMK’000
MMK’000
In the third to fifth years inclusive
31

54,000

108,000

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group provided a back-to-back guarantee to secure a long-term bank loan on March 30, 2016.
No contingent liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position date of the Group as
it is considered unlikely that there will be a significant outflow of the Group’s resources as a result
of the arrangement entered into by the Group and the respective counter party.
The Group has provided for tax expenses based on best efforts estimates, which may differ from
actual tax assessments levied by the Myanmar tax authority. As a result, the Group may incur
additional tax liabilities upon final assessment from tax authorities. Although commercial tax is
imposed to customers, there may be liabilities on commercial tax from the real estate sector.

32

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS and CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
(a) Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customer, by the bank subsidiary
Held-to-maturity investments:
Government and other securities, by the bank subsidiary
Available-for-sale investments
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March 31,
2019
MMK’000

384,154,922
80,742,458
1,846,185,268

350,634,146
64,056,772
1,660,001,943

35,500,000
501,821,150
2,848,403,798

11,500,000
433,343,934
2,519,536,795
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September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Financial liabilities
At amortised cost:
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from customers, by the
bank subsidiary
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP, by the bank subsidiary
Borrowings and bank overdrafts

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

137,343,922

148,449,066

2,564,888,437
4,459,755
81,546,023
2,788,238,137

2,269,400,040
4,217,058
74,285,610
2,496,351,774

(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives
The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk
and equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and legal and compliance risk. The
Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimize adverse effects from the
unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance. The Group has adopted
the policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarized below.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which
it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis
indicated below:
(a) Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk management
Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is
the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
market interest rates. As the Group has interest-bearing financial assets and
financial liabilities, the Group’s income and expense are dependent on changes in
market interest rates.
The Group’s interest-bearing financial assets pertain to short-term fixed deposits
placed with reputable financial institutions in Myanmar, held-to-maturity Myanmar
government and other securities and loans and advances to customers, which all
carry fixed interest rates. Management has assessed that any change in the interest
rate would not have significant impact to the Group’s interest income due to the
short-term maturity of fixed deposits and loans and advances to customers and the
three to five-year term of Myanmar government securities.
The Group’s interest-bearing financial liabilities pertain to deposits from customers
and certain borrowings which carry fixed interest rates and variable interest rates,
respectively. Management has assessed that any change in the interest rate would
not have a significant impact on the Group’s interest expenses as the Group aims to
obtain the most favourable interest rates available in the market, except on the
variable interest rate borrowings as described below.
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Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for non-derivative financial liability instruments at the end of the
reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the
financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the case of
instruments that have floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.
If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended September 30, 2019
would decrease/increase by MMK 140,414,060 (March 31, 2019: MMK
156,000,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable interest rate borrowings.
(ii) Foreign exchange risk management
The Group operates mainly in Myanmar. Entities in the Group regularly transact in
various foreign currencies other than their respective functional currencies (“foreign
currencies”). Currency risk arises in the Group when transactions are denominated
in foreign currencies such as Euro (“EUR”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), and United
States Dollar (“USD”).
These exposures are managed primarily by using natural hedges that arise from
offsetting assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies.
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency are as
follows:
EUR
MMK’000

SGD
MMK’000

USD
MMK’000

September 30, 2019
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers, by the
bank subsidiary
Available-for-sale financial assets
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from customers, by the
bank subsidiary
Borrowings
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP, by the bank
subsidiary
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597,660

481,963

-

-

74,231,559
9,473,587

6,073
603,733

481,963

97,990,039

540,631

508,948

63,234,151

63,102

28,191

58,669,710

-

-

28,082,812

603,733

537,139

4,459,755
154,446,428

14,284,893
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EUR
MMK’000

SGD
MMK’000

USD
MMK’000

March 31, 2019
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Loans and advances to customers, by the
bank subsidiary
Available-for-sale financial asset

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from customers, by the
bank subsidiary
Borrowings
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP, by the bank
subsidiary

703,179
-

273,273
-

66,585,978
10,758,330

-

-

21,092,070

6,209
709,388

273,273

98,436,378

690,745

256,933

29,622,011

50,713
-

13,074
-

53,082,445
31,204,039

741,458

270,007

4,217,058
118,125,553

(ii) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)
Foreign currency sensitivity
The following analysis details the sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in the
relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of the Group. 10% is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk exposures internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible
change in foreign exchange rates, which is the change in foreign exchange rate that
management deems reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items at period end. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.
If the relevant foreign currency were to strengthen by 10% against the functional
currency of the Group, profit for the period/year will decrease by:
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
USD impact

(5,645,639)

For the year
ended March 31,
2019
MMK’000
(1,968,918)

If the relevant foreign currency were to weaken by 10% against the functional
currency, there will be equal but opposite impact on profit for the period/year.
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(iii) Equity price risk management
The Group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity instruments classified as
available-for-sale. Available-for-sale equity instruments are held for strategic rather
than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade available-for-sale
investments.
Further details of these equity investments can be found in Notes 11 to the financial
statements.
Equity price sensitivity
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to
equity price risks at the end of the reporting period.
In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, if the inputs to the valuation
model had been 10% higher/lower while all other variable were held constant:
•

The Group’s profit for the period ended September 30, 2019 would have been
unaffected as the equity investment are classified as available-for-sale and no
investments were disposed of or impaired; and

•

The Group’s investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by
MMK 569,481,955 (March 31, 2019: increase/decrease by MMK 557,233,800)

The Group’s sensitivity to equity prices has not changed significantly from the prior
year.
(b) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s major classes of financial assets
are loans and advances from customers held by the bank subsidiary, Myanmar
government securities held by the bank subsidiary, bank deposits and trade receivables.
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions.
For trade receivables, the Group adopts the policy of dealing only with customers with
appropriate credit histories, and obtaining sufficient security where appropriate to
mitigate credit risk. For other financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing
only with credit-worthy counterparties. The maximum exposure to credit risk for each
class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments
presented on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers. Ongoing credit evaluation is
performed on the financial condition of trade receivables. The Group does not have any
significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties
having similar characteristics. The Group defines counterparties as having similar
characteristics if they are related entities.
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The credit risk for trade receivables based on the information provided to management is
as follows:
September 30,
March 31,
2019
2019
MMK’000
MMK’000
By type of customers:
External parties

44,044,771

35,429,266

Further details of credit risks on trade receivables are disclosed in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.
For loans and advances from customers held by the bank subsidiary, the Board of
Directors of the bank approves major policies and limits that govern credit risk. The
Board of Directors delegates authority to the Credit Risk Management Committee for
overseeing the credit risk of the bank. The bank structures the levels of credit risk it
undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk acceptable in relation to one
borrower, groups of borrowers and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a
regular basis and are subject to annual or more frequent review. The maximum
exposure to credit risk of loans and advances from customers held by the bank on the
consolidated statement of financial position is limited to the carrying amount on the
consolidated statement of financial position, without taking into account the fair value of
any collateral.
The credit risk for loans and advances by the bank entity based on the information
provided to management is as follows:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
By type of customers:
Other companies
Individuals
Related companies (Note 33)

1,469,627,933
376,557,335
1,846,185,268

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
1,322,348,858
336,838,029
815,056
1,660,001,943

(c) Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities. The Group manages liquidity risks by monitoring its
liquidity position through periodic preparation of cash flow and cash balance forecasts and
periodic evaluation of the ability of the Group to meet its financial obligations, measured
by a gearing ratio. The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and
internally generated cash flows to finance their activities.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had net current liabilities of
MMK 403,227,533,870 (March 31, 2019: MMK 334,579,252,000). The Directors are
satisfied that there is no going concern issue as the Group can easily convert government
and other securities held by the bank subsidiary of MMK 481,388,999,789 (March 31,
2019: MMK 394,136,509,000) into cash and cash equivalents with no significant changes
in fair value.
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Liquidity risk analyses
Non-derivative financial liabilities
The table below analyses the non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group in their
relevant maturity groupings based on the length of remaining period from the reporting
date to the contracted maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contracted undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months are presented at
their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant.
Less than 1
year
MMK’000

Between 1 and
5 years
MMK’000

More than
5 years
MMK’000

138,463,576

4,975,595

-

143,439,171

2,564,888,437

-

-

2,564,888,437

Total
MMK’000

September 30, 2019
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from
customers, by the bank
subsidiary
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP,
by the bank subsidiary
Borrowings

4,459,755

-

-

4,459,755

34,116,905

61,461,888

-

95,578,793

2,741,928,673

66,437,483

-

2,808,366,156

Between 1 and
5 years
MMK’000

More than
5 years
MMK’000

148,449,066

-

-

148,449,066

2,269,400,040

-

-

2,269,400,040

4,217,058

-

-

4,217,058

15,879,988
2,437,946,152

1,500,187,839
1,500,187,839

-

1,516,067,827
3,938,133,991

Less than 1
year
MMK’000

Total
MMK’000

March 31, 2019
Trade and other payables
Deposits and balances from
customers, by the bank
subsidiary
Fund restricted for LIFT-AFP,
by the bank subsidiary
Borrowings

(d) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables, approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively
short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of
financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to consolidated
financial statements. The management considers the carrying amount of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values, unless otherwise mentioned in the consolidated financial
statements.
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(e) Operational risk
Operational risk is a risk that is inherent in all business activities. Financial losses and
business instability can result from failures in operational processes, internal policies or
support systems. The Group has established an appropriate operational risk
management framework to address operational risks within the risk appetite mandated
by management and align its risk management strategies to overall business objectives.
The Group’s bank subsidiary has risk policies and committees that are appropriate for a
large financial institution.
The Group recognizes that every operational risk cannot be entirely eliminated, and
strives to balance the cost of controls with the potential benefits of risk management.
The Group will continue to invest in appropriate risk management and mitigation
programs such as business continuity management and incident management.
(f) Legal and compliance risk
Legal risk is the risk to the Group's business activities resulting from unintended or
unexpected legal action. This risk could arise from insufficient authority of a
counterparty, uncertainty about the validity or enforceability of a contract, civil claims
against the Group's property or interpretation errors in taxation utilizes competent
internal and external counsel when entering into agreements.
Compliance risk is the risk of material financial loss or loss of reputation resulting from
the failure or inability of the Group to comply with relevant industry-specific laws,
regulations or procedures. The Group actively identifies and manages compliance risk
through effective use of its external and internal compliance advisers. Accordingly, the
Group also monitors its entities' compliance with relevant international regulatory
requirements.
(c) Capital risk management policies and objectives
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximize shareholder value. In
order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividend payment, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new borrowings or sell
assets to reduce borrowings.
Management monitors the Group’s capital, excluding the bank entity, based on a gearing ratio.
During the period ended September 30, 2019, the Group's strategies remain unchanged from
March 31, 2019 even though the gearing ratio exceeded 40% for the Group.
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The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
borrowings (excluding loans from non-controlling interests) plus trade and other payables less
cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as net assets attributable to equity holders of
the Company (“total equity”) plus net debt.
September 30,
2019
MMK’000

March 31,
2019
MMK’000

Net debt

130,010,131

119,051,822

Total equity

175,196,633

187,145,780

Total capital

305,206,764

306,197,602

43%

39%

Gearing ratio

The Group’s bank subsidiary is subject to the capital adequacy requirements set out by the Central
Bank of Myanmar ("CBM") and the minimum regulatory capital adequacy ratio set for the year is
8% (March 31, 2019: 8%). On July 7, 2017, the CBM issued an instruction on revised method of
capital adequacy ratio calculation, which increased the composition of the risk weighted assets
with majority of loans being subject to 100% risk weight. Total equity investment and related
party lending are also no longer included in the capital calculation.
The bank's capital adequacy ratio as at September 30, 2019 stands at 7.06% (March 31, 2019:
6.81%) and the bank had since then issued a capital improvement plan to the CBM, outlining its
short-term and long-term plans to further increase the Tier 1 capital to meet the minimum
regulatory capital adequacy ratio of 8%.
33

RELATED COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related companies in these consolidated financial statements refer to members of the
shareholder’s group of companies.
Some of the Group’s transactions are between members of the shareholders and the Group. The
effect of these on the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
With associates:
Rental expenses
Other expenses
With entities related by common controlling shareholders:
Rental expense
Loss from sale of investment
Other expenses 1
115

For the year
ended
March 31,
2019
MMK’000

(34,650)
(6,922)

(57,750)
(14,374)

(61,571)
(592,474)

(92,516)
(4,151)
(1,115,322)
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1

Other expenses relate to net expenditures on inter-group operating activities.

During the financial period/year, Directors' remuneration amounted to MMK 220,128,306
(March 31, 2019: MMK 599,452,020) which includes the Executive Chairman's remuneration as
follows:
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
30,000
162,461
192,461

Other allowance
Bonus

34

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
60,000
458,452
518,452

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Management determines operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the key
management team that are used to make strategic decisions. The key management team
comprises of the Executive Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and
the heads of each business who directly report to the Executive Chairman on their respective
entity’s business.
The Group’s reportable segments under MFRS 8 are as follows:
i)

The real estate services segment is in the business of property development, sale of
development properties, providing project management, design and estate management
services as well as property leasing.

ii)

The financial services segment is in the business of carrying out banking business,
including domestic remittance business and financial services.

iii)

The healthcare services segment is in the business of owning and operating hospitals,
clinics and the provision of healthcare related services.

iv)

The investment holding segment is in the business of investing in associates and joint
venture.

The Group’s reportable segments operate in Myanmar.
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The segment information provided to the key management team for the reportable segments are
as follows:

September 30, 2019
Revenue
Elimination of inter-segment
revenue

Real estate
services
MMK’000

Financial services
MMK’000

-

150,604,461

Healthcare
services
MMK’000

Investment
holding
MMK’000

17,666,537

Total
MMK’000

187,876

168,458,874

-

150,604,461

(26,735)
17,639,802

187,876

(26,735)
168,432,139

Cost of sales

-

(88,948,693)

(10,336,861)

-

(99,285,554)

Gross profit

-

61,655,768

Administrative expenses

-

(41,587,824)

Finance expenses

-

Other gains or losses

Share of profit of associates
Profit (loss) before income tax

September 30, 2019

187,876

69,146,585

(8,222,262)

(1,920,991)

(51,731,077)

-

(819,423)

(4,143,494)

(4,962,917)

-

725,235

(1,510,055)

(988,160)

(1,772,980)

-

(40,862,589)

(7,052,645)

(58,466,974)

1,955,010
1,955,010

20,793,179

(10,551,740)
(3,248,799)

(3,295)
(6,868,064)

1,951,715
12,631,326

(340,508)

-

(5,530,725)

(3,589,307)

(6,868,064)

7,100,601

Income tax expense
Net profit (loss)

7,302,941

--(5,190,217)
1,955,010

Real estate
services
MMK’000

15,602,962

Financial
services
MMK’000

Healthcare
services
MMK’000

Investment
holding
MMK’000

Total
MMK’000

35,930,373

272,027,311

3,126,290,665

Segment assets

- 2,818,332,981

Segment assets include:
Additions to:
Property and equipment

-

2,694,469

1,186,085

6,526

3,887,080

-

534,652

34,673

-

569,325

- 2,670,021,175

23,150,182

109,431,182

2,802,602,539

Intangible assets
Segment liabilities
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March 31, 2019
Revenue

Real estate
services
MMK’000

Financial
services
MMK’000

Healthcare
services
MMK’000

Investment
holding
MMK’000

Total
MMK’000

-

254,604,509

25,040,631

202,005

279,847,145

-

254,604,509

(111,211)
24,929,420

202,005

(111,211)
279,735,934

Cost of sales

-

(154,283,430)

(14,723,655)

-

(169,007,085)

Gross profit

-

100,321,079

10,205,765

Administrative expenses

-

(76,468,848)

(15,301,006)

(6,114,118)

(97,883,972)

Finance expenses

-

(1,371,669)

(5,489,628)

(6,861,297)

Other gains or losses

-

(2,690,481)
(19,363,156)

(4,154,610)
(15,758,356)

(5,834,211)
(110,579,480)

(9,157,391)

(239,800)
(15,796,151)

20,576,668
20,726,037

(28,380)

(56,239)

Elimination of inter-segment
revenue

Share of profit of associates
Profit (loss) before income tax
Income tax expense
Net profit (loss)

March 31, 2019

1,010,880
(75,457,968)

20,816,468
20,816,468

24,863,111

-

(6,198,029)

202,005

110,728,849

(6,282,648)

20,816,468

18,665,082

(9,185,771)

(15,852,390)

14,443,389

Real estate
services
MMK’000

Financial
services
MMK’000

Healthcare
services
MMK’000

Investment
holding
MMK’000

Total
MMK’000

49,756,812

254,715,152

2,813,777,234

Segment assets

- 2,509,305,270

Segment assets include:
Additions to:
Property and equipment

-

5,888,095

5,247,595

48,058

11,183,748

-

1,552,589

777,052

4,906

2,334,547

94,760,785

2,502,906,159

Intangible assets
Segment liabilities

- 2,383,316,625
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(a)

Reconciliation
(i)

Segment profit before income tax
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Segment gross profit
Administrative expenses
Finance expenses
Other losses, net
Share in profits of associates, net of tax

(ii)

69,146,585
(51,731,077)
(4,962,917)
(1,772,980)
1,951,715
12,631,326

For the year
ended
March 31,
2019
MMK’000
110,728,849
(97,883,972)
(6,861,297)
(5,834,211)
20,576,668
20,726,037

Segment assets
The amounts provided to management with respect to total assets are measured in a
manner consistent with that of the financial statements.
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Segment assets for reportable segments
Investment holding segment assets

(iii)

2,854,263,354
272,027,311
3,126,290,665

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
2,559,062,082
254,715,152
2,813,777,234

Segment liabilities
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Segment liabilities for reportable segments
Investment holding segment liabilities
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2,693,171,357
109,431,182
2,802,602,539

March 31,
2019
MMK’000
2,408,145,374
94,760,785
2,502,906,159
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(b)

Revenue from major products and services
For the six-month
period ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
150,604,461
17,639,802
187,876
168,432,139

Financial services
Healthcare services
Investment holding
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For the year
ended March
31, 2019
MMK’000
254,604,509
24,929,420
202,005
279,735,934

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the period, the Group has the following non-cash investing and financing activities which
are not reflected in the consolidated statement of cash flows:
For the sixmonth period
ended
September 30,
2019
MMK’000
Reclassification of other non-current asset to investment property
Conversion of subsidiary loan to share capital by non-controlling interest
Additional available-for-sale investments through payables to related company
Increase in fair value of available-for-sale investments
Difference in fair value of loan from non-controlling interest
Additions to property and equipment arising from adjustments
to provisional amount
Write-off of trade receivables
Share in other comprehensive loss of associate

36

7,080,013
4,705,000
2,891,800
2,332,924
841,880
505,672
(50,558)
(2,315,056)

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS
Taunggyi Hospital Assets Limited
On October 1, 2018, Pun Hlaing International Hospital Limited, subsidiary, acquired 70%
ownership interest in Taunggyi Hospital Assets Limited for a total consideration of
MMK 2,102,209,200. This transaction was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.
No goodwill arose from the acquisition as the business was acquired at its fair value. The principal
activity of the subsidiary is property investment.
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Had the above business combination been effected on April 1, 2018, the revenue and profit of the
Group for the year ended March 31, 2019 would not have any changes as the business has not yet
started its operations.
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Pun Hlaing Siloam Taunggyi Hospital Limited
On October 1, 2018, Yoma Siloam Hospital Pun Hlaing Limited, subsidiary, acquired 70%
ownership interest of Pun Hlaing Siloam Taunggyi Hospital Limited. This transaction was accounted
using the purchase method of accounting. The principal activity of the subsidiary is operating
hospitals and provision of medical services.
The fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the cash flow effect on the acquisition are as
follows:
Total
MMK’000
Current asset
Inventories

159,848

Non-current asset
Vehicles and equipment

66,927

Total Assets

226,775

Identifiable net assets acquired (70%)
Goodwill arising on acquisition (Note 17)
Cash consideration paid
Less: cash and cash equivalent in the subsidiary acquired
Net cash outflow on acquisition

158,743
5,102,248
(5,260,991)
(5,260,991)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of MMK 5,102,248,236 is attributable to the anticipated
profitability from the acquirees’ existing business and growth in new markets.
As at March 31, 2019, the initial accounting for the acquisition of Pun Hlaing Siloam Taunggyi
Hospital Limited has only been provisionally determined as the fair value of the net assets included
in the acquisition had not been finalised by management and have therefore only been
provisionally determined based on management’s best estimate of the likely values.
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group
Had the above business combination been effected on April 1, 2018, the revenue and profit of the
Group for the year ended March 31, 2019 would not have any changes as the business has not yet
started its operations.
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Subsequent to March 31, 2019, The Group obtained further information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and has completed the final accounting for
the acquisition. The provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date were adjusted as
follows in the current period as the Group determined the adjustments to be not material:
Before final accounting for
business combination
MMK’000
Property and equipment
Deferred tax liability
Goodwill
Non-controlling interest
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3,229,931
5,102,248
968,979

After final accounting for
business combination
MMK’000
3,889,827
154,224
4,748,278
1,120,681

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Pursuant to the Letter from the Internal Revenue Department dated May 28, 2019, all
cooperatives and private enterprises are required to close their accounts for the transition period
from April 1, 2019 to September 30, 2019. Accordingly, the Group also changed its financial
reporting period end from March 31 to September 30 and the Consolidated Statements of Profit
and Loss and other Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six-month period ended September 30, 2019 and
twelve-month period ended March 31, 2019 are presented as comparative figures of the figures of
the current period consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the amounts presented in the
consolidated financial statements are not entirely comparable.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On November 13, 2019, the Company has entered into a conditional sales and purchase
agreement with Yoma Strategic Investments Ltd., a fully owned subsidiary of Yoma Strategic
Holdings Ltd., to dispose its remaining 10% equity stake in Digital Money Myanmar Ltd. for a
consideration of US$ 6 million, with a potential upside adjustment of up to US$ 10 million.
On November 13, 2019, the Company has entered into a convertible loan agreement with Ayala
Corporation amounting to US$ 82.5 million. Subject to terms and conditions of the agreement, the
loan will be converted into 20% of the capital of the Company. The conversion period will be within
2 years from the date of agreement.
On November 14, 2019, the Company has entered into an amendment agreement (“Amendment
Agreement”) with Yangon Land to vary the number of shares and cash consideration under the
Share Swap Agreement. Pursuant to the Amendment Agreement, the number of Yoma Bank
shares which the Company will acquire from Yangon Land will be changed to 651,952 shares and
the settlement to Yangon Land will be changed to (a) a share swap issuance of 5,996,947 new
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“FMI Swap Shares”) and (b) cash payment of MMK
9,862,000,000 (“Cash Payment”).
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